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ULSTER BANK LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT

The directors of Ulster Bank Limited (“the Bank”) present their report, together with audited financial statements of the
Bank and its subsidiaries (together “the Group" or “Ulster Bank Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016. The
financial statements are prepared in accordance with Internatronal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the European Union (EU). '

ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
Principal activities

The Group, operating under the Ulster Bank brand, provides a comprehensive range of financial services through its retail
and commercial. banking divisions. The retail banking divisions provide loan and deposit products through the Group’s
network of branches and direct channels, including the internet, mobile and telephony. The commercial banking divisions
provide services to business and corporate customers, including small and medium enterprises. For the year ended 31
December 2016 the Group consisted of operations located in both Northern Ireland and the Republic of !reland. On 1
January 2017 the Group divested its Republic of ireland operations, principally Ulster Bank Irefand Designated Activity
Company (“UBIDAC"), as outlined below. Therefore in the next reportrng period the Group wilt consrst only of Northern -
Ireland operatrons principally Ulster Bank lelted

Business review

The Group's core ambition is to become the number one bank for customer service, trust and advocacy by 2020. In June
2016, subsequent to the UK vote to leave the European Union, the Royal Bank of Scotland (“RBS”) emphasised the
" continued strategic rmportance of the Group'in its commrtment to serve businesses and customers m the- UK, lreland and
the rest of Europe.

On 30 September 2016, RBS issued a market communication outlining its plans to meet the requirements of the UK
Financial Services (Banking Reform) ‘Act 2013, designed to promote financial stability in the UK banking. sector and
.reduce. the severity of any potential future financial crisis, specifically imptementing a ring-fence. The ring-fence, to be
established by 1 January 2019, will separate core banking activities and services from higher risk activities. In December
2016 as part of the planned implementation and to simplify the RBS group structure, the directors, in con]unctlon with
RBS, agreed that NatWest Holdings Limited, the holding company. for the ring-fenced bank entities, would acquire the
Group'’s Republic of Ireland operations, including UBIDAC on 1 January 2017. All trad:ng companies in the Ulster Bank
‘ Group will be posmoned inside the ring- fence

This reorgamsatlon establishes a more simplified Group by aligning the legal entity structure with the existing
management structure. Consequently, going forward it allows the Group’s executive management team to dedicate their
focus on serving local customers and strengthening its. market leading position in Northern Ireland, whilst continuing to
realise the benefits of being part of a leading UK retail bank. '

The timing of this acquisition on 1 January 2017 means that these financial statements present the entire Group’s
performance for 2016 whilst disclosing the Republic of Ireland operations as discontinued operations in the income
statement and. as a disposal group on the balance sheet. The remainder of the business review focuses on the
performance of the entire Group for 2016. The financial performance section drscusses continuing and dlscontmued
operations separately.

In November 2016, the dlrectors approved the payment of a dividend of £1.3bn to the bank’s parent, National
Westminster Bank Plc. This s:gnr_frcant milestone reflected the continued strength of the Group’s capital position.

In" February 2016 the Group launched its ‘Help for what matters’ campaign, a comprehensive brand recharge signailing
the Group’s ambitions for the future based on developing lasting relationships with new and existing customers.

“In. retail banking the ‘Help for the movers’ element of the campaign contributed to new mortgage lending of £1.1bn, an
increase of 38% from 2015 at constant exchange rates. In Northern ireland an increase in lending of 15% was driven
largely by strong uptake of the Group’s fixed rate propositions. In the Republic. of Ireland an increase in lending of 48%
was supported by a successful re-entry into the mortgage broker market and the use of new innovative technologies
including the introduction of a secure video chat app for use by mobile mortgage managers to complement their ability to
meet customers outside branches and normal busmess hours.

The offer period for the Group’s lowest ever personal loan rate in Northern ireland, Iaunched in January 2016, was
extended until June 2016 due to strong. demand. The Group introduced a fee-free ‘Foundation’ current account across the
island of Ireland. The proposition encourages customers not eligible for other current accounts to more tightly manage
their finances and simultaneously improve their credit rating. .

Commercial bankrng continued to support.and make more credit available to existing and new customers. New lending
activity was particularly strong in the SME division and in commercial real estate where the Group is supporting the
recovery in the property markets with the provision of finance across a number of sectors including residential
development, student accommodation and investment property. In January 2016 the Group commenced a partnership
with the Strategic Banking Corporation of ireland to provide £64m in new lower-cost funding to independent SME’s and
agri-businesses. The farming sector endured both price and weather volatility during 2016. In recognition of these issues,
the Group provided additional measures to support dairy farmers, who were experiencing cash-flow difficulties.
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‘Business review (continued)

The Group’s asset financing business performed strongly driven largely by the provision of hire purchase and lease -
- finance for business assets as well as a successful re-entry to the car market supporting vehicle dealers wnth stocking
finance.

The Group continued to invest heavily in developing the channels though which its customers can interact with the
business, with a particular focus on enhancing and optimising online and mobile capabilities. During 2016 58% of the
Group’s customer base were ‘digitally active’, this included a 23% increase in mobile app users, reflecting the continued
-sfrengthening of the Group’s digital proposition. Customers in both Northern Ireland and the Repubilic of Ireland can now
access ‘the app using multiple devices, manage and create standing orders and customers using enabled Android
devices can now utilise the Android Fingerprint technology to log into the app. In addition, customers in Northern Ireland
can also make purchases through Android Pay, complementing the existing Apple Pay feature. The Group, in conjunction
with RBS and the Royal National Institute for the Blind, developed functionality within the moblle app making it accessible
and usable by blind and partially slghted customers.

The innovative 'Get Cash’ feature that enables customers in the Republic of Ireland to withdraw cash from any Ulster
Bank ATM and customers in Northern lreland to withdraw cash from any Ulster Bank, NatWest, Tesco or Easycash ATM
without the use of their bank card was used over 163,000 times in 2016. The complementary ‘Near Me’ feature allows
customers to use their smart phone to locate their nearest Ulster Bank ATM. The number of the Group's customers opting:
for online statements via Anytime Banking has risen to 47% in both Northern Ireland and the Republic of lreland.

The Group maintained its focus on innovation and development during 2016. The partnership with Dogpatch Labs in-
Dublin entered its second year- with the Group facilitating a second Hackathon in the CHQ building, bringing together
members of the external technology community to design, code and pitch ideas on banking innovations throughout the
weekend-long event. The Group remained a key supporter of the Accenture & Enterprise {reland Fintech Innovation Lab.
In February 2016 it hosted an ‘Innovation Showcase’ at its Central Park offices with six Fintech companies presenting
“their propositions to a cross-section of the Group’s staff. In March 2016 the world’s largest free business accelerator hub
was opened in Belfast under the Group’s Entrepreneurial Spark initiative. The hub houses 80 entrepreneurs enabling
them to work in-a collaborative environment, provrdrng business enablement and networking opportunities. and’ support via

. a pool of specialised mentors.

The Group continued to make significant progress in dealing with legacy issues in 2016. The Problem Debt ManégeMent
division continued to oversee the de-leveraging of impaired debt in order to strengthen the Group’s balance sheet In
December 2016, as part of Project Oyster, the Group completed the sale of £1.7bn of dlstressed loans.

On 22 December 2015, UBIDAC received a letter from the Central Bank of ireland (CBI) requesting that UBIDAC conduct .
_a review into its mortgage loan books to assess instances of contractual and regulatory non-compliance that may have

adversely impacted a number of its tracker mortgage customers. The Group is in the process of completing this in-depth
review and has begun to write to impacted customers. A charge of £168m (2015: £4m) has been recogmsed to cover
potential remediation and project costs.

In November 2016, the Group confirmed it had agreed a settlement with the CBI of £2.7m relating to Anti-Money
Laundering (“AML") compliance failings. The Group had proactively engaged the CBl in the identification of these issues
and dedicated significant resources to remediation and developing a stronger AML framework. . :

"The Group continued with its strong corporate social responsibility (CSR) agenda and was awarded the Business
. Working ‘Responsibly Mark, the highest level of CSR accreditation in ireland. The Group raised £369,000 for its charity
partners on the island of Ireland through.its “One Week In June” initiatives. Customers in the Republic of Ireland were
able to donate via Ulster Bank ATMs or Anytime Banking to Concern’s appeal for Haiti following the impact of Hurricane
Matthew. In February 2016 the Group began partnering with Young Social Innovators, encouraging staff to volunteer to
support and mentor young people in their community. MoneySense, the Group’s financial education programme, has
enjoyed continued success with a re- desrgned website launched in February and a growing number-of the Group’s staff
volunteenng

The Group has established a set of key performance indicaters (KPIs) to track its performance towards its objectives. As

a result of the sale of-the Group’s Republic of Ireland operations on 1 January 2017 the KPIs have been rebased to
reflect only continuing operations: . .

- Target 2016 2015

Net interest margin A B I >2.15% . 1.28%  1.22%
Cost:income ratio - <60% 108% 110%
Digitally active customers* - ' >65%  58% 53%

* A-customer is considered dr‘gitelly active if they have used online or mobile banking in the preceding 90 days.

The drivers of the changes in the net interest margin and the costiincome ratio are discussed further in the financial
performance section of this report.
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Business review (continued)

Financial performance
The Group’s financial performance is presented in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 13.

The Group reported a tofal profit after tax for the financiat year ended 31 December 2016 of £50m (2015 £837m) driven
primarily by a profit on discontinued operations, net of tax of £63m (2015: £834m). The significant reduction in total profit
after tax in 2016 was predominately driven by a £592m reduction in the impairment gain and the recognition of a £168m
provision for-the tracker mortgage review. Continuing operations reported an after tax loss of £13m (2015: £3m profit) with -
the movement in the year primarily as a result of a £28m reductlon in the impairment gain.

Net interest income from contlnumg operations decreased by 8% to £130m due to reduced income on free funds and the
impact of the Bank of England base rate cut of 0.25% in August 2016. Other. contributory factors were -the further
reduction in the loan book from asset sales and continued loan amortisation. These were partrally offset by pricing actions
taken on retail and commercral deposits. .

Non-interest income from contrnurng operations increased from £27m in 2015 to £46m, mainly due to a decrease in the:
loss recognised on portfolio sales, offset by reduced trading income as a result of reduced volumes.on forelgn exchange
contracts and the impact of fluctuanon in foreign exchange’ rates :

" Operating expenses from contlnumg operations decreased by £1m in the current year The Group contlnued to focus on

reducing the cost base with a decrease in staff costs resultlng from a reduction in headcount. These positive results were
* negated by the impact of one-off costs incurred in 2016 associated with the FCA’s review into the treatment of SME -
customers in the-bank’s former Global Restructuring Group and-an increase in the Group’s property and technology costs.

Included within operating expenses is £46m- (2015: £38m) of staff and overhead costs which are incurred by the Bank in
providing services to UBIDAC. Although these costs are recharged to UBIDAC on an arms-length basis they are required
to be reflected within continuing operations in the Consolidated Income Statement, driving the reported loss. Further
details and adjusted profits for continuing and discontinued operations are shown in Note 18. '

The impairment gain from continuing operations reduced to £27m from-£55m in 2015. Albeit reduced'in 2016 the gain in
both years was driven by improved residential and commercial property market conditions increasing collateral values, the
release of PDM provrsnons due to asset sales and proactive debt management. .

The Group incurred a tax charge on continuing operations in 2016 of £25m (2015 £29m) The 2016 charge was primarily
generated by a decrease in the deferred tax asset in respect of losses as a result of amended UK loss restriction rules
from Apnl 201 6.

Profit from discontinued operations décreased by £771m from £834m in 2015 to £63m..This was driven by a decrease in
the impairment gain (£564m) and’ an increase in operating expenses (£229m) primarily relating to £168m of project and
remediation cost on the tracker mortgage examination. Increased property and technology costs also contributed to the
year on year reduction in profit from’ discontinued- operations, offset by the benefit of the devaluation in Sterling relative to
the Euro followrng the UK referendum decision on EU membership in June 2016.

At the year end the total assets of the’ Group were £36,474m (2015: £33 990m) Return on total assets for 2016 was O 1%
. (2015 2.3%). .

The Bank‘s capital position remained strong during 2016. Its CET 1 ratio decreased from 17.5% at 31 December 2015to
13.1% at 31 December 2016 as a result of planned -activities, including the’payment of a £1.3bn dividend to its parent
National Westminster Bank Plc and the revaluation of the Banks investment in subsidiaries. The CET 1 ratio remains
srgnlflcantly above the regulatory minimum. .

On 21 December 2016 the Bank carried out a capital reductron under Section 641 (1)(a) of the Companres Act 2006
_The issued ordinary shares of £1 were reduced from £1,320m to £254m and an amount of £1,066m was transferred to_-
retained earnings. In‘the same transaction the Bank’s share premium account on ordinary. shares was cancelled and a
further £434m was transferred to retained.earnings.
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Business‘ review (continued)
. Ot)tlook

The directors note that economic data trends for Northern Ireland, the Group’s core market going forward, continue to be
positive. The Composite Economic Index, produced by the Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency, indicated
the economy grew by 1.6% in 2016 driven by a 2.3% growth in the private sector. The unemployment rate fell by 0.3%
year on year, with the number of people in employment increasing by 0.5%. The Office of National Statistics reported an
annual incréase of 5.4% in average house prices in Northern'Ireland to November 2016, an improvement on the 4.6%
increase in 2015. However, depreciation in sterling coupled with a rise in global commodity prices has fuelled a return of
inflationary pressures contributing to the UK Consumer Price Index rising to 1.6%, its highest level since July 2014 but
_ still significantly below the 3.3% average during the post-recessionary period from 2010-2013.

The Group remains vulnerable to multiple macroeconomic risks including a sustained low interest rate envnronmerit
continued low growth rates in the Eurozoné, uncertainty around the impact of the UK’s exit from the European Union
(EV), geopolmcal uncertainty and a challenging international trade environment.

The ‘directors, while cognisant of the macroeconomic risks outlined above, believe that the largely positive economic
indicators, the continued focus on cost control, the benefits of closer mtegranon with RBS, its strong competitive position

. and resolution of legacy issues along with the significant investment in the Ulster. Bank brand through the ‘Help for. what
matters campaign should lead to a sustainabie financial performance. .

Account/ng pol:c:es

~ The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accountmg policies, assumptions and estlmates that underlie the
preparation of its financial statements. Details of the Group’s critical accounting policies and key sources of estlmatlon
uncertainty are included in the Accounting policies on pages 2510 28.

Risk management

The major risks associated with the Group’s businesses are credit, market, liquidity, regulatory, reputational, conduct and
operational risk, with the principal risk associated with the Group’s business being credit risk. The Group has established
a comprehensive framework for managing these risks, which is continually evolving as the Group’s business activities
change in response to market, credit, product, regulatory and other developments. The Group is also exposed to risks
from its defined benefit pension schemes. The Group’s policies for managing each of these risks and its exposure thereto
are detailed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

The Group's future performance and results could be materially different from expected results depending on the outcome
of certaln potentlal risks and uncertainties, particularly credit risk.

Staff involvement

The Group values the input of its employees and actively seeks opportunities to engage with staff at all levels and invites:
them to contribute to on-going dialogue and activities to make Ulster Bank a better bank for our customers and staff. The
annual survey of employee opinions, known as Our View, provides valuable data to decision makers across the Group in
support of improving-employee engagement and satisfaction. We track our progress through pulse surveys and ask
.questions.used by other organisations so we can compare ourselves against our financial peers. In addition we run an
annual Working Together Survey where a representative sample provides feedback on the services provided by our
support functions. : .

Our community programmes focus on delivering genuine benefits that make a difference to people’s lives throughout
ireland. We invest in programmes that are most relevant for us as a financial institution — in particular promoting financial
education. Employees across the Group continue'to widely support, both financially and through volunteering, 'many
community and other worthy causes. Such giving is encouraged by the Group through its use of payroll giving and staff
charity funds which support worthy causes at local, national and international level. Whilst our community programme and
_ activities run throughout the year every June we have a particular focus ‘and employees come together to raise funds for
local and national charities. “Give A Day” offers employees an extra day of annual leave to _give their time as volunteers
and fundraisers to a charity or cause that matters to them. .

The Grodp promotes flexible working for its employees. We support businesses, managers and individuals to facilitate
fiexible working. Employees are able to avail of a range of flexible working optlons mcludlng regular or occasional working
from home, working variable hours or working part time. .

The Group is represented on the European Employee Council which facilitates dlalogue amongst employee
" representatives in the European Economic Area. .
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Employment of people with disabilities .

The Group’s policy is that people with disabilities are considered for employment and subsequent training, career
development and promotion based on merit. If members: of staff become. disabled, it is the Group’s policy, wherever
possible, to retain them in their existing jobs or to re-deploy them in suitable alternative duties.

Inclusion

The Group values and promotes diversity in all areas of recruitment and employment. Building a working environment
where all our émployees can develop to their full potential is important to us irrespective of their age, belief, disability,
ethnic or national origin, gender, gender identity, marital or civil partnership status, political opinion, race, religion or -
sexual orientation. We work hard to avoid limiting potential through bias, prejudice or discrimination. We need a diverse
mix of uniquely talented individuals to deliver great service to our diverse customer base. Key principles of our Diversity
and Inclusion Poalicy include that we attract, motivate and retain the best talent. We base the employment relationship on -
. the principles of fairness, respect and inclusion. We comply with local laws on equality and Our Code to build and develop
an inclusive workforce in order to understand and respond to our.diverse customer base. ) .

Safety, heaith and wellbeing

The Group recognises that people are key.to the success of its business. The Group’s vision is for its employees, peers’
and communities to recognise that the Group’s pride and performance in safety, health and wellbeing adds value to them
_and to the Group's business. Industry leading expertise, innovative tools, products and services and a practical approach
. to implementation are combined to ensure improved performance continues to be delivered. »

" During 2016, the Group continued to focus on compliance, governance and managing risk across both jurisdictions in
which it operates. Opportunities to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of safety, health and wellbeing management
policies and services were monitored and, where relevant, implemented. In 2016 we have focused on improving .

" wellbeing for our employees' through the introduction of the Global Corporate Challenge, Employee: Health Checks and

. improved Wellbeing support materials for line managers and employees. .

By order of the Board:

zom

Sheryl A son

Secretary o
11-16 Donegall Square East
Belfast -

BT15UB

16 February 2017 '
Ulster Bank Limited is registered in Northern Ireland No. R0000733 .
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The Strategic Report contains information on risk management, future developments in the business of the Group, staff
involvement and employment of people with disabilities. .

Board of dlrectors

The Board is the main decision- maklnq forum for the Bank.. it has overall responsibility for management of the business
. and affairs of the: Group, -the establishment of the Group strategy and the allocation and raising of capital, and.is
accountable to shareholders for financial and operational performance. The Board considers strategic issues and ensures
" the Group manages risk effectivety through approving and monitoring the Group’s risk appetite, considering Group stress .
scenarios and agreed mitigants and identifying longer term strategic threats to the Group’s business operations. The
‘Board’s terms of reference mcludes key aspects of the Bank’s affairs reserved for the Board’s decision and are reviewed
at least annually.

There are a number of areas where the Board has delegated specific responsibility to management mcludlng the Chief
Executive and Chief Financial Officer. These include responsibility for the operational management of the Group's
businesses” as well ‘as reviewing high level strategic issues and considering risk appetite, risk policies and risk
management strategies in advance of these being considered by the Board and/or its Committees. :

_ Specific delegated authorrtres are also in place in relation to business commitments across the Group

The roles of Chalrman and Chref Executive are distinct and separate, wrth a clear division of responsubllltles The -.
Chairman leads the Board and ensures the effective engagement and conitribution of all executive and non-executive -
directors. The Chief Executive has responsgibility for all Group businesses and acts in accordance with authority delegated
by the Board. The non-executive directors combine broad business and commercial experience with independent and
objectrve judgement and they provide mdependent challenge to the executrve directors and Ieadershrp team.

The Group Audit Commlttee comprises at least two mdependent non-executive directors and assists the Board ‘in
discharging its responsibilities for the disciosure of the financial affairs of the Group. It reviews the accountrng policies, .
financial reporting and regulatory compliance practices of the Group, the Group’s systems and standards of internal
controls, and monitors the Group s processes for internal audit and external audit.

The Board Risk Committee compnses at least two mdependent non-executive directors. It provides oversight and advice
to the Board on current and potential future risk exposures of the Group and risk strategy. It reviews the Groups
performance on risk appetlte and overseas the operation of the ‘Group Policy Framework. '

" The Group Nominations Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors and is chaired by the Chairman
of the Group. It assists the Board in the selection and appointment of directors. It reviews the structure, size and
composmon of the Board, and membership and chairmanship of Board committees. ‘

The Executlve Commrttee comprises the Group’s most senior executives and supports the Chief Executive in managing .’

the Group’s busrnesses It reviews strategic issues and initiatives, monitors financial performance and capital allocatrons
and considers risk strategy, policy and risk management.

. Directors and secretaries

- The names of the current members of the Board of Drrectors are shown on page 1 and brief brographrcal detalls are
© shown on page 108. From 1 January-2016 to date the followrng changes have taken place:

‘Appointed ' Resigned"
- Directors . . : ' '

E Graham ' _ 18 February 2016 A » -
C Mills . ) _ } _ ' : - .27 February 2016 -
B Rosewell ) . . : : Lo - * 30 June 2016
N Hamilton . - , - 30 September 2016
Secretary - - ;
R Bergin ‘ : S - 31 January 2016

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the directors are not required to retire by rotation.



ULSTER BANK LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
: .Dlrectors mdemnmes

In terms of Section 236 of the Companles Act 2006, all directors have been granted Quahfymg Third. Party tndemnlty
Provisions by RBS Group.

Political donations
' »_Dunng the year the Group made no political donations in the UK or EU (2015 £n1l)
Investments in Group undertakmgs . ‘

The investments in Group ‘undertakings are shown in Note 13. All of these undertakings are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and all have an accounting reference date of 31 December. . -

Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dlvudend on ordinary shares (2015 £n|l) In November 2016 the
directors approved and paid an interim dwudend of £1 3bn ' . '

Post balance sheet events

On 1 January 2017, the Bank sold Ulster Bank (Irefand) Holdings Unlimited- Company (“UBIH") and its subsidiaries,
. comprising the Group’s Republic of Ireland operations, to NatWest Hoidings Limited, a fellow subsidiary of RBS Group for
consideration of £4.9bn. On completion of the transaction the Group realised a consolidated loss on disposal of £0.4bn
representing the differential between the consideration received and the net asset value of the legal entities disposed of.

Consequently, UBIH and its subsndtanes are classified as a disposal group in these fmanCIat statements at 31 December -
2016 and its assets and habllmes presented in aggregate in accordance with- IFRS 5.

_The dlrect_ors proposed a dividend of £3.9bn in December 201 6 which was paid during January 2017.
Country-by-Country Reportmg ' .

The Bank is availing of the exemption under section 5(3) of The Capltal Requirements (Country-by-Country Repomng)
Regulations 2013 as the information required under the regulations is produced on a consolidated basis by the Groups
ultimate parent company, RBS Group, and published on its sustamablhty websnte

www. rbs com/sustamabl||ty/sustamab|Ilty-downloads html.

Going concern -

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and posmon
including potentlal risks and uncertainties, are set out in the Busmess review on pages 2t05. '

The Bank’s liquidity position is considered to be a constituent part of the UK Deflned Liquidity Group (DLG). At 31
December 2016, the Group had excess funding and placed c. £2.6bn with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (“RBS-plc”).
Access to liquidity from RBS Group and market sources is expected to remain available in sufficient quantity throughout
2017. The Bank also has a Discount Wmdow Facullty with the Bank of England which can be used for Ilqu1d|ty, if. reqmred

The Bank’s: capltal position remalned strong dunng 2016 Its CET 1 ratio decreased from 17. 5% at 31 December 2015 to
- 13.1% at 31 December 2016 as a result of planned activities, including the payment of a £1.3bn dividend to its parent

National Westminster Bank Plc and the revaluation of the bank’s investment in subsidiaries, pnnC|paI|y UBIDAC :
However, the CET 1 ratio remains S|gn|f|cantly above the regulatory minimum. :

" The financial posmon of the Group, its cash flows, |th|d|ty position, capital and funding sources are set out in the financial
statements. Notes.9, 25 and 35 to the financial statements include the Group’s objectives,.policies and processes for
managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; detalls of its financial instruments and hedging activities;
and its exposures to market, credtt and liquidity risks. :

Having reviewed the Group’s forecasts, projections and other relevant evidence in the context of the changing shape of
the Group post the sale of UBIH and its subsidiaries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the
Bank will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements of the Group
and the Bank have been prepared on a going concern baS|s
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Directors’ disclosure to auditors

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report confirms thét"

(a) .sofarasthe durector |s aware, there is no relevant audit mformatlon of which the Bank’s auditors are unaware;
and : .

..(b). the director has takén all steps he/she ought to have taken ds a director in order to make himself/herself aware
: of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Bank’s auditors a're aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be mterpreted in accordance with the provisions of Sectaon 418 of the:Companies
- Act 2006. :

By order of the Board:

Sheryl Anderson o
Secretary -
- 1116 Donegall Square East.

Belfast
BT15UB

16 February 2017 -

Ulster Bank Limited is registered in Northern Ireland No. R0000733

N



ULSTER BANK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIB!LIT!ES :

The dlrectors are responS|bIe for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and. regulation.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare Group and Bank financial statements’in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Bank and of the proflt or loss for that perlod q] prepanng these financial
statements, the directors are required to: '

e  properly select and apply accounting policies;

L present mformatlon including accountung policies, -in a manner that prowdes relevant, rehable comparable and
understandab{e mformatuon . :

e  provide additional disclosures When compliance with the specific requirerhents in IFRS are_insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Bank’s financial position
and financial performance; and . .

e make an assessment of the Group and Bank’s ablllty to continue as a gomg concern.

‘The directors are responsible for keeping adéquate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group
" and Bank’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Bank
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for
safeguarding the assets. of the. Group and Bank and hence for takmg reasonable steps for the prevention and detectton of
fraud and other megularmes . S

" The directors confirm that these tinancial statements comply with the aforementioned requirements.

: By>order of the Board:

Sheryl Andérson

“Secretary

11-16 Donegall Square East

Belfast

BT15UB

16 February 2017 N

Ulster Bank Limited is registered in Northern Ireland No. ROOOO?SS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ULSTER BANK
LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Ulster Bank Limited for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statements, Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets,
the Group and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Group and Parent
Company Cash Flow Statements, and the related notes 1 to 34 (unless otherwise stated).
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and
the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 10,
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of. whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the
parent company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors;
and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information in the Strategic Report and the Report of the
Directors to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

o the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of
the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2016 and of the group’s profit for
the year then ended, :

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

o the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006.

Continued /...
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ULSTER BANK
LIMITED (Continued)

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
* based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit
e the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.
¢ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance
with applicable legal requirements;

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have identified no material misstatements in the
Strategic Report or Directors’' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Corﬁpanies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company; or
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our
audit.

%&/I/la, éﬂ"Q__
Martina Keane
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Dublin

16 February 2017

Notes:

1. The maintenance and integrity of the RBS plc and Ulster Bank Group web sites is
the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for
any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially
presented on the web site.

2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

12



ULSTER BANK LIMlTED .

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT for the year ended 31 December 2016

“Group .
. 2016 - 2015
. Note , £m - £m
Interest receivable o ‘ ' o 179 195
" Interest payable : - - ’ . (49) )
Net interest income 2 130 142
Fees and commission receivable _ ~ : 56 . 53
Fees and commission payable ' S : _ . A7) (7)
-Income from trading activities : . o - 7
Other operating income _ - o (3) (26)
Non-interest income A : 3 46 .27
Total income A K o : ' 176 169
Operating expenses excluding costs of servicing discontinued operations a (145) (154)
Costs incurred in.servicing discontinued operations ' - 18 (46) (38)
Operating expenses : : . 4 - (191) (192)
Operating profit before impairment excludmg costs of servicing discontinued ' .
operations . ' . S 31 ~ 15
Costs incurred in serwc/ng discontinued operat/ons .18 . (46) (38)
Operatmg loss before impairment : ) - (15) (23)
Impairmentggin ' . L , ‘ 10 27 . 55
Operating proﬂt before tax exclud/ng costs of servicing discontinued )
operations 58 70
Costs incurred in servicing discontinued operat/ons 18 . (46) - (38)
Operating profit before tax _ : - 12 32
Tax charge _ , < 7 (25) (29)
Profit from contmu:ng operations excluding costs of servicing dlscont/nued
operations o ’ + 33 41
Costs incurred in servicingdiscontinued operations , 18 _ (46) (38)
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations - _ - 18 (13) 3
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax : - 18 . 63 834
Profit for the year - ' - . o 50 837
Profit attributable to: .
Ordinary shareholders : ' ' 50 837

50 837

The accom_panyihg notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

" The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on. 16 February 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Christopher Campbell Leslie Matheson - 4Michaei Larkin

-Chairman . Chief Executive Officer - . Chief Financial Officer

Ulster Bank Limited is registered in Northern Ireland. No. R0000733
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 31 December 2016

L Group
2016 2015.
. . o _ _ £m £m
- Profit for the year . _ . o o 50 - 837
I@enis that will not be reclassified subse_cjuently to profit or loss: ]
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans and other movements " .- 45 148"
Tax R , - ' o S 13 A 5
D . N - ,
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: .

- Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets : . i 3 .-
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations . ' . 917 _(278)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) after tax L . . V‘ 978 ~ (125)
Total comprehensive income for the year _ : . . 1,028 712
Attributable to: . ] . )
Non-controlling interests . .~ . : - _ . T2 C(27)

- Ordinary shareholders , o : : E ' | 956 - 739

1,028 - 712

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements:
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 ULSTER BANK LIMITED

BALANCE SHEETS as at 31 Deeember 2016

Group - Bank
2016 © 2015 . 2016 12015
. Note - £m . , £m " £m £m
Assets - ' ' o o
Cash andbalances at central banks . 9 1,012 868 : 1,012 . 616
Loans and advances to banks —_— 9 ) .5,402 0,485 5,935 7,119
* Loans and advances to customers .9 3,696 20,643 . 374 3,801
Debt securities ; - 9,11 - 1,889. . - -
- EQuity shares ' o ' 9,12 - 5 - -
Investments in Group undertakmgs o . 9,13, : - e . . 6,432
Derivatives - o ' 9,16 . . 5 627 7 ‘ 3
- Property, plant and equrpment : 9,15 © 43 126 43 44
Prepayments, accrued income ' ‘ , o c A L
and other assets . o : 9,17 ) 8 . . 95 10 31
Retirement benefit assets : .59 - 16 : - 16 -
Deferred taxation o . - .9,20 & . 11 236 Lk - 25
Assets of disposal groups 9,18 ) 26,297 = - - 4,883 B -
Total assets . . : ) 36,474 33,990 15,615 18,087
. Liabilities . ] . . ) .
Deposits by banks o : 9 ' 3,065 . 4,785 . 3,099 4,003
Customer accounts ) -9 5,727 . .18,977 5,765 5,860
Debt securities in issue S 9 ‘ - 1,473 - 1
Derivatives : 9,16 - 4 © 477 ' 35 - 35
Provisions, accruals and otherllabllmes - 9,19 B 803 - - . 921 801 748 -
Retirement benefit liabilities : '5,9 ' - 285 - -
Deferred taxation o . . 9,2’0 ‘ - . 3. N . -
" Subordinated liabilities 92t 939 960 - = 939 . 820
Liabilities of disposal groups 9,18 20,072 - - -
Total liabilities . . o 30,610 - 27,881 . 10,639 11,467
Equity , , :
Non:controlling interests o ' 507 435 . - -
Shareholders’ equity: . ' - ‘ . _ ‘
Called up share capital o 22 o 455 1,521 455 . 1,521
Reserves . L , . 4902 " 4,153 4,521 - 5,099
Total equity .- 9 T 5864 6,109 4,976 6.620
Total liabilities and equity 4 ' ’ 36,474 33,990 15,615 ' 1'8,087

The accompanying notes form an rmegral part of these fmancnal statements. As detailed in Note 8 the Bank’s loss after
tax for the. year ended 31 December 2016 was £336m (2015: £1 793m profrt)

_The fmancral statements were approved by the Board of Drrectors on 16 February 2017 and srgned on its behalf by:

H«M (mw.\)

Christopher Cambbell' " Leslie Matheson ' ' . Michael Larkrn :
.Chairman . Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Ulster Bank Limited is registered in Northern Ireland No. R0000733
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED.

SfATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 31 December 2016 .

" Bank

Group
2016 2015 2016 2015
o fm £m - fm | . £m
Called up share capital : ‘
‘At 1 January © 1,521 1,521 1,521 1,521
Reduction of capital.(Note. 22) (1,066) - (1,066) -
At 31 December - 455 1,521 455 1,521
Share premium account , g
© At1 January’ 89 891 . 891 891
Reduction of capital (Note 22) . (434) - (434) -
At 31 December 457 - 891 457 . 891
‘Available-for-sale reserve
At 1 January - - - -’
Unrealised gains 3. - - -
At 31 December 3 - - -
' Foreign exchange reserve .
At 1 January * (489) - (238). - -
Exchange differences on transation of foreign operattons 845 (251) - -
Transfer to retained earnings. 4 - - -
At 31 December- 360 (489) - -
Retained earnings _ A .
At 1 January 3,751 2,761 4,208 - 2,426
. Actuarial gains/(losses) on defmed beneflt pIans and Co : '
other movements . 45 148 (48) (16)
. Tax . ) 13 5 13 5.
Transfer from foreign exchange reserve (4) T - -
"Reduction of capital (Note 22) 1,500 - 1,500 -
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders: . .
- from continuing operations - (13) . 3 (336) 1,793
- from discontinued operations 63 834 - - -
Ordinary dividends paid (1,273) - (1,273) .-
At 31 December 4,082 3,751 4,064 4,208
" Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 5,357 " 5,674 4,976 6,620
Non- -controlling mterests . .
At 1 January 435 482 - -
Decrease in‘loan classed as equny - (20) - -
Currency translation 72 (27) - -
At 31 December 507 435 - -
Total equity at 31 December 5,864 6,109 4,976 6,620
Total cemprehensive income recognised in the Statement of Changes in Equity is attributable as follows:
Non-controlling interests 72 (27) . - . -
. Ordinary shareholders 956 - 739 (371) 1,782
‘ 1,028 712 (371) 1,782

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED

CASH FLOW STATEM ENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

(35) -

Cash and cash equivalents 31 December - . .30 8,633

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. -
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Group Bank
2016 . 2015 2016 2015
-Note £m £m £m £m

. Operatmg activities

Operating profit/(loss) before tax from contmuung . , .
operations . 12 32 (308) 1,820
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 18 60 837 - -

Adjustments for: - ' ' ) :

Dividends received ' . S - (1,271) . (31)
_ Depreciation, amortisation and o '

" impairment of property, plant and equupment : : 11 13 - 3 4
Interest on subordinated liabilities - 9 11 5 6
Charge for defined benefit pension schemes . o 47 62 10 13
Cash contribution to defined benefit pensnon : : .
schemes ) T (121) (70) (42) 42) -
Impairment gains on Ioans and advances and o .
amounts written off , (2,557) (7,138) (398) (1,635)
Impairment loss/(reversal) on investments in Group '

.undertakings . - - 1,549 (1,713)
Elimination of foreign exchange differences 592 (897) ' 62 (21)
Other non-cash items N 193 (145) 13 . 10
Net cash flows used in trading activities 27 - (1,754) (7,295) (377) "~ -(1,589)
Changes in.operating assets and liabilities ‘o 4,251 7,244 - 849 1,420
Net cash flows from/(used m) operating - _ . .

- activities before tax - , 2,497 (51) 472 {169)
Income taxes paid L (8) (78) (4) (66)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating ‘ ) . '
activities - 27 . 2,489 (129) 468 (235)

" Investing activities

Sale and maturity of securities ‘ . 1,495 2,004 - 5
Purchase of debt securities : , .+ (1,339) - (1,959) - -
Purchase of equity shares ' ‘ (1) (1) - -

* Sale of equity shares . T : ‘ 62 - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment . ) (8) (6) (4) (1)
Sale of property, plant and equipment - 25 171 2 -
Dividends received ‘ e - 1,271 31
Net cash flows from investing activities ' 173 271 1,269 35
Financing activities . ] :

Repayment of debt securities in issue ’ (538) (127) (1)_' (9)
Repayment of subordinated loans _ K - (20) - - (20)

Interest on subordinated habllmes L ©(9) (11) ) (6)
Dividends paid - » R . (1,273) - o (1,273) -
Net cash flows used in financi;ngactivities‘ : - (1,820) . (158) (1,279)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and i I

cash equwalents : 794 (184) 57 (22)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and A .
cash equivalents ' : ' . 1,636 (200) 515 (257)
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January’ 30 6,997 7,197 3,896 4,153

6,997 4,411 3,896



ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016
A1. Accounting policies A '
a) Presentation of financial statementsl .

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with IFRS issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee of the IASB, as adopted by the EU. The Group and Bank s financial statements are presented
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. ) .

The Bank is incorporated and,registered in Northern Ireland. The Group and Bank’s financial statements are prepared on -
the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: held-for-trading
financial assets and financial liabilities, financial assets and financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through
profit or-loss, available-for-sale financiai assets and investment property. Recognised financial assets and financial
liabilities in fair value hedges are adjusted for changes in fair value in respect of the risk that is hedged.

b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank (Ulster Bank Limited) and entities
(including certain special purpgse entities) that are controlled by the Bank (its subsidiaries). The Group controls another
entity (a subsidiary) when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with that entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the other entity; power generally arises from holding a majonty of
voting. nghts v .

There are a number of entities in which the Group holds less than half the voting rights which are consolidated when the
" substance of the relationship between the Group and the entity indicates that the entity is controlled by the Group. Such

entities are deemed to be controlled by the Group when relationships with such entities give rise to beneftts that are in
. substance no different from those that would arise were the entity a subsidiary.

On acquisition of a subsidiary, its identifiable assets and liabilities are included in the consolidated financial statements at
their fair value. Any excess of the cost (the fair value of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity
instruments issued by the Group plus any directly attributable costs) of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets
acquired is recognised as goodwill. The interest of non controlhng shareholders is stated at their share of the fair value of
the subsrdiary , .

A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control passes until the Group ceases to
control them through a sale or significant change in circumstances. Changes in interest that do not result in a loss of
control are recognised in equity. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Group and
~ to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and-expenses are eliminated on consolidatlon The consohdated finanC|al
. statements are prepared using umform accounting policies.

c). Assets and liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a disposal group is classified as held for sale if the GroLip will recover its carrying amount -
principally through. a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. A disposal group is a collection of assets and
the Ilablllties directly associated with them that are lntended to be transferred in a single transaction ’

A non-curren_t asset or disposal group classified as hetd tor sale is measured at the Iower of its carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. If the asset or disposal group is acquired as part of a business combination jt is initially measured
at fair value less costs to sell: Assets and liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale and non-current assets

classified as held for sale are shown separately on the face of the balance sheet. An analysis of the major classes of -~

"assets and Iiabllltles ciassrfied as held for sale is presented in Note 18.

A discontinued operation is a cash generating unit or a group of cash generating units that either has been disposed of, or
is classified as held for sale, and (a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; (b)
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations or
(c) is ‘a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The financial performance of discontinued operations, .
comprising the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations, are shown asa srngle amount on the face of the income

. statement An analysis of this amount is presented in Note 18
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED
" NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEN;I'S for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. Accounting policies,(eontinued)
d) Revenue recognition

- Interest income and expense on financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables or available-for-sale and
interest expense on financial liabilities other-than those at fair value through profit or loss is determined using the effective
interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability (or group of financial assets or liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over
- the expected life of the asset or liability. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
flows to the instrument’s initial cafrying amount. Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees payable
or receivable, that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or discounts on acquisition or issue, early
redemption fees and transaction costs. All contractual terms of a financial instrument are considered when estimating
future cash flows. Where negative effective interest rates apply to financial assets the related interest expense is shown
as a separate item in interest payable. :

Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at
fair value. Changes in farr value are recognrsed through profit or loss together with dividends and mterest receivable and .
payable: )

: Fees in respect.of services are recognised as the right to consideration accrues through the provision of the service to the
customer. The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the service is
rendered. The price is usually fixed and always determinable. The application of this policy to significant fee types is
outlined below. :

" Payment services: this income comprises income received for payment services including cheques cashed and direct
debits. These are generally charged on a per transaction basis. The income is earned when the payment or transaction
occurs. Charges for payment services are usually debited to the customers account, monthly or quarterly in arrears.
Income is accrued at period end for services provided but not charged .

Card related services: tees from credit card busmess include:

» Interchange received: as issuer, the Group receives a fee (interchange) each trme a cardholder purchases goods
and services. The Group also receives interchange fees from othér card issuers for providing cash advances through
its branch and automated teller machine networks. These fees are accrued once the transaction has taken place;
and

s Periodic fees payable by credit card holders these are deferred and taken to profit or Ioss over the penod of the

" . service.

Lending (credlt facilities): commitment and utrhsatnon fees are determined as a percentage ¢ of the outstanding facility. if it
is unlikely that a specific lending arrangement will be entered in to, such fees are taken to profit or loss over. the life of the
facility otherwise they are deferred and included in the effective lnterest rate on the advance.

" Brokerage fees in respect of securities, foreign exchange, futures or options transactions entered |nto on' behalf of a
customer are recognised as income on execution of a srgmfrcant act.

o Tra_de finance: income from the provision of trade finance is recognised over the term of the finance unless specifically

related to & significant act, causing income to be recognised when the act is executed.

Investment managerment fees: fees charged for managing investments are recognised as revenue as the services are
provided. Incremental costs that are directly attributable to securing: an. investment management contract are deferred
and charged as an expense as the related revenue is recogmsed

Fees and commissions payable fees and commrssrons are payable in respect of services: provided by third party
intermediaries. These are charged through profit or loss over the life of the underlying product.

e) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group provides post-retirement benefits in the form of pensions to eligible employees.

. For defined benefit schemes, scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method
.and discounted at a rate that reflects the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and
currency to the scheme liabilities. Scheme ‘assets are measured at their fair value. Past service costs are recognised
immediately to the extent that benefits have vested; otherwise they are amortised over the period until the benefits™
" become vested.
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED -
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. Accountmg policies (contmued)
e) Pensuons and other post-retirement beneflts (continued)

: Any surplus or deficit-of scheme assets. over liabilities adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and past
services costs is recognised on the balance 'sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit). In 2015, the Group voluntarily
changed its accounting policy for the récognition of surpluses in its defined benefit pension schemes: in particular, the .
-policy for determining whether or not it has an unconditional right to a refund of surpluses in its employee pension funds.
Where the Group has a right to a refund, this is not deemed unconditional if pension fund trustees can use a scheme

- surplus to enhance benefits for plan members. As a result of this change, a minimum funding requirement to cover an.
existing shortfall in a scheme may give rise to an additional liability and surpluses may not be recognised in full as a
defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available to the Group in the form of refunds
from the plan or reduced contributions to it. The revised accounting policy, by taking-account of the powers of pension
trustees in assessing the economic benefit available as a refund, prowdes more relevant information about the effect on
the Group’s financial position of its defined benefit pensuon schemes. :

Contnbutlons to defined contnbut:on pension schemes are recognlsed in the income statement when payable.

f) Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
g) Property, piant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment (except investment properties — see accounting policy i) are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation (see below) and accumulated impairment losses. Where an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises major components having dlfferent useful hves they are accounted for separately.

‘Depreciation is charged 10 profit or loss on a straight-line baS|s soasto wnte off the depreciable amount of property, plant
and equipment (including assets owned and let on operating leases) over their estimated useful lives. The depreciable
_ -amount is the cost of an asset Iéss its: residual value. Freehold land is not depreciated. Estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Freehold and long leasehold bunldlngs ' ' 50'years

Short leaseholds . unexpired period of the Iease
- Property adaptation costs ) ' 10 to 15 years

Computer equipment ' up to 5 years

Other equipment : 4 to 15 years

"The residual value and usetul life ot property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted forona prospectlve basis. :

h) Impairment of non-fmancual assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the value. of its non-financial assets is

“impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset and the impairment loss,
if any. The recoverable amount of an asset is'the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. Value in use
is the present value of future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit discounted at-a rate that reflects market
interest rates adjusted for risk specific.to the asset or cash-generating unit that have not been reflected in the estimation -
of future cash flows. If the recoverable amount of a non- -financial asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss and the carrying value of the asset reduced by the amount of the loss. A
reversal of an impairment loss on non- -financial assets is recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value
does not exceed that which it would have been had no impairment loss been recognised.

i} Investment properties

Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or- for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes), is measured initially at its cost,.including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Fair value is based on current prices for similar properties in
the same location and condition using internal valuation modeéls based on yield .comparables and any available recent’
market transactions taking cognisance of the principles of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation
methodology. Any gain or Ioss arising from-a-change in fair value is recognised.in profit or loss. .

Rental income from investment property is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease mcentuves ‘
- granted are recognlsed as an integral part of the total rental income.
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ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016
1.. Accounting policies (continued)
j} - Foreign currencies A _
. The Group's consolidated financial statements are pres'ented in Sterling which is the functional currency of the Bank.

‘Group entities record transactions in foreign currencies in their functional currency - the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate - at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in" foreign” currencies are translated into the relevant functional currency at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on the settiement of foreign
currency transactions and ‘ffom the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are reported in income from trading
activities except for differences arising on hedges of net mvestments in foreign operatrons .

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies -that are stated at falr value are translated into the relevant
functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates-the values are determined. Translation differences
arising on non-monetary items measured at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for differences arising on
available-for-sale non-monetary financial assets, for example equity shares, -which are recognised in other
comprehensive income unless the asset is the hedged item in a fair value hedge.

~ Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, mcludmg goodwrll and fair value ad|ustments arising on acquisition, are
translated into Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Sterling *at average. exchange rates unless these do not approximate to the foreign
lexchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of a foreign
-operation are recognised in other comprehensive income. The amount accumulated in equrty is reclassmed from equrty to
proflt or loss on disposal or partial drsposal of a foreign operatlon

k) Leases

As lessor

Contracts with customers to lease assets are cIassmed as fmance leases |f they transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to the customer. All other contracts with customers to lease assets are classified as
operating leases. .

Finance lease receivables are included in the balance sheet, within loans and advances to customers, at the
amount of the net investment in the lease being the minimum lease payments and any unguaranteed residual
value discounted at the .interest rate implicit in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods
$0 as to give a constant periodic rate of return before tax on the net investment and included in interest receivable:
Unguaranteed residual values are subject to regular review; if there is a reduction in their value, mcome allocation
is revised and any reduction in respect of amounts accrued is recognised immediately.

Rental income from operating leases is credited to the income statement on a receivable basis over the term of the lease.
Operating lease assets are included within property, plant and equipment and depreciated over their useful lives (see.
accounting policy g). Operating lease rentals receivable are included in other.operating income. "

As lessee . ' '
Rentals payable under operatrng leases are charged to the mcome statement on a stralght hne basis over the term of the

relevant lease.
1) ~ Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group recognises a provision for a present obligation resulting from a past event when it is more likely than not that it
will be required to transfer economic benefits to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estlmated
rellably

If the Group has a contract that is" onerous, it recognises the present obligation under the contract as a provision: An
onerous contract is one where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under it exceed the expected economic
benefits. When the Group vacates a leasehold property, a provrsron is recognised for the costs under the lease Iess any
expected economic benefits (such as rental income).

Contingent liabilities are possrble obligations arising from past events whose existence will be conﬁrmed only by uncertain
future events or present obligations arising from past events that are not recognised because either an outflow of
economic benefits is not probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are
not recognised but information about them is dlsclosed unless the possrbmry of any outflow of economic benefits rn '
settlement.is remote. .

m) Taxatron

Income tax expense or income, compnsrng current tax and deferred tax, is recorded in the income statement. except
income tax on items recognised outside profit or loss which is ciedited or charged to other comprehensive income or to
equity as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FlNANClAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. Accountmg policies (contmued)

. m) Taxation (continued) i : S -

Current tax is income tax payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for the year arising in‘income or in
equity' Provision is made for current tax at rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. .

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in respect of temporary dlﬂerences between the carrying
-amount of an asset or liability for accounting purposes and its carrying amount for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that they will be recovered. Deferred tax is not recognised on temporary differences that arise from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction (other than a business combination) that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates expected to apply in the
periods when thé assets will be realised or the liabilities settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantlvely
enacted, at the balance sheet date. :

‘Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and where they .
relate to income taxes levied by the same' taxation authority éither on an individual Group company or on Group
companies in the'same tax group that intend, in future periods, to settle current tax habulmes and assets on a net basis or
on a gross basis simultaneously.

n) Financial assets -

On initial recognition financial assets, as defined by IAS -39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ (IAS
39), are classified into held-for-trading; designated as at fair value through profit.or loss; loans and receivables or
available-for-sale. Regular way purchases of financial assets classified as loans and receivables are recognlsed on
settlement date; all other regular way purchases are recognised on trade date :

Held-for-trading - a financial asset.is classrfled as held-for-trading if it is acqurred principally for sale in the near term, or
forms part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is.evidence of short-term
profit taking, or it is a derivative (not in a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial assets are recognised at -
fair value with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently they are measured at fair value. Gains
_ and losses on held-for-trading financial assets are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

* Designated as at fair value through profit or loss - financial asséts may be designated as at fair value through profit or -
loss only if such designation: (a) eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; or (b)
- applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both, that the Group manages and evaluates on a fair value
basis; or (c) relates to an mstrument that contains an embedded denvatrve whrch is not evidently closely related to the
host contract. .

Financial assets that the Group designates on initial recogni_tion as being at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss and are subsequently measured at fair
- value. Gains and losses on financial assets that are deS|gnated as at fair value through profit or loss are recogmsed in
profit or loss as they arise. : ,

Loans and receivables - non-derivative flnancral assets with fixed or determinable repayments that. are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans and receivables, except those that are classified as available-for-sale, as held-for-
trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Loans and receivables are initially. recognised at fair value
plus directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method (see accounting pohcy d) less any impairment losses. .

Available-for-sale - financial assets that are not classified as held-for-trading; designated as at fair value through profit or
loss; or loans and receivables are classified as available-for-sale. Financial assets can be designated as available-for-
sale on initial recognition. Available-for-sale financial -assets are initially recognised at fair value plus directly related
* transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at fair value. Unquoted equity investments whose fair value cannot
be measured reliably are carried at cost and classified as available-for-sale financial assets.. Impairment losses and
exchange differences resulting from retranslating the amortised cost of monetary available-for-sale financial assets
denominated in a foreign currency are recognised in profit or loss together with interest calculated using the effective
interest method (see accounting policy d). Other changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and any
related tax are reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity until disposal, when the cumulative gain or Ioss
is recognised in proflt or Ioss :

Fair value - the Group s approach to détermining the fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value is set out in

the section of critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty entitted Fair value - fmancnal ’
instruments; further details are given in Note 9. ) o -
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1. Accounting policies (continued) . o

o) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets classified as available-for-sale or loans and receivables is impaired.. Loans (including lendings under
revolving facilities) with an impairment provision must be reported as an impaired loan. This includes loans granted
forbearance where there is an economic loss and therefore an impairment provision.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost - if there is objecnve evidence that an impairment Ioss ona fmancnal asset or
group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables has been incurred, the Group measures the amount of the
loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the -asset or group of assets and the present value of estimated ‘
future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrumént at -
initial recognition. For collateralised loans and receivables, estimated future cash flows include cash flows that may result
from foreclosure less the costs of obtaining and selhng the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

Where, in the course of the orderly realisation of a loan it is exchanged for equity shares or properties, the exchange is
accounted for as the sale of the loan and the acquisition of equity securities or investment properties. Where the Group’s
interest in equity shares following the exchange is such that the Group controls an entity, that entity is consolidated.

Impairment losses are assessed individually for financial assets that are individually significant and individually or
collectively for assets that are not individually significant. In making collective assessment of impairment, financial assets
are grouped.into portfolios on the basis of similar risk characteristics. Future cash flows from these portfolios are -
estimated on the basis of the Qontractual cash flows and historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk
characteristics. Historical 10ss experience is adjusted, on the basis of current observable data, to reflect current conditions
‘not affectmg the penod of historical experience.

Impacrment Iosses are recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the fmanmal asset or group of financial
assets reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss reduces and the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was recognised, the
* previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance. Once an impairment-loss has been recognised on a
financial asset or-group of financial assets, interest income is.recognised on the carrying amount using the original
effective rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were discounted in measuring impairment.

Impaired loans and receivables are written off, i.e. the impairment provision is applied in writing down the loan’s carrying
value partially or in full, when the Group concludes that there is no longer any realistic prospect of recovery of part or all
of the loan. For portfolios that are collectively assessed for impairment, the timing of write off principally reflects historic
recovery experience for each portfolio. For loans that are individually assessed for impairment, the timing of write off is
determined on a case-by-case basis. Such loans are reviewed regularly and write offs will be prompted by bankruptcy,
insolvency, restructuring and similar events. Amounts recovered after a loan has been written off are credited to the loan
- impairment charge for the period in which they are received. Further details are given in Note 25. .

Financial assets carried at fair value - when a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a financial asset
classified as available-for-sale has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is
impairéd, or if there is a decline in estimated future cashflows or a decline in underlying collateral, any cumulative loss is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or foss. The loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
. of the financial asset and its current fair value. Impairment losses on -available-for-sale equity instruments ‘are not
reversed through profit or loss, but those on available-for-sale debt instruments are reversed if there is an increase in fair
value that is objectively related to a subsequent event. .

'p) Financial liabilities

" On initial recognmon f|nanC|al liabilities, as defined by IAS 39, are recognised at fair value and classified into held-for-
trading; designated as at fair value through profit or loss; or amomsed cost

Held-for-trading - a financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if it is incurred pnncnpally for the repurchase in the
near term, or forms part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence -
of short-term profit taking, or it is a derivative (not in a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial liabilities
are recognised at fair value with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss. Subsequenﬂy they are measured at
fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss - financial liabilities may be designated as at fair value through profit or
loss only if such designation (a) eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; or (b)
- applies to a group of financial assets, financial fiabilities or both that the Group manages and evaluates on a fair value
basis;. or (c) relates to an mstrument that contains an embedded derivative which'is not evidently closely related to the
host contract.
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‘NOTES TO THE FINANQIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016
1. Accounting policies (eontinued) : L '

p) - Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities that the Group designates on initial recognition- ~as being at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss, and are subsequently measured at fair
value. Gains and losses on financial liabilities that are desngnated as at fair value lluuugh profit or loss are recognlecd in
profit or loss as they arise.

Amortised cost - all other financial- liabilities aré measured -at amomsed cost using the effectlve lnterest method (see
“accounting pohcy d). . ‘

Fair value - the Group’s approach to determining the fair value of ﬁnancual mstruments measured at fair value is set out in
. the section of critical ‘accounting . policies and key sources - of estlmatnon uncertalnty entitled Fair value - flnancual )
instruments; further detauls are given in Note 9.

'

q) Derecogmtlon

A financial asset is derecognlsed when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has explred or when it
has been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transfer requires that the Group either: (a) transfers
the contractual rights to receive the asset's cash flows; or (b) retains the rights to the asset's cash flows but assumes a
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to a third party. After a transfer, the: Group assesses the extent to whichit
has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset. If substantially all the risks and rewards have
been retained, the asset remains on the balance sheet. If substantially all of the risks and rewards have been transferred,
~ the asset is derecognised. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor transferred, the Group
assess whether or not it has retained control of the asset. If it has not retained control, the asset is derecognised. Where
the Group has retained control of the assét, it continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when the obligation is discharged, or cancelled, or expires. On the
redemption or settiement of debt securities (including subordinated liabilities) issued by the Group, the Group
derecognises the debt instrument and records a gain or loss being the difference between the debt’s carrying amount and
the cost of redemption or settiement. The same treatment applies where the debt is exchanged for a new debt issue that
has terms substantially different from those of the existing debt. The assessment of whether the terms of the new debt
instrument are substantially different takes into-account qualitative and quantitative characteristics including a comparison
of the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms with the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the ongmal debt issue. S

) Sale and repurchase transactions

Securities subject to a sale and repurchase agreement under which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

are retained by the Group continue to be shown on the balance sheet and the sale proceeds recorded as a deposit.

Securities acquired in reverse sale and repurchase transactions under which the Group is not exposed to substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are not recognised on the. balance sheet and the consideration is recorded in Loans

and advances to banks or Loans and advances to customers as appropriate. :

Securities borrowing and lending transactnons are usually sécured by cash or securities advanced by the borrower.
Borrowed securities are not recognised on the balance sheet or lent securities derecognised. Cash collateral received or
given is treated as a loan or deposit; collateral in the form of securities is not.recognised. However, where securities
‘borrowed are transferred to thlrd parties, a hablllty for the obligation to return the securities to the stock Iendmg
counterparty is recorded. .

s) ' Netting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only -
when, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group is party to a number of arrangements,
including master netting agreements, that give it the right to offset financial assets and financial liabilities. Where it does
not intend to settle the amounts net or snmultaneously the assets and liabilities concerned are presented gross

t) Capital mstruments

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in .

“accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a contractual

- obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on potentially
unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a reS|duaI interest in the assets of the Group after

the deductlon of liabilities. ‘ . .
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“NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS fqr the year ended 31 December 2016
1. Accounting policiés (continued)
u) beriVatives and hedging |

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised, and subsequently measured, at fair value. Derivative fair values
are determined from quoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market for an instrument,
fair value is derived from prices for.the derivative’s components using appropriate pricing or valuation models. Credit
* valuation adjustments are made when valuing derivative financial assets to incorporate counterparty credit risk. Valuation
adjustments are made when fair valuing financial liabilities to reflect the Group’s own credit standing.

A derivative embedded in a contract is accounted for as a stand-alone derivative if its economic characteristics are not
closely related to the economic characteristics of the host contract; unless the entire contract is measured at fair value
wnth changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

.Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of denvatlves that are not the hedging instrument in a qualifying
hedge are recognlsed as they arise in prom or loss.

The Group enters into hedge relationships in respect of changes in‘the fair value of a recognlsed asset or hablhty or
unrecognised firm commltment (fair value hedges). . '

Fair value hedge - in a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss. The
"gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss and, where the hedged item
is measured at amortised cost, adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item. Hedge accounting is discontinued if the -
- hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting; or if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised; or if hedge designation is revoked. If the hedyed item is one for which the effective interest rate method is
.used, any cumulative adjustment is amortised to proflt or-loss over the life of the hedged item using a recalculated
effective interest rate. »

. Hedge relationships are formally desngnated and documented at inception. The documentation identifies the hedged item
. and the hedging instrument and details the risk that is being hedged and the way in which effectiveness will be assessed
at inception and during the period of the hedge. If the hedge is not highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values
attributable to the hedged risk, consistent with the documented risk management strategy, hedge accounting is
. discontinued. Hedge accountung is also discontinued if the Group revokes the designation of a hedged relat|onsh|p

'v) Share-based payments

ABS Group awards options over shares 1o its employees and employees of subsidiary companies (including the Group)
under various share option schemes. IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ is applied by RBS Group to grants made under
~ these schemes. The cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of shares or share options granted is
measured by reference to the fair value of the shares or share options on the date the award is granted. The fair value of
. options granted is estimated using valuation techniques’ which incorporate exercise price, term, risk-free interest rates;

- . the current share price and its expected volatility The cost is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

RBS Group includes the cost of these awards in determining any recharges of employee costs it makes to subsidiaries.
The Group recognises the cost based on these recharges: :

w) Cash and cash equwalents

In the Cash Flow Stateménts 'cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with banks {ogether with
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible'to known amounts of cash and subject to |nS|gn|f|cant risk
of change in value. ,

x) Investments in Group undertakings
The Bank’s investments in its subsidiaries.are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
y) Critical accounting policiés and key sources of estimation uncertainty.

‘The reported results of the Group- are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the
preparation of its financial statements. UK company law and IFRS require the directors; in preparing the Group’s financial
statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent. In the absence of an applicable standard or interpretation, IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes
“in Accountmg Estimates and Errors’, requires management to develop and apply an accounting policy that results in
rélevant and reliable information in hght of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with SIm:lar and related issues
‘ and the IASB's Conceptual Framework. ,

The judgements and assumptions involved in the G}oup s accounting policies that are considered by the Board to be the
most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of esttmates assumptions or
models that differ from those adopted by the. Group would affect its reported resuits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016
1. Accountmg policies (continued)

'y) Critical accoummg polrcles and key sources of estimation uncertairity {continued)
Loan |mpa|rment provuswns | | |

The Groups loan impairment provisions are established to recognlse mcurred impairment iosses in its portiolio of loans
classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised cost. Loans (inciuding lendings under revolving facilities) with
an impairment provision must be reported as an impaired loan. This mcludes loans granted forbearance where there is an
economic loss and therefore an impairment provision.

There are three components to the Group's loan impairment provisions: individual, coiieotive and latent.

Individual component - all impaired loans that exceed specific' thresholds are’ individually assessed for impairment.
Individually- assessed loans principally comprise the Group's portfolio of commercial loans to medium and large
businesses. Impairment losses are recognised as the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the
discounted value of management's best estimate of future cash repayments and proceeds from any security held. These
estimates take into account the customer's debt capacity and financial flexibility; the level and quality of its earnings; the
amount and sources of cash flows; the industry in which the counterparty operates; and the realisable value of any .
security held. Estimating the quantum and timing of future recoveries invoives significant judgement. The size of receipts
will depend -on the future performance of the borrower and the value of security, both of which will be affected by future
. economic conditions; additionally, collateral may not be readily marketable. The actual amount of future cash flows and
the date they are received may differ from these estimates and consequentiy actual losses incurred may diifer from those’
recognised in these financial statements.:

Collective component - impaired ‘loans that are below individuai assessment thresholds are collectively assessed.

Collectively assessed provisions are established on a portfolio basis using .a present value methodology taking into

- account the. level of arrears, security, past loss experience, credit scores and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most
significant factors in establishing these provisions are the expected loss rates and the related average. life. These
portfolios include personal advances including mortgages, smaller commercial loans and credit card receivables. The

- future credit quality of these portfolios is subject to uncertainties that could cause actual credit losses to differ materially

. from reported loan impairment provisions. These uncertainties include the economic environment, notably interest rates
and their effect on customer spending, the unemployment level, payment behaviour and bankruptcy trends.

Latent component — latent loss provisions are held against estimated impairment losses in-the performing portfolio that
have yet to be identified as at the balance sheet date. To assess the latent loss within its portfolios, the Group has
" developed methodologies to estimate the time that an asset can remain impaired within a performing portfolio before itis
identified and reported assuch.

‘The impact of changes to the Group’s credit models during the year are discussed in Note 25.
‘Non performing loans

Loans are considered to be non- performing if they are categonsed as Risk Etemenis in' Lendlng (FiElL) or potential
problem loans. . . .

REiL compnses impaired loans and accruing'ioans past due 90 deys or more. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more
comprise loans past due 90 days where no impairment loss is_expected. An asset is past due when any amount of
interest, principal or fee has not been paid at the date it was due. . ’

Potential problem loans are loans for which an impairment -event has taken place but no impairment loss is expected.

‘This category is used for advances which have met a-pre-defined trigger for an impairment assessment and that
" assessment has determined that the future expected cash flows are greater than the carrying value of the asset.
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1. Accounting policies (contmued)
y) - Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) -
Forbearance '

The forbearance policies are the main response to managing mortgage customers in financial difficulty and are deployed
through the Group’s forbearance initiative. Forbearance is applied to secured retail products where relief is offered
through the renegotiation of the original contract, although on terms not generally available on a commercial basis. This
may include offering contract revision by various means including reduced .repayment, interest only arrangements,
payment moratorium and/or term extension; these forbearance arrangements are subject to heightened monitoring.

Deferred tax

The Group makes provision for deferred tax on short-term and other temporary differences where tax recognition occurs
at a different time from accounting recognition. Tax assets are recognised in respect of unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that there will be future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised. Judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognlsed based on the hkely timing and tevel of future
taxable profrts

Pensrons

" The assets of deflned benefrt schemes are measured at their fair value at the balance sheet-date.

"~ Scheme liabilities are measured usrng the prolected unit method,. which takes account of projected earmngs increases,
using actuarial assumptions that give the best estimate ot the future cash flows that will arise under the scheme liabilities.
These cash flows are discounted at an interest rate based on the yields of high-quality corporate bonds of appropriate
duration, with high-quality almost universally understood to mean AA-rated. The choice: of discount rate is a source of
estimation uncertainty, due to a lack of appropriate Euro-denominated AA-rated bonds of equivalent duration to the
pension schemes’ liabilities. The approach used is to fit a yield curve to an appropriate dataset of AA bonds, and derive -

the discount rate from that curve. To increase the number of reference bonds available at the end of the reporting period,. -

. equivalent AA yields were extrapolated for longer dated A and AAA rated bonds by applying a credit spread adjustment to
their actual yields. These were then included in the dataset used to create the yield curve.

In determim‘ng the value of scheme liabilities, financial and demographic assumptions are made as to price inflation,
pension increases, earnings growth and employee life expectancy. A range of assumptions could be adopted in valuing
. the schemes' liabilities. Different assumptions could significantly alter the amount of the surplus or deficit recognised in

" the balance sheet and the pension cost charged to the income statement. The assumptions adopted for the Group’s
pension schemes are set out in Note 5 to the financial statements together with sensmvmes of the balance sheet and
income statement to changes in those assumptions.

A net surplus is limited to the present value of any economic benefuts avallable to the Group in the form of refunds from
the plan or reduced contributions to it.

. Fair value - financial mstruments

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss and financial assets
classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the financial statements at fair value. All derivatives are measured at fair
value. On the balance sheet, financial assets carried at fair value are included within debt securities, equity shares and

derivatives as. appropriate. Financial liabilities carried at fair value are included within -deposits by banks, customer ‘

dccounts and derivatives. Derivative assets and derivative liabilities are shown separately on the face of the balance
sheets. The carrying value of a financial asset or & financial liability carried at cost or amortised cost that is the hedged
item in a qualifying hedge relationship is adjusted by the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk.

" Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid.to transfer a liability in an orderty. transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Fair values are determined by reference to observable market
prices where available and ‘reliable. Where representative market prices for an instrument are not available or are
unreliableé because of poor liquidity, the fair value is derived from prices for its components using appropriate pricing or
valuation models that are based on independently sourced market parameters, including rnterest rate yield curves, option
volatilities: and currency rates. “
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

. Accountin‘g-p’olicies (continued) :
y) Critical aceounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value - financial instruments {continued)

Financial assets carried at fair value include debt securities issued by governments and companies, reverse repurchase
agreements (reverse repos), loans and advances; equity shares of companies or corporations, both listed.and unlisted,
and derivatives. Financial liabilities carried at fair value include customer deposits, repurchase agreements (repos), debt
securities in issue and derivatives. Fair value for a substantial proportion of these instruments is based on observable
market prices or derived from observable market parameters. Where ‘observable pnces are not available falr value is

" . based on appropriate valuatlon techniques or management estimates.

The Group s derivative products include swaps, forwards, futures-and options. Exchange traded instruments are valued
using quoted prices. The fair value of over-the-counter instruments is derived from pricing models which take account of
“contract terms, including maturity, ‘as well as quoted market parameters such as interest rates and volatilities. Values
established from pricing-models are adjusted for credit risk, liquidity risk and future operational costs.

The fair value of substantially all securities posmons carried -at faur value is determined directly from quoted prices. Fair

value for a net open position in a financial instrument in an active market is the number of units of the instrument held A

times the closing market price. In determining the fair value of derivative financial instruments gross long and short .
positions measured at current mid market prices are adjusted by bid-offer reserves calcutated on a portfolio basis. Credit
valuation adjustments are made when valumg derivative financial assets to incorporate counterparty credit risk. Valuation
adjustments are made when fair valuing financial liabilities to reflect the Group’s own credit standing. Where the market
for a financial.instrument is not active, fair value is established using a valuation technique. These valuation techniques
- involve a degree of eshmauon the extent of whnch depends on the instrument’'s complexity and the avanlabllny of market-
" based data .

More details about the Group s valuatlon methodologies of the fair value of financial instruments valued using technlques
where at least one significant input is unobservable are given in Note 9.

Provisions for liabilities
" Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount, and are recognised when there is a présent obligation as a result:
of a past event, the outflow of economic benefit is probable and the outfiow can be estimated reliably. Judgement is
involved in determining whether an obligation exists, and in estimating the probability, timing and amount of any outflows.
Where the Group can look to-another party such as an insurer to pay some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision, any reimbursement is recognised wheri, and only when, it is virtually certain that it will be received. The
provisions are management's best estimate of the anticipated costs of redress and related administration expenses.
z) Accouming developments

_ International Financial Reportmg Standards .

A number of IFRSs and amendments to IFRS were in issue at 31 December 2016 that would affect the Group from 1
January 2017 or later. ,

Effectlve for 2017

In .January 2016, the IASB amended IAS 7 ‘Cash Flow Statements’ to require- dusclosure of the movements in financing
liabilities. The amendment is effective from 1 January 2017. '

in. January 2016, the IASB amended IAS 12 ‘Income taxes to clarify the recognition of deferred tax assets in respecl of
unrealised losses. The amendment is effective from 1 January 2017 :

Nenther of these amendments is expected to have a matenal effect on the Group’s financial statements.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

z) Aceounting developments (continued)

Effective after 201? -IFRS 9

In July 2014, the IASB published IFRS 9 Financial Instruments’ with an'effective date of 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 replaces:
the current financial instruments standard |1AS 39, setting out new accounting requirements |n a number of areas. The
Group is continuing its assessment of the standard’s effect on its financial statements.

The principle features of IFRS 9 are as follows:

Recogmtlon and derecognition
The material in 1AS 39 setting out the crrterra for the recognltlon and derecognmon of financial instruments-has been
included unamended in IFRS 9.

Classmcatron and measurement
Financial assets - There are three classmcatrons for financial assets in IFRS 9.

Amortised cost - Financial assets with terms that give rise to interest and principal cash flows only and which are held in a
‘business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect their cash flow are measured at amortised cost.

Fair value through other comprehensive income - Financial assets with terms that give rise to interest and principal cash
flows only’and which are held in a business model whose objective is achieved by holding frnancral assets to collect their
cash flow and selling them are measured at fair. value through other comprehensive income.

Fair value through prof/t and loss - Othet financial assets are measured at fair value through profit. and loss.

At initial recognition, any financial asset may be irrevocably desrgnated as measured at fair va(ue through profit or loss if ’
such desrgnatron eliminates a measurement or recognltlon inconsistency.

"~ The Group continues to evaluate the overall effect but expects that the measurement basis of the majority of the Group s
financial assets will be unchanged on application of [FRS 9. .

Financial liabilities - IFRS 9's requirements on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities are largely
unchanged from those in IAS 39. However, there is a change to the treatment of changes in the fair value attributable to
own credit risk of finaricial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss which are recognised in other
comprehensrve income and not in proirt or loss as required by IAS 39.

Hedge accounting ' :
IFRS 9's hedge accounting requnrements are .designed to align accounting more closely to the risk management
framework; permit a greater variety of hedging instruments; and remove or simplify some of the rule-based requirements
in IAS 39. The elements of hedge accounting: fair value, cash flow and net investment hedges are retained. There is an
option in IFRS 9 for an accounting policy choice to continue with the' IAS 39 hedge accounting framework. The Group is -
actively considering its implementation approach.

Credit impairment :
IFRS 9’s credit impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost, to those measured at fair -
value through other comprehensive income, to lease receivables and to certain loan commitments and financial

guarantee contracts. On initial recognition a loss. allowance is established at an amount equal to 12-month expected

credit losses (ECL) that is the portion of life-time expected losses resulting from default events that are possible within the

next 12 months. Where a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the loss allowance

increases so as to recognise all expected default events over the expected life of the asset. The Group expects that

financial assets where there is objective evidence of impairment under IAS 39 will be’ credlt impaired under IFRS 9, and

carry loss allowances based on all expected default events.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are required to be -unbiased.and'probability—weighted:
determined by evaluating at the. balance sheet date for each customer -or loan portfolic a range of possible outcomes.
using reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions, forecasts .of future events and
economic conditions. The estimation of ECL also takes into account the discount of future cash flows. Recognition and
i measurement of credit |mpa|rments under IFRS 9 are more forward- -looking than under |AS 39.

A programme has been established to implement the necessary changes in the modeHrng of credrt loss parameters, and
the underlying credit management and financial processes; this programme is led jointly by Risk.and Finance. The
inclusion of loss allowances on all financial assets will tend to result in an increase in overaII credit impairment provisions
when compared with the current basis of measurement under IAS 39. '

Transition : 7

The classification and measurement and impairment requirements will be applied retrospectively by adjusting the openrng
balance sheet at the date of initial application, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. Hedge accoummg will
be applied prospectively from that date.
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1." Accounting policies (continued) '
z) Acco_uhting developmenls (continued)

The table below sets out the descriptions used for credit impairment under IFRS 9, and their equivalent usage under |AS

39 and existing regulatory reporting.

Attribute IFRS 9 1AS 39 , Regulatory

Default / To determine the risk of a default occurring, Default aligned to loss A default shall be considered to
credit management intends to apply a default events, by classing all have occurred with regard to a )
impairment definition that is consistent with the financial assets for which particular financial asset when either

Basel/Regulatory definition of default.

Assets that are defaulted will be shown as

credit impaired. The Group intends to use 90

days past due as a consistent measure for
default across all product classes.

an impairment event has
taken place as
nonperforming.

Nonperforming assets are
defined as those that have
a 100% probability of
default and an internal
asset quality grade of
AQ10 (see page 75 for
definition).

impaired financial assets
are those for which there is
objective evidence that the
amount or timing of future
cash flows have been
adversely impacted since
initial recognition. -

or both of the following have taken
place:

- The Group considers that the
customer is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations without recourse by the
institution to actions such as

. realising security;

- the customer is past due more than
90 days. .

For retail exposures, the definition of
default may be applied at the level of
an individual credit facility rather
than in relation to the total
obligations of a borrower.

Probability of
default (PD)

PDis the likelihood of default assessed on
the prevailing economic conditions at the

 reporting date (point in time), adjusted to

take into account estimates of future
economic conditions that are likely to impact
the risk of default; it will not equatetoa long
run average .

Regulatory PDs are used
in the latent provision
calculation.

The likelihood that a customer will
fail to make full and timely . -
repayment of credit obligations over
a one year time horizon.

PD models reflect losses that would
arise through-the-cycle; this
represents a long run average view
of default levels.

Significant A framework is being eetablished that Not applicable Not apphcable
increase in incorporates both quantitative and qualitative - ’
credit risk .

measures and is aligned to the Group’s
current risk management framework.
Decisions in relation to credit deterioration
will be management decisions, subject to
approval by governing bodies such as the
Group Provisions Committee.

The staging assessment requires a definition
of when a significant increase in credit risk

has occurred; this moves the loss calculation

for financial assets from a 12 month horizon

‘| to a lifetime horizon. Management propose

to establish an approach that is primarily
informed by the increase in lifetime
probability of default, with additional
qualitative measures to account for assets
where PD does not move, but a high risk
factor is determined, these inciude the Risk

of Credit Loss framework and binary triggers .

(examples includes the use of payday
lending, forbearance and 30 days past due).

In.most cases, management expect an asset '

that has demonstrated a doubling of its
lifetime probability of default would be
considered to have a significant increase in

-credit risk.

| IFRS 9 includes an option that permits

assets that are ‘low risk’ to be excluded from

this assessment; the Group does not intend -

to apply this option.
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1. Accountingfpoﬁcies (cdritin,ued)

2) Accquhting developments (continued)

Attribute

IFRS 8

1AS 39

Regulatory

- Forward-
looking and
multiple
.scenarios -

| The evaluation of future cash flows, the risk

of default and impairment loss should take
into account expectations of economic
changes that are reasonable.

More than one outcome should be
considered to ensure that the resulting
estimation of impairment is not biased
towards a particular expectation of economic

growth.

Management have developed the default
modelling capability for IFRS 9 to simulate
multiple economic forecasts as part of the
model outcomes for PD, LGD and exposure.

Financial asset carrying
values based upon the
expectation of future cash
flows. '

Follows financial accounting.

'Loss given
default (LGD)

LGD is a current assessment of the amount

that will be recovered in the event of default,
taking account of future conditions. It may
occasionally equate to the regulatory view.

Regulatory LGD values are
used for calculating

- collective and’ Iatent

provnsnons .

An estimate of the amount that will
not be recovered in the event of .
default, plus the cost of debt
collection activities and the delay in
cash récovery. LGD is a downturn
based metric, representing a

prudent view of recovery in adverse -
economic conditions.

Exposure at
default (EAD)

EAD represents expected balance sheet
exposure at default. It differs from the

| regulatory method as follows:

- it includes the effect of amortisation;
- it caps exposure at the contractual limit.

EAD is assessed as the -
current drawn balance plus

1 future committed

drawdowns.

EAD models provide estimates of
credit facility utilisation at the time of
a customer default, recognising that
customers may make further
drawings on unused credit facilities
prior to default or that exposures
may increase due to market
movements. EAD cannot be lower
than the reported balance sheet, but '
can be reduced by a legally -
enforceable netting agreement.

Date of initial
recognition
(DOIR)

- The reference date used to assess a

significant increase in credit risk is as
follows:

Term lending: the date the facmty became
available to the customer.

Wholesale revolving products: the date of
the last substantive credit review (typically
annual) or, if later, the date facility became
available to the customer:

Retail Cards: the account opening date or, if
later, the date the card was subjecttoa -
regular 3-year review or the date of any.
subsequent limit increases.

Current Accounts/Overdrafts: the account
 opening date or, if-later, the date of initial
granting of overdraft facility or of limit
increases.

Not applicable for
impairment but defined as
the date when the entity
becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of -
the instrument.

Generally follows financial
accounting.
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1. Accountmg pollcles (contlnued)

z) Accountmg developments (continued)

Attribute

IFRS 9

IAS 39

Regulatory

Madification

renegotiation or modification does not result

A modification occurs when the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset are
renegotiated or otherwise modified and the

in.derecognition. A modification requires
immediate recognition in the income
statement of any impact on the carrying

Modification is not -
separately defined but
accounting impact arises .
as an EIR adjustment on
changes that are not
derecognition or

Not applicable

impairment events.

value and EIR. Examples of modification :
events include forbearance and distressed

- restructuring. The financial impact is
-recognised in‘the income statement as an
|mpa|rment release/(loss).

The lollowmg table summarises the treatment of asset cIass:flcatlon under IAS 39 and IFRS 9.

IAS 39

Assets IFRS 9 ) i .
‘ AC  FVTPL@)  FVOCKy) |  ACq) FVTPLa)  FVOCI)
Cash and balances at central banks } : ) '
Non held for tradlng ’ - XL - ) ' X
Loans and advances to banks ) ) )
~ |Held for trading 4 ’ : X o : x
Non held for trading LoX X x
Loans and advances to customers ’ a ‘
Held for trading -~ x ' : : X
Non held for trading : . : X x x X .
Debt securities ' ‘ ’ '
Held for trading : X X
Non held for trading: o , : ‘ ‘
Held to maturity | S S X
Available-for-sale o _ x Cox L x
Other . : X X . ' X X :
Equity shares o ' k ’
Held for trading : ‘
Non held for trading ‘ ’ . . _ X o x o X 4 X
Settlement balances i ' B
.INon held for trading 4 o x . . X -
Derivatives - . .
Held for trading . ' o Cx ‘ : x .

(1) Amortised cost
{2)  Fairvalue through profit and loss
(3) Fair value other comprehensive income

« Effective after 2017 - other standards :

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued in. May 2014. It will replace IAS 1 ‘Constructlon
Contracts’, IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and several Interpretations.. Contracts are bundled or unbundled into distinct performance
obhgatlons with fevenue recognised as the obligations are met Itis etfecttve from 1 January 2018.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ was issued in January 2016 to replace IAS 17 “Leases’. There are no substantial changes to the -
accounting for leases by lessors. For lessees: accounting for finance leases will remain substantially the same; operating’
leases will be brought on balancesheet through the recognition of assets representing the contractual rights of .use and
liabilities wnll be recognised for the contractual payments The effectlve date is 1 January 2019.

The Group is assessmg the effect ol adoptlng these standards on |ts financial statements.
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2. Netinterest income .
Group

2016 . 2015
. ] £m £m
Loans and advances to customers' : - o : 125 136
Loans and advances to banks : - . o ' 54 . 59
Interest receivable ‘ ' ' . . : 179 195
Customer accounts - ‘ . ' ' v (16) . (20)
" Deposits by banks : ' ‘ ‘ © 0 (28) (27)
" Subordinated liabilities L _ _(5) G
Interest payable . . - g ’ . .{49) (53).
Net interest income . g 130 142
Included within net interest income is £2m (2015: £3m) of interest on impaired loans.
3. Non-interest incqn‘ie o
' Group
2016 . 2015.
_ gm_ £m -
Fees and commission receivable - . S ' . ‘ - 56 53
Fees and commission payable o . N 7
_Income from trading activities'":
© Foreign exchange - ' , , o -7
Other operating income: . , ' .
~ Loss on disposal or settlement of loans and receivables 2) - . (83)
Other income - - . . L : L) 7
Non-interest income : : L 46 27
(1) The analysis of tradihg income is based on how the business is organised and the underlying riéks manag-;ed.
Foreign exchange includes income from spot foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps.
4. Operating expenses o
: - Group
2016 2015
. . £m - fm
Wages, salaries and other staff costs . ‘ s : 70. 76
Social security costs . A . . ) -7 : 6
Pension costs: S _ . ' o S
-.defined benefit schemes (see Note 5)- . ' : 0 = 13
- defined contribution schemes (see Note 5) o ' - . s 1
Restructure costs L : 2 -2
Staff costs ' ' . 9% 98
Premises and equipment ' ‘ ’ _ 4 : : 16 17
Administration : . ' : , . 82 73’
Other expenses - : 98 90
Property, plant and equipment depreciation (see Note 15) ' - 3 C 4
~ Operating expenses . , ' o 191 - 192

Included within operating expenses is £46m (2015:.£38m) of staff and overhead costs which are incurred by the Bank in
providing services to UBIDAC. Although these costs are recharged to UBIDAC on an arms-length basis they are required
to be reflected within continuing operations in the Consolidated Income Statement. Further details are shown in Note 18.
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4. Operating expenses (contmued)

The ‘average number of persons employed hy the Group during the year, exclud.ing temporary staff, vvas 2, 064 (2015:

2,160). The average number of temporary employees during 2016 was 78 (2015: 132) The number of pérsons employed
by the Group at 31 December, excluding temporary staff was as follows: .

Group .
o . , 2016 2015
Employee numbers : ) ~Number Number
PBB . : o . S 741 910
cPB - o o o 101, 174
Other S B - 1,071 - 1,062
. . ' ‘ 1,913 2,146
Discontinued operations g ' : i ' 2493 . 2730
: ' . ‘ ‘ 4,406 4,876

Other is central functions comprising Group and corporate functions: such as treasury, problem- debt management,
finance, risk, legal and human resources which support the PBB and CPB drvusrons In 2015, other also compnsed RBSN
Capital Resolution.

Included within other are 91 staff members (2015: 109) whose roles involve the provision of services exclusively to other
companies in ABS Group. The staff costs of these employees are recharged to the companies they provide services to.

Group
: ) 2016 .2015
. Auditors’ remuneration - : ' : ' ~ £'000 £'000
Audit of the Bank's rndrvrdual and Group accounts . - 1,169' . 815"
Assurance services A : - 187 163
- ' ‘1,356 . . 978

Other than the amounts' disclosed above no remuneration was payable in respect of tax advnsory services and other ]
non- audrt services. .

Audrtors remuneratlon is disclosed exclusive of VAT and reimbursement of expenses
Bank levy '

The UK bank levy rate decreased during 2016 and the blended rate charged was 0.18% on chargeable Irabrlmes in
- excess of £20 billion (2015: 0.1967%). Levy.costs.in respect of the Bank will be borne by RBS plc for 2016.

5. Pension costS'

Pension risk is the risk to.the Group arising from its conlractual or other liabilities to, or with respect to, its pensron
schemes, whether estabhshed for its employees, for those of a related company or otherwise. '

", The Group is exposed to risk from its defined benefit pension schemes to the extent that the assets of the schemes do

not fully match the timing and amount of the schemes’ liabilities. Pension scheme liabilities vary with changes to Iong-
term interest rates, inflation, pensionable salaries and the longevity of scheme members as well as changes in legislation.
Ultimate responsibility for the Group’s pension schemes is separate from the Group. management. The -Group is exposed

to the risk that the market vaiue of the schemes’ assets, -together with future returns and any additional future A '

contributions could be considered insufficient to meet the liabilities as they fall due. In such circumstances, the Group
could be obliged, or may choose, to make additional contributions to the schemes or be. requ1red to hold additional capital’
to mmgate such risk. . .

. i : . .
During the, yéar, the Group operated four deﬁnedbenefi! pension vschemes, the-assets of which are independent of the -
. Group's finances. Three of these schemes; Ulster Bank Pension Scheme (Republic of Ireland), First Active Pension
Scheme and Lombard Ireland Limited Non Contributory Pension & Death Benefit Plan were transferred to the disposal
-group at year.end. All subsequent current.year disclosures regarding governance and assumptions relate to the pension
. scheme included in continuing operations, the Ulster Bank Pension Scheme. : :
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5. Pension costs (contlnued)

The. Ulster Bank Pension Scheme operates under UK trust law and is managed and administered on behaif of its
members in accordance with the terms of the trust deed, the scheme rules and UK legislation (principally the Pension
Schemes Act 1993, the Pensions Act 1995 and the Pensions Act 2004). Under UK legislation a defined benefit pension
scheme is required to meet the statutory funding objective of having sufficient and appropriate assets to cover its
liabilities. Pension fund trustees are required to: prepare a statement ot funding principles; vbtain regular actuarial
valuations and reports; put in place a recovery plan addressmg any funding shortfall; and send regular summary fundlng
statements to members of the scheme. .

The Ulster Bank Pension Scheme corporate trustee is Ulster Bank Pension Trustees lelted (“UBPTL") a wholly owned
" subsidiary of Ulster Bank Limited. UBPTL is the legal owner of the scheme assets which are held separately from the
‘assets of the Group. The board of UBPTL comprises 3 trustee directors nominated by members selected from-eligible
active staff and pensioner members who apply and 6 appointed by the Group. The board is responsible for operating the
scheme in line with its formal rules and pensions law. It has a duty to act in the best interests of all scheme members,
including pensioners and those who are no longer employed by the Group, but who still have benefits in the scheme.-

_The scheme was closed to new entrants in 2009, when a new defined contnbutron scheme was launched.

Employees make contributions at varying levels depending on which scheme they are a member of and when they joined
the scheme. In addmon employees may make. voluntary contributions to secure additional benefits on a money- purchase
basis.

The Group independently monitors risk within its pension funds as part of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process. The RBS Pension Committee, acting as.a sub-commitiee of the RBS Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO"),
formulates the RBS view of pension risk. A sub-committee of the RBS Pension Committee has responsibility for oversight
of the Ulster Bank Pension Scheme as a material RBS pension scheme; considering mechanisms that could potentially
be used for managing risk within the schemes as well as financial strategy, and also reviews actuarial assumptions from a
sponsor perspective as appropriate. .

The Group also contnbutes to a small number of RBS Group Pensuon Schemes the costs of which are accounted for as
defined contributions.' The Group made contributions of £1m to its defined contribution schemes in 2016 (2015: £1m). The
Bank made contributions of £1m to its defined contribution schemes in 201 6(2015: £1m).

Interim valuations of the Group’s schemes were ‘prepared to 31 December 2016 by independent actuaries, using the
following assumptions:

Group
Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 December (weighted average) 2016 . 2015
Discount rate . 2.70% 2.60% - 3.90%
Rate of increase in salaries . ) 1.75%-3.20% © 1.30% - 2.75%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment . : 0.00%-2.25% 0.88% - 2.00%
Inflation assumption ‘ . ‘ ' 2.20% 1.75% - 3.00%

Discount rate .

The yield curves are constructed by reference to yields on 'AA’ corporate bonds from which a single discount rate is
derived based on a cash flow profile similar in structure and duration to the pension obligations. Significant judgement is
required when setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The
criteria include issuance size, quality of pricing and the exclusion of outliers. Judgement is also required in determining the
shape of the yield curve at long durations: a constant credit spread relative to gilts is assumed. '

Group
Major classes of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets ' . 2016 , . 2015
- Quoted assets - ' v .

Quoted equities : ‘ . 22% - 34%
Index-linked bonds ~ . 33% : 7%
Government fixed interest bonds : o _ - 2%
Corporate and other bonds ‘ : 21% 29%
Unquoted assets _

Private equity ’ ' ) - 1% -
Corporate and other bonds . ‘ : ' ' - 1%
Hedge funds . . ' ‘ 3% 3%
Real estate . ' - 5% 4%
-Derivatives - o . 10% 4%
Cash and other assets 5% 6%
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‘5. Pension costs (continued)

Bank

" Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 December - 2016 2015
Discount rate ' 2.70% *3.90%
Rate of increase in salaries 1.75%-3.20% . 1.75%-3.00%
Rate of increase in pensions |n payment 0.00%-2.25% _ 1.00%-2.00%
Inflation assumptlon ' 2.20% 2.00%-3.00%

Bank

‘ Major classes of plan assets as a percentauf total plan assets ' 2016 . . 2015
Quoted assets .
Quoted equities 22%" © 28%
Index-linked bonds - 33% 32%
Corporate and other bonds 21% '23%
Unquoted assets
Private equity 1% -
Corporate and other bonds - 1%

" Hedge funds ‘ " 3% 3%
Real estate 5% 4%
Derivatives 10% 4%

- Cash and other assets 5% 5%

‘ . Group
_ Post-retirement mortality assumptions (Main scheme) 2016 2015
Longevity at age 70 for current pensioners (years)
Males o "19.6 17.2
Females 21.0 18.8 °
Longevity at age 63 for future pensibners (years) :
Males - o 26.1 237
Females 27.8 . 25.5
o Bank -

Post-retirement mortality assumptions (Main scheme) 2016 2015
Longevity at age 70 for current pensioners (years) ’
Males : 19.6 19.8
Females 21.0 - 20.6
Longevity at age 63 for future pensioners (years)
Males : . 26.1 26.6 -

~ Females 27.8 27.5

,'These post- -retirement mortamy assumptions are derived from standard mortality tables used by the scheme actuary to

value the habnlmes for the main scheme
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'5. Pension costs (continued)

Group (a!l‘schemes)

Present value

.At 31 December 2016

37

Recoverable  of defined * Net.
amount of _ benefit pension
- plan assets- - obligations ' liability
Changes in value of net pension liabifity ' £m_ £m £m
At 1 January 2016 1,555 . (1,824) * (269)
Currency translauon and other ad;ustments . 146 _(186) ©(40)
" Income statement: : ’ ' '
Return on plan assets above recognused interest income 62 - 62
Interest cost. - (68) (68)
Current service cost - (30) (30)
. Expenses - - @ (2)
Past service cost - 4) (4)
Interest on asset ceiling (5) - - _(5)
‘ 57 (104) (47)
Statement of comprehensive income: ] '
Actuarial gains and losses due to expenence gains and Iosses 266 81 347 -
Actuarial gains and losses due to changes in financial assumptions - (235) - . (235) -
Actuarial gains.and losses due to changes in demographic . ’ :
assumptions - 66 66
Laoss resulting from changes in amounts not recognised due to 4 o
~ effect of asset celllng excludlng amounts recogmsed in net mterest : - -
- income (243) . (243)
Gain resulting from changes in addmonal liability due to mlnlmum '
funding requirements excluding amounts recognised in net interest
income ' ’ 110 - 110
133 (88) .45
- lnter group transfers 95 (114) (19)
-+ Contributions by employer 121 - 21
Contributions by plan participants 2 (2) -
Benetits paid (65) 65 -
Transfer to disposal groups (1,160) 1,369 209
884 (884) -
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5. Pension costs (cdntinued)

_ Group (all schemes)

Recoverable

Present value

of defined Net
amount of benefit pension
v - : plan assets " obligations liability .
Chaan in value of net pensron habmty . £m £m £m
~ At 1 January 2015 ' o . . 1,601. (2,056) - {(455)
Currency translation and other adjustments S o ’ (47) 77 30
Income statement: ’ ‘ v :
Return on plan.assets above recognised interest income . C ' 48 - 48
Interest cost : . 1. - (55) (55)
Current service cost 4 : - (41) (41)
_Contributions by other scheme members ’ o - 3 3
* Past service gain ’ ' (13) (13)
Interest on asset ceiling o o (4) - (4
: o 44 (106) (62)
Slatement of comprehensrve income: ' A
Actuarial gains and losses due to expenence gains and losses (52) 19 - - (33)
Actuarial gains ‘and losses due to changes in financial assumptions. ' - 150 150
Actuarial galns and losses due to changes in demographrc T .
assumptions .~ - . o - 51 51,
Loss resultlng from changes in'amounts not recognised due to ‘
 effect of asset ceiling excluding amounts recognrsed in netinterest '
income : (35) - (35)
Gain resulting from changes in additional Irabrllty due to minimum ’
funding requrrements excluding amounts recognlsed in net interest _ '
income : C 15 - 15
o ' ‘ . (72) 220 148
Contnbutrons by employer ‘ - 70 = 70 -
Contnbutrons by other scheme members ' ' . -3 3)° -
Contributions’ by plan partrcrpants ’ 3 (3) -
Benefits paid ' . ' S (47) 47. -
At 31 December 2015 L ' 1,555 - (1,824) (269)

The irrecoverable surplus’ of £278m at 31 December 2016 (2015: £35m) due to the effect of asset ceiling and the
additional liability. due to minimum funding requirements of £nil at 31 December 2016 (2015: £105m) have reduced the fair
value of plan assets of £1,162m at 31 December 2016 (2015: £1,695m) to their recoverab|e amount.

2015,

. - 2016
Net pension deficit comprises - Em £m -
Net assets of schemes in surplus - .16
Net liabilities of schemes in deficit - __(285)
. _ . - (269)
The Income Statement charge comprises: 2016 ‘2015
: . £m £m
Continuing operations (10) (13) .
Discontinued operations (37)- (49)
' ' (47)

62) . -

- Of the expense for the year, £10m (2015: £13m) has been included in the Income Statement.within staff costs (see Note

4). Actuarial gains of £45m (2015: £148m) have.been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group expects to contnbute £22m to its defined benefit pensron scheme in 2017.

. The average duratron of the Group s defined benefrt obligation is 21 years (2015 23 years weighted average duratron)

’
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5. Pension costs (continued)

Present value

39

Bank Recoverable of defined Net
amount of benefit - pension
. : plan assets . obligations - asset
Changes in value of net pension asset ~ fm £m £m
At 1 January 2016 . 771" (755) 16
Income statement: - '
Return on plan assets above recognised |nterest income 36 - 36
Interest cost - (30) -(30)
Current service cost - (10) (10) -
Past service cost - (1) A1)
Interest on the asset ceiling (5) - (5),
31 (41) (10)
Statement of comprehenswe income:
Actuarial gains and losses due to expenence gains and losses 200 42 242
- Actuarial gains and losses due to changes in financial assumptions - (184) © (184
Actuarial gains and losses due to changes in demographlc i
assumptions - 27 . 27
Loss resulting from changes in amounts not recognlsed due to
effect of asset celllng amounts recognised in net interest .
income (243) - (243)
Gain resulting from changes in additional liability due to mlnnmum ' :
funding requirements excluding amounts recognlsed in net
interest income 110 - 110
. ‘ 67 (115) (48)
Contributions by employer 42 oo 42
Contributions by plan partlcupants 1 (1) -
Benefits paid ~ (28) 28 -
At 31 December 2016 - 884 (884) -
Bank Recoverable Present value of Net
amount of plan defined benefit - pension
. . L assets obligations . asset
Changes in value of net pension asset. £m £m . £m
At 1 January 201 5 773 (770) 3
Income_statement: ) :
.Return on plan assets above recogmsed interest mcome 34 - 34
Interest cost . - (28) - (28)
Current service.cost - (12) (12)
Past service cost ) )
Interest on the asset ceiling (4) - (4)
) : , - 30 (43) (13)
Statement of comprehensive income: A
Actuarial gains and losses due to experience gains‘and losses ] (33) 8 (25)
Actuarial gains and losses due to changes in financial assumptions - 24 24
Actuarial gains and losses due to changes in demographic . '
assumptions - 5 5
Loss resulting from changes in amounts not recognised due to
effect of asset cenlmg excludmg amounts recogmsed in netinterest . 7
mcome (35) - (35)
Gain resultmg from changes in addmonal liability due to minimum - ’ -
- funding requnrements excluding amounts recognised in net interest . ..
income’ ' ’ 15 - 15
: , (53) - 37 (16)
Contributions by employer 42 - 42
' Contributions by plan participants 1 (1) -
Benefits paid . (22) 22 -
" At 31 December 2015 771 (755) 16
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

5. . Pension costs (continued)

The irrecoverable surplus of £278m ‘at 31 December 2016 (2015: £35m) dﬁe to the effect of asset ceiling and the
additional liability due to minimum funding requirements of £nil at 31 December 2016 (2015: £105m) have reduced the
fair value of plan assets of £1,162m at 31 December 2016 (2015: £912m) to their recoverable amount.

Of the expense tor the year, £10m (2015: £14in) has been included in the Income Statement within staff costs.

The Bank expects to contribite £22m to its defined benefit pension scheme in 2017.

t

Tﬁe aveiage duration of the Bank’s defined benefit obligation is 21 years (2015: 23 yéars).

. . 4 2016 2015 ' 2014 2013 2012

- History of defined benefit schemes (Group) - Em . £m £m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations (884) (1,824 (2,056) (1,616) (1,511)

" Recoverable amount of plan assets 884 1,655 1,601 - 1,356 1,280
Net deficit ’ - ~ (269) - "(455) - (260) (231) .
Experience gains on plan liabilities 81 . - - 19 15 53 31
Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 266 . (52) 205 20 . 55
Actual return on pension scheme assets 328 (4) 267 79 117
S . : 2016 2015 2014 2013 ‘ 2012
History of defined benefit schemes (Bank) £fm £m . _£m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations’ - - (884) - (755), (770) . (654) (616)
Recoverable amount of plan-assets 884 771 773 626 598
Net surpius/(deﬂcnt) ' e - 16 3 (28) (18)
Experience gains on plan llabllmes 42 8 6 7 28
Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 200 (33) 99 - 28 22
Actual_ return on pension scheme assets - 236 1 ] 132 58 . 50

" The tables below set out the sensitivities of the pension cost for the year and the present value of defined benefit |
obligations at the balance sheet dates to a change in the principal actuarial assumptions: . :

Group
(Decrease)/lncrease in (Decrease)fincrease in

pension cost for the obligation at
year 31 December
2016 2015 2016 2015~
) “fm - £m £m £m .
0.25% increase in the discount rate (2.5) )] (44) 92) -
0.25% increase in inflation 14 2 29 . 57
0.25% additional rate of increase in pensions in payment 1.3 -2, 21 57
0.25% additional rate of increase in deferred pensions. - 0.3 1 10 18
0.25% additional rate of increase in salaries 05 2 . 6 - 20
Longevity increase of 1 year - 0.9 2 19 . 49
Bank

(Decrease)/increase in . (Decrease)/increase in

pension cost for the obligation at
year ‘31 December.
2016 2015 2016 2015
. ) £m ~ £m £m £m
0.25% increase in the discount rate - (2.5) (04)  (44)

'0.25% increase in inflation - 14 - 0.3 29 24
0.25% additional rate of increase in pensioris in payment 13 0.2 21 23
0.25% additional rate of increase in deferred pensions 0.3 - 10 6

~ 0.25% additional rate of increase in salaries. - 05 . 0.1 6 4
Longevity increase of 1 year 0.9 - 0.1 : 19 17
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_ ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL. STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December2016
6. Emoluments of d|rectors

2016 2015

. £ .
Emoluments for the provision of directors’ sen)tces . . - 489,499 2,288,168

The executive directors of the Bank, Leslie Matheson and Michael Larkin, are employed by RBS pic and are remunerated
by RBS plc for their services to RBS Group as a whole. The Bank does not remunerate directors nor can remuneratron
from elsewhere in RBS Group be apportioned in respect of their services to the Bank. .

- No retirement benefits are accruing to directors under either the Bank s defined contnbunon or defined beneﬁt schemes
-atyear end (2015: £nil).

During the year there were no emoluments in respect of compensation payments for loss of etﬁce (2015: £nil).

. During the year the hrghest paid director received emoluments of £97,000 (2015: £1 032 ,582). The hrghest paid director
did not exercise any share options during the year. ) )

The executrve dlrectors may also participate rn the RBS executive share optton and Sharesave schemes.

7. Taxation

Group

2016 12015
Current taxation: o : ' ) £m £m
United K/ngdom corporation tax at 20% (201 5:20.25%) .
Charge for the year - . 1 . (5)
Under provision in respect of prior penods“) ‘ - (49) .
Total current taxation : ‘ ' A L (1) - (54)

_ Deferred taxation:’ : . .

Charge for the year .- ' . o - (12) (16)
Over provision in respect of pnor periods? ’ 5 IS I
Reduction in the carrying value of deferred tax asset in respect of losses - (17) -
Total deferred taxation (24) 25
Tax charge forthe year . : ‘ (25) (29)

The:actual tax charge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applyrng the standard rate of UK Corporation Tax
of 20% (2015: 20.25%) as follows: . . -

o . . 2016 . 2015

A - ‘ £m £m
‘Operating profit before tax ‘ ‘ T 12 - . 32
Expected tax charge : N . s ' - ) - (6)
Factors affecting the charge for the year:. . .
Non-deductible items : - : : : 8) - (14)
UK tax rate change impact ' ‘ _ (3) (1)
Reduction in the carrying value of deferred tax asset i in respect of Iosses R (17) -
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of pnor periods : -5 (8)
Actual tax charge for the year ) e ] (25) - (29)
(1) © The current tax movement arises from the finalisation of prior year tax computations and finalisation of loss utilisation within the Group in'2015

resulting in tax losses being carried forward in UBL. No similar adjustment arises in 2016.

(2) . . The deferred tax movement arises mainly from: the recognition of a deferred tax asset in 2015 in respect of tax losses camed forward in UBL.

The balance relates to movement on standard timing adjustments in respect of pensions and capital allowances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 Decémber 2016

8. Profit dealt with'in the financial statements of’the Bank

In accordance with the exemption contained within Section-408(3) of the.Companies Act 2006 the primary financial -
statements of the Bank do not include an Income Statement or Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Bank’s loss
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2016 was £336m (2015: £1,793m profit) driven by the impact of impairment of
" investments in Group undertakings partially offset by dividend income. .

9. Financial instruments - classification

The -following tables analyse the financial assets and financial Iiabiiitiés -of the Group and Bank in accordance with the
categories- of financial instruments as defined by IAS 39. Assets and liabilities outside the scope of IAS 39 -are shown

- within non financial assets/liabilities.

For notes relating to this table refer to page 43.

42

._Group
Designated
as at fair’ _
value ~ OtherNon financial
Held-for- = through Available- = Loans and financial assets /

' trading profit or loss for-sale receivables _ liabilities liabilities Total
2016 £ £m £m em em - .fm £m
Assets - -
Cash and balances ‘at central banks! - - - 1,012 - - 1,012
Loans and advances to banks® - - - 5,402 - - 5,402
Loans and advaices to customers® - - - 3,696 - - . 3,69
Derivatives ' ' 5 - - - - - 5
Property, plant and equipment < - - - - 43 43
Prepayments, accrued income and other '
assets ' - - - - - - 8 8
‘Deferred taxation: . - - - - - 11 11
Assets of disposal groups 848. - 2,009 23,100 - 340 26,297

' o 853 - 2,009 33,210 - 402 36,474
Liabilities . :
Deposits by banks" - - - - 3,065. - 3,065
Customer accounts® - 121 - - 5,606 - 5,727
Derivatives 4 - - - . .- 4
Provisions, accriials and other liabilities® - - - - 752 51 803
Subordinated liabilities - .- - - 939 - 939
Liabilities of dis'posal groups. 781" 932 - - 17,848 511 20,072

785 1,053 - - 28,210 562 . 30,610
Equity 5,864
L 36,474
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

9. Flnanmal instruments - classification (contmued)

(1)

()
®

@

(8)

6
0

Group
_ Designated
as at fair
) value - - ) OtherNon financial
Held-for- through  Available- Loans and financial assels / :
: . - trading profit or loss for-sale receivables - liabilities liabilities Total
2015 ' ‘ ' . ' £m gm - fm’ £m " £m £m £m
Assets o , o ' ‘
Cash and balances’ at central banks(‘) o - - - 868 - - - 868
Loans and advances to banks® S - - - 9485 - < - 9485
Loans and advances to customers® v - - - 20,643 - - 20,643
Debt securiies - .- 1,889 - - - 1,889
Equity shares : C - - . 5 - - - 5
Derivatives , - 627 - R - - - 627
“ Property, plant and equipment : e . . . - 126 126
Prepayments, accrued income and other . : : , '
assets . . , - - ' - - -~ 8% . 9
Retirement benefit assets - o - - - . 16 16
Deferred taxation : - - - - C- 236 236
_ ' ’ 627 - 1,894 30,996 - 473 33,990
Liabilities o : . R
Deposits by banks! 31 . - - - 4,754 - 4785
Customer accounts® x - 1,156 - - 17,821 - 18,977
-Debt securities in tssue” ‘ S - - - - .1473 - 1,473
Derivatives . - . 477 - - - .- o 477
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities® ~ ~ -~ - - - 687 - 234 921
Retirement benefit liabilities ' : - - - - - 285 285
Deferred taxation' - : : o - - - - 3 '3
Subordinated liabilities : - .- - - - 960 - 960
_ : _ 508 1,156 . . - - 25695 522 27,881
Equity ©= ' - ' : , 6,109

33,990

¢

‘Cash and balances at central banks includes Bank of England notes held in respect of notes in circulation in.Northern lreland

This includes items in the course of collection from other banks of £37m (2015: £74m).

The Group has advances secured on residential properties subject to non-recourse funding. Under 1AS 39 these securitised mortgages qualify for fult
recognition on the balance sheet. As at 31 December 2016 £nil (2015: £7,395m) is included in loans and advances to customers. There.are no gross
loans subject to IAS 32 (on balance sheet) netting arrangements included within loans and advances to customers (2015: £nil). No netting has taken
place in any of the years under review therefore the net effective balance sheet value is equal to the gross amount.

This includes items in the course of transmission to other banks of £15m (2015: £21m). No netting has taken place lherefore the net effective balance
sheet value is equal to the gross amount. .

The carrying amount of other customer accaunts designated as at Varr value through profit or loss is £3m lower (2015: £51m higher) than the principal
amount. No amounts have been recognised (2015: £nil} in the profit or loss for changes in credit risk associated with these habliltles

Includes notes in circulation of £752m (2015: £687m).

Comprises bonds and medium term notes of £1,472m and certificates of deposit and other commercial paper of £1m. The medium term notes are
issued by limited recourse entities that are controlled by the Group and are collateralised on residential mortgages held by-the Group. Further
information on securitisations is provided in Note 24

.“ 43 .
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9. * Financial mstruments - classification (cpntmued)

Bank -

For notes }elating to this table refer to page 45. .

44 -

Designated
as at fair
value. OtherNon financial
Held-for- through Loans and tinancial assets/ . -
: trading profit orloss receivables - . liabilities liabilities .. - Total
-2016 C tm’ £m g em . em _ £m
"Assets .
Cash and balances at central banks - - 1,012 - - 1,012
Loans and advances to banks " - - 5,935 - - 5,935
Loans and advances to c_ustomers - - 3,714 - - 3,714
Derivatives ' ' 7 - - - 7
Property, plant and equipment - - - - 43 43
Prepayments, accrued income and other : .
assets - - - - 10 10
Deferred taxation - - - - 1Al 11
Assets held for disposal - - - - 4,883 4,883
' : 7 - 10,661 - 4,947 - 15615
Liabilities . - o , S
Deposits by banks @ - i, - 3,099 .- 3,099
Customer accounts © T 121 - .5644 . - 5765
* Derivatives 35 - - - - 35
Provisions, accruals and other Ilabllmes - - - 752 49 801.
Subordmated Ilabnlmes : - - - 939 - 939
‘ ' 35 121 - 10,434 49 . 10,639
Equity ' 4,976 .
15,615
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9. Financial instruments - classification (contin'u'ed)

o ' Bank

‘ Designated
as at fair
. value : QtherNon financial
Held-for- through Loans and financial assets/
, : : ) trading profit or loss receivables liabilities liabilities Total
2015 ’ . . "~ fm Cem £m £m . fm - “em
. Assets ‘ ' : S ' , (’

Cash and balances at central banks o - - 616 - - 616
Loans and advances to banks (" ) _ - .- 7.119 - - 7,119
Loans and advances to customers ' : - : - 3,801 - o 3,801
Investments in Group undertakmgs 4 : S - - - 6,432 6,432
". Derivatives - : : 3 - - - - 3
Property, plant and equipment . ‘ ' - - - 44 44
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets i - - S - 31 31
Retirement benefit assets _ e SR . 16 16
- Deferred taxation . ) L .- ' - - - 25 25
, ‘ ' ‘ 3 - 11,536 - 6548 18,087

Liabilities : '
Deposits by banks @ - - - 4,003 " - 4,003
Customer.accounts © - 159 - 5,701 - 5,860
Debt securities in issue . . S o - - L -1 - 1
Derivatives =~ - 35 - - - - 35
. Prowsuons accruals and other hab:lmes . ) - . - - 687 61 748
Subordinated liabilities . - - - 820 . - 820
S : x ‘ 35 159 - 11,212 61 11,467
Equity 6,620
18,087

(1) Includes items in the course of collection from other banks of £37m (2015: £44m).
(2) Includes items in the course of transmission to other banks of £15m (2015: £21m).

(3). ' The carrying amount of other customer accounts designated as at fair value (hrough profit or loss is £3m Iower (2015 £8m) than the principal amount.
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9. Financial instruments ~ valuation

" Valuation of financial lnstruments carried at fair value

~ Control environment :

The Group places reliance on NatWest Markets rndependent price verification (IPV) process and the Group eliminates its

market risk on its trading book portfolios By entering into back to back positions with its ultimate parent company, The
Royal Bank of Scotland plc.
The Group’s control environment for the determination ‘of the fair value of financial instruments includes - tormaltsed
protocols for the review and validation of fair values independent of the businesses entering into the transactions. There
are specific controls to ensure consistent pricing policies and procedures, incorporating disciplined price verification. The'
Group ensures that appropriate-attention is given to structured products |II|qurd products and other instruments which are
difficult to price. .

Common valuation policies procedures frameworks and models apply across the Group. -

Independent’ prrce vermcatron (IPV)

- IPV is a key element of the control environment.’ Valuations may be directly from available prices, or may be derived
o using a model and variable model inputs. These valuations are reviewed, and if necessary amended, by a team
- independent of those trading the financial mstruments in the light of available pricing evidence.

IPV differences are classified according to the quallty of independent market observables into IPV quality bands ltnked to
the fair value hierarchy principles, as laid out in IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. These differences are classified into
fair value levels 1, 2 and 3 (with the valuation uncertainty risk increasing as the levels rise from 1 to 3) and then further
classified-into high, medium, low and indicative depénding on the quality of the |ndependent data available to valrdate the
~ prices. Valuations are revrsed if they are outside agreed thresholds.

Governance framework :

- IPV takes place at least each month end date for exposures in the regulatory trading book and at least quarterly tor
exposures in the regulatory banking book. The IPV control includes formalised reporting and escalation of any valuation
differences in breach of established thresholds. The Pricing Unit determines IPV policy, monitors adherence to that policy

-and performs additional independent reviews of highly subjective valuation issues. The quality and completeness of the
information gathered in the IPV process grves an indication as to the Ilqutdlty and valuation uncertainty of an instrument.

Valuation hierarchy :
These classifications of financial instruments are reviewed and challenged by management and are also subject to senior
management- review. Particular attention is paid to instruments crossing from one level to another, new instrument
classes or products, mstruments that are generating srgnmcant profit and loss and mstruments where. valuation
uncertainty is high. . , . T

Valuation techmques ’
The Group derives the fair value .of its instruments differently depending on whether the rnstrument is a non- modelled ora .
modelled product . o

Non-modelled products
Non-modelled products are valued dlrectly from a prlce input typrcally on a position by position basis.

Modelled products

" Modelled products valued using a pricing model range in complexity from .comparatively vanilia products 'such as interest
rate swaps and forwards through. to more complex derivatives.. The valuation of modelled products requires an
appropriate model and inputs into this model. Sometimes models are also used to derrve inputs (e.g. to construct volatility .
surfaces). The Group uses a number of modelling methodologies. :

Inputs to valuation models )

Values between and beyond available data points are obtained by ‘interpolation and extrapolation. When utilising

valuation techniques, the fair value can be significantly affected by the choice of valuation model and by underlying

assumptions concering factors such as the amounts and timing of cash flows,. discount rates and credit risk. The
principal rnputs to these valuation technrques are as follows ’

-Bond pr/ces - quoted prices are generally avarlable for government bonds, certain corporate secunttes and some
mortgage -related products . .

Credit spreads - where avarlable these are derived from prices of credit default swaps or other credit based instruments,
.such as debt securities. For others, credit spreads are obtarned from pricing services.
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9. Financial instruments — valuation (continued) -

Inputs to valuation models (continue.d)

Interest rates - these are principally benchmark interest rates such as the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR),
European Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) Overnight Index Swaps (OIS) rate and other quoted interest rates in the
swap, bond and futures markets.

Forergn currency exchange rates - there are observable pnces -both for spot and forward contracts and futures in the
world's major currencies. . ) .

Equrty and equity /ndex prices - quoted prlces are generally readily available for equrty shares listed on the world's major
stock exchanges and for major mdrces on such shares

Price volat//Itres and correlations - volatlhty is a measure of the tendency of a price to change with time. Correlation
measures the degree which two or more prices or other variables are observed to move together.

Prepayment rates - the fair value-of a financial instrument that can be prepaid by the issuer or borrower differs from that
of an instrument that cannot be prepaid. In valuing prepayable instruments that are not quoted in active markets, the -
Group considers the value of the prepayment option. :

Counterparty credit spreads - adjustments are made to -market prices (or parameters) when the credltworthlness of the
counterparty drffers from that of the assumed counterparty in'the market price (or parameters).

'Flecovery rates/loss given default - these are used'as an input to valuation models and reserves for asset-hacked
securities and other credit products -as an indicator of severity of losses on default. Recovery rates are pnmanly sourced
from market data providers or inferred from observable credit spreads.”

Valuation reserves :
When valuing financial mstruments in the trading book, adjustments are made to mid-market valuattons to cover bid-offer
spread, liquidity and credit risk. :

Valuation of financial instruments in the banking books are made to the mid-price.

Credit valuation adjustments :
Credit Valuation Adjustments (CVA) represents an estimate of the adjustment to fair value that a market participant would
make to incorporate the counterparty credit risk mherent in derivative exposures. CVA reserve at 31 December 2016 was

£2m (2015: £22m)

‘The CVA is calculated ona portfolro basis reflecting an estimate of the amount a th|rd party would charge to assume the
credit risk.

Where ‘a positive exposure exists to .a counterparty that is considered to be close to default, the CVA is calculated by
applying expected losses to the current level of exposure. Otherwise, expected losses are applied to estimated potential
future positive exposures which are modelled to reflect the volatility of the market factors which drive the exposures and :
the correlatlon between those factors.

Expected losses are determined from market implied probabilities of default and internally assessed recovery levels. The
probability of default is calculated with reference to observable credit spreads and observable recovery levels, For
counterparties where observable data do not exist, the probability of default is determtned from the credit spreads and
recovery levels of similarly rated entities. . : :

Collateral held under a credit support agreement is factored into the CVA calculation. in such cases where the Group
holds collateral against counterparty exposures, CVA is held to the extent that residual risk remains.

Debt valuation adjustments

The fair value of the Group'’s derivative fmancral habrhtres is adjusted to reflect the Group’s own credit risk through debt
valuation adjustments. Expected gains are applied to estimated potential future negative exposures the modelling of
which is consistent with' the approach used in the calculation of CVA.
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. 9. Financial instruments - valuation (continued) -

The following tables show the financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method: -

Total =

For notes relating to these taples refer to page 49.

Group -
2016 - ) -
Level 1 " Level2®  Level3® Total
A £m ‘ £m : £m £m
Assets ' )
Deérivatives o I8 - 5 - 5
Total - 5 - 5

" Liabilities : i -
Customer accounts. - 121 B 121
Derivatives - 4 e 4
Total - 125 - . 125

Group
2015
Level 1 Level2® - Level3® . Total.
£m £m : " €m - fm-
Assets ' ' o
Debt securities 1,889 - - 1,889
Equity shares - - 5. 5
Derivatives - 414 - 213, 627

. Total - - 1,889 414 . - 218 2,521
Liabilities .

- Deposits by banks - 31 - 31
Customer accounts - 1,156 - 1,156
Derivatives - 213 264 477

- 1,400 264 1,664
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9. Financial instruments - valuation (contmued)

The following tables'show the ﬁnahcial instruments carried at fair value by valuation niethpd:

U]

@

@

_ Bank
. 2016
‘Level1  Level2® Level 3© _Total
£m £m £m £m
Assets '
Derivatives - 7 - 7
Total - 7 - 7
- Liabilities .
Customer dccounts’ - 121 - 121
Derivatives - 35 - ‘35
Total - 156 - . - 156
Bank
. 2015 .
Level 1 Level 2 @ Level3©@ Total
£m © fm £m £m
" Assets
Derivatives - 3 - 3
Total - 3 - 3
Liabilities
Customer accounts - 159 - 159
Derivatives - 35 - 35
Total. - 194 - 194

" Valued usmg unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical flnanclal mstruments Th|s category mcludes listed equity shares and government
securities. .

Valued using techniques based significantly on observable market data. Instruments in this category are valued using:
a) quoted prices for similar instruments or identical instruments in markets which ate not considered to be active: or
_b) valuation techniques where all the inputs that have a S|gn|f|cant effect on the valuation are directly or indirectly based on observable market
data.. .

The type of instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but aré based on quoted market prices, broker dealer quotations or
alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency and those instruments valued using techniques include most government

" agency securities, investment-grade corporate bonds, certain mortgage products, certain bank and bridge loans, repos and reverse repés, less liquid

equities, state and municipal obligations, most physicai commodities, investment contracts |ssued by the Group's life assurance businesses and certain
money markel securities and loan commitments and most-OTC derivatives.

Instruments in this ‘category have been valued using a valuation technique where at least one input (which could have.a S|gnmcant effect on the

. instrument’s valuation).is not based on observable market data. Where inputs can be observed from market data without undue cost and’ effort the.

observed input is used. Otherwise, the Group determines a reasonabte (evel for the input. -

Financial instruments included within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy pnmanly consist of cash instruments which trade infrequently, certain syndlcated
and commercial mortgage loans, unlisted equity shares, certain residual interests in.securitisations, super senior tranches of high grade and mezzanine
collateralised debt obligations-(CDOs), and other mortgage-based products and less liquid debt securities, certain structured debt securities in issue and
OTC derivatives where valuation depends upon unobservable inputs such as certain credit and exotic derivatives. No galn or loss is recogmsed on the
initial recognition ot a financial instrument valued using a techmque mcorporatlng stgnmcant unobservable data. -
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(S

9. Ftnanciat instruments - valuation (continued)

_Le\}el 3 portfolio movement tables

. Group
Equity shares . Derivative assets Derivative liabilities
2016 2015 - 2016 2015 2016- 2015
: £m £m £m fm _ £m ~ £m
At 1January i , -5 26 213 - 95 (264) (183)
‘Additions. o . 1 - - - .
Disposals - .. ‘ . - (22 T - - -
Credlt/(charge) to income statement IR T - 154 - 118 (228).  (81)
Transfer to disposal group - (5) - (367) - 492 -
" At 31 December : ' - 5 - . 213

- (284)

- The foliowing tables show the carrylng values and the falr values of financial instruments on' the balance sheet carried at -

amortised cost: The fair value of the cash andbalances at central banks and none (2015: £1,803m) of the loans and o

. advances to banks carried at amortised cost have been determined using procedures consistent with the requirements of
level 2 valuation methodologles as set out above. The fair value of these loans and.advances.to banks equal carrying
value. AII other balances have been fair valued using procedures that fall within level 3 of the fair value methodologtes

) Group '
2016 2016 - - 2015 2015
© Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets -
Cas_h and balances at central banks - 1,012 1,012 868 868
Loans and advances to banks 5,402 5,402 9,485 9,485
Loans and advances to customers 3,696 3,643 20,643 18,741
Financial liabilities ~ ‘ .
Deposits by banks 3,065 3,065 4,754 4,754
* Customer accounts 5,606 5,606 17,821 17,835
Debt securities in issue - - 1,473 1,248
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities ‘7'52' 752 687 ' 687>
~ Subordinated liabilities 939 . 843 960 845
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9. Financial mstruments valuat:on (continued)

Bank .
2016 2016 2015 2015
Carrying . * Fair . Carrying - - Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Financial-assets i ) . :
Cash and balances at central banks . 1,012 1,012 . . ' 616 616
Loans and advances to banks o - 5935 5935 7,119 7,119
Loans and advances to.customers . o 3,714 ' ‘3,675 3,801, 3,710
Financial liabilities ) . ..
' DepOsi'ts by banks ' Co . - 3,099 3,099 4,003 - 4 4,003
Customer accounts ' : - ' 5644 5644 5,701 5,703
Debt securities in issue ‘ - - R . 1
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities . 752 752 - 687 687
Subordinated liabilities ' - . A 939 843 820 713

- Fair value calculatnon

The fair value is the price that would be receuved to sell an asset of paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transactnon
between market participants at the measurement date. Quoted market values are used where available; otherwise, fair
values have beern estimated based on discounted expected future cash flows and other valuation techniques. These
“techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgments covering prepayments credit risk and discount
rates. Furthermore there is a wide range of potential valuation techniques. Changes in these assumptions would
significantly affect estimated fair values. The fair values reported would not necessarily be realised in an 1mmed|ate sale
or settlement.

. The assumptions and methodologues underlymg the ‘calculation of fair values of flnanCIaI mstruments at the balance sheet -
date are as follows:

Short-term fmancnal mstruments and loans and advances to banks

. For loans and advances to banks and certain short-term financial instruments: cash and balances at central banks, items
in the course of collection from other banks, loans and advances to banks, settlement balances, items in the course of
transmission to other baiks, demand deposits and notes in circutation, falr value approximates to carrying value;

‘Loans and advances to customers

-In estimating the fair value of loans and advances to customers measured at amortlsed cost, the Groups loans are
segregated into appropriate portfolios reflecting the characteristics of the constituent loans. The principal method used to
estimate fair value in the Group is. to discount expected cash flows at the current offer' rate for the same or similar
products. . . .

For certain portfolios where there are very few or no recent transactipns bespoke approaches are utilised.
Deposits by banks and customer accounts

Fair values of deposns are estimated using discounted cash flow valuation techmques

Debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities

Fair values are détermined using -quoted prices for similar liabilities where available or by reference to valuation
techmques ad;ustmg for own credut spreads where appropnate .

51



ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ehded,31 December 2016

9. Financial instruments - maturity analysis

Remaining maturity

Group -
‘Less than ‘More than

A - 12 months 12 months - Total
2016 £m £m fm .
Assets : )
Cash and balances-at central banks 1,012 - 1,012
Loans and advances to banks 3,849 . ﬂ;553 ' 5,402
Loans and advances to customers 989 2,707 3,696
Derivatives ' 5 - 5
Liabilities - .

" Deposits by banks 2,620 445 3,065
Customer accounts 5,690 37 5,727
Derivatives ' : .4 - 4
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities 752 . - 752
Subordinated liabilities 343 596 939

, Group
Less than More than -

. 12 months’ 12 months Total
2015 £m £m - £m
Assets ) . ' .
Cash and balances at central banks 868 _— 868
Loans‘.and advances to banks . 6,659 2,826 9,485
Loans and advarices to customers 4,356 16,287 - 20,643
‘Debt securities ' ' 1,331 558 " 1,889

* Equity shares . 5 5
Derivatives 71 556 627

. Liabilities S . '
Deposits by banks 4,499 . 286 4,785
Customer accounts 17,874 © 1,103 18,977
-Debt securities in issue 1’ 1472 . 1,473 .
Derivatives 31 L 446 (477
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities 687 - 687

- 860 . -~ 960

Subordinated liabilities
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9. Fmancnal mstruments matuntyanalysus (contmued)

Remaining_ maturity

Bank

Subordinated liabilities

Less than More than
) 12 months 12 months Total
2016 . : £m £m " fm
Assets .
Cash and balances at central banks 1,012 - 1,012
. Loans and advances to banks -3,941 1,994 5,935
Loans and advances to customers 1,003 - 2,711 3,714
Derivatives 5 2 7
Liabilities ' - ,
Deposits by banks " 2,654 445 3,099
Customer accounts ' 5,728 37 5,765
Derivatives 9 26 © 35
‘Provisions, accruals and other liabilities - 752 - 752
Subordinated liabilities 343 596 939
. ) ‘Bank
Less than More than
. 12 months 12 months Total
2015 £m £m £m

. Assets .

Cash and balances at central banks 616 - - 616
Loans and advances to banks 3,957 3,162 7,119
Loans and advances to customers " 1,135 2,666 3,801

- Derivatives - 2 1 3

" Liabilities . .

: Deposnts by banks . 3,728 275 4,003
Customer accounts 5722 " 138 5,860
Debt securities in lssue . 1 - -1
Derivatives 16 19 .35
Provisions, accruals and other I:abxlmes 687 - I 687

- 820 820
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10. Financial assets - impairments .

The folIoWing tables show the movement in the provision for impairment losses for loans and advances:

B _ Group
. IndmduallyColIectlvely - . ‘
assessed assessed _ Latent 2016 2015
' ) K . £m £m - £m £m £m
‘At 1 January ) . 1,414 1,928 269 . 3,611 11,326
Currency translation and other adlustments - 94 215 - .31 340 (529)
Amounts written-off () . ' (1,431)  (1,022) © - . (2,453) (6,453)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off ' 27 ‘ 8 i - 35 - 46
Release/(charge) to the income statement _ B ' - '
- from continuing operations ’ 11y (@13) 3) (27) . (55)
- from discontinued operations - n - 98 (203) - (112) (676)
Unwind of discount (recognised in interest income) C ) o . "
- from continuing operations - L - (2) - (2) (3)
- from discontinued operations i ' : m (36) ' - (37). (45)
Transfer to disposal group ) : - (69) (1,053) (78) (1,200) --
At 31 December @ 16 123 16 155 3,611
Bank
Individually Collectively -
assessed assessed - Latent 2016 . 2015
i - £m £m £m < £m £m
At 1 January ' . ' - 255 295 18 568 2,206
- Amounts written-off ) , ‘ - ' (237) . (159) S (396). ~ (1,602)
“Recoveries of amounts prewously written-off 9 . 3 Te 012 .22
Release/(charge) to the income statement 2 (14) . (2) (14) (55)
Unwind of discount (recognised in interest mcome) ' ’ - (2 .- B (2) (3)
At'31 December @ S 29 123 16 168 568

(1) Includes amounts relating to impairments previously recognised on assets-included in sale transactions (see Strategic Report) Amounts wmten off do
not include any loans and advances to banks.
(2) Impairment provisions as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 do not include any balances held against loans and advances to banks. *

Loan impairment .
The Group considers fmanmal assets to be nmpalred when there is no longer a reasonable prospect of recelvmg the -

contractual cash flows in accordance wnth the contract and the net present value of any security is less than the
outstanding amount.

The foliowing tables show analysis of impaired financial assets:

2016 . 2015

Gross - . Gross :
carrying . Netbook carrying = Net book
‘ value Provision - value value  Provision value -
Group " : . £m £m £m _£m .. Em £m
Impaired financial assets ' Lo - o ,
Loans and advances to customers -178 © . (139) 39 5369 (3,342) 2,027
- of which are individually assessed . - 16 (16) .- 1570 . (1,414) - ~ 156
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- 10. = Financial assets—impaifrments (continued)

2016

2015

Gross -
- carrying i Net book  carrying . Net book
' - value Provision value . Provision ~ value
- Bank . _fm. £m £m £m £m
Impaired financial assets ' ' o
'Loans and advances to customers 191 (152). 39 (550) = 74
- of which are individually assessed - 29 (29) - (255) (3)

The net book value of the individually assessed impaired loans in the Bank was less than zero in 2015 as a result of

provisions held against probable future cash outflows relating to off balance sheet commitments.

Group

Bank
2016 2015 2016 2015
. _ £m. £m £m £m
Gross income not recognised at balance'sheetb date ‘ -
but which would have been recognised under the
original terms of non-accrual and restructured loans: .
“United Kingdom : S . 34 130 3¢ 95
Republic of Ireland v ' . 492 . .
' ” 34 622

34 95

The following tables show loans and advances to customers that weré past due at the balance sheet date but not -

considered impaired:

Group Past due
Past due Past due ~ Past due more than .
1-29 days 30-59days 60-89 days -90 days Total -
. £m £m - £m £m £m
2016 - 49 .12 8 3 72
2015 - 556 250 271 24 - 1101
Bank . - Past due
E Past due Past due Past due more than _
1-29days 30-59days 60-89 days 90 days Total
- : A “£m fm £m £m_ £m
2016 o 49 12 8 3 72
2015 ' 39 14 . 7 4 .64
11. Debt securities ,
. Group
Other central Mortgage .
. and local . backed
‘government securities Total
2016 ‘£m  fm £m.
Available-for-sale - - -
2015
Available-for-sale - 1,889

1,889

There weré no gross unrealised gains orlosses at the balance sheet date for either of the years under review.
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12. Equlty shares

Group
2016 2015
Unlisted Unlisted
o _ ] £m £m-
Available-for-sale ' : ' : o . R

13. Investments in Group undertekings

-Investments in Group undertaklngs are carned at cost less |mpa|rment Movements dunng the year were'as follows:

Bank .
2016 - 2015
v : . . £m £m
At1January . ' Lo o 6,432 4,719 -
Impairment (loss)/reversal L L (1,549) 1,713
Transfer to assets held for disposal L ’ : . 4,883) = . -
"At 31 December - ' o oo L - 6,432

The principal related 'undertaking of the Bank, during ‘the year, is shown below. its capxtal consusts of unhsted ordmary
shares. It was wholly owned by the Bank through intermediate holding companies throughout the year. .

Undertaking - Nature of business . Country of incorporation
. Ulster Bank Ireland . Banking services, 'corporate and . - Republic of Ireland)
Designated Activity Company - investment banking, foreign exchange ‘ . C
. : services .

o
(1) Ulster Bank treland Designated Actlvvty Company and its sub5|d|ar|es also operate in the UK.

During 'the. year the ‘Bank received a dividend of £1 273m from its subsidiary.. UBIDAC via its intermediate -holding
companies: This, combined with a change in.the valuation inputs and movements in the sterling/euro exchange rate, led
. to the impairment charge in the valuation of UBIDAC. The recoverable amount of UBIDAC was determined on a value-in-
use basis utilising a discount rate of 10.6% (2015: 9.7%). On 1 January 2017 the Bank sold its ‘shareholding' in the
.intermediate parent companies of UBIDAC for consideration equal to the valuation determined and UBIDAC is therefore
no longer a principal related undertaknng of the Bank. Consequently, the Bank’s mvestment |n UBIH is held for- disposal.

Full information on all related undertakmgs is included in Note 33. The financial performance of these companies is
included in the Group S consohdated financial statements and all have an accounting reference date of 31 December. -

" 14. Intangible assets |

Intanglble assets compnsung goodwnl and other acqwred mtanglbles were fu||y |mpa|red as at 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015. .
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15. Property, plant and equrpment

57

Group
. Leases of Leases of -
. Freehold . 50 years or 50 years or Computer
Investment ~ landand | more .less and other ’

- . ' properties buildings unexpired . unexpired equipment Total
2016 : ‘ £m £m £m - £m £m £m
Cost or valuation: ‘ . ' ' ‘

At 1 January 2016 = - 22 85 30 54 - 97 288
Currency translation and other - o ’ U : ' -
_adjustments ‘ 1 8 2 8 7 26
Additions S : - 3 1 2 2 8
Disposals . ‘ (23) (5) N ¢)) (1) (30)
"Transfer to disposal group ‘ - (55) - (12) (54) (54): (175) .
At 31 December 201'6 . ' : - 36 21 -9 51 117
Accumulated lmpalrment deprecranon and amortrsatron:‘ _ .
At 1.January 2016 ‘ . 37 14 31 80 162

- Currency translation and other S )
adjustments : o - - 3 1 4 ) 14
"'Disposals . - - " (4) - . (1) (5) °
Impairments o - 2 - - - 2 -
Depreciation charge for the year ' ) : -

" - from continuing operations ‘ - 1 - - 2 3

- from discontinued operations. . - - - 4 2 .6
Transfer to disposal group ) o - (24) (10) (32) (42) (108)
At 31 December 2016 - , - - 15 5 7 47 74
‘Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 - .21 16 . 2 4 43 .

Group
iy . Leases of 50 Leases of 50 Computer and

) Investment Freehold land years ormore years or less " other

T - properties and buildings - unexpired unexpired . equipment Total
2015 ‘ : . -E€m £m . fm £m © £m £m -
Cost or valuation: o B ' S , '
‘At1~January*2o15' : 135 92 31 - 78 111 447
Currency translation. and other ) ’ - '
adjustments : 8) (6) 1) - 4) 4) .{(23)
Additions - R - 3 LR 18
Disposals S (157) 4) (1) - 21) - (11) (194) .
Revaluation . . . 52 - - - - 52
At 31 December 2015 . . 22 85" 30 54 97 . 288
Accumulated impairment, deprecratlon and amomsatron‘: . ) )

" At 1 January 2015 , oo e 42 14 39 86 181

. Currency translation and other . ’ . .
adjustments . RS (4). (1) - (2) 2) . 9)
Disposals o . - (4) . (11 ®) - (23)
Depreciation charge for the year : ' : o
- from continuing operations ‘ ’ - 1 1 - 2 4
- from discontinued operations - .- 2 - 5 2 9
At31. December 2015 ' 37 14 31 80 162
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 22 48. 16 .23 17 126



ULSTER BANK LIMITED )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

15 Property, plant and equlpment (contmued)

There was no profit on dlsposal of freehold land and bundlngs dunng the year (2015 £n|l)

Rental income from investment properties was £n|| (2015 £8m). No direct operatlng expenses were mcurred in relatlon to ]
income generating investment. properties (2015: £4m). No dlrect operating expenses were incurred for investment .

properties not generatlng income (2015: £nil).

Investment propertles were valued using technlques based on observable market data. ThIS methodology faIIs ‘within

levél 2 of the valuatlon methods set out in Note 9

Bank

There was no profit on disposal of freehold land and buildings during the year (2015: £nil).

58

Leasesof  Leases of _
Freehold . 50 yearsor 50 years or Computer
land and. . more less and other
_ . _ buildings unexpired unexpired  equipment Total
2016 C e o fm’ £m £m © fm £m
Cost or.valuation: ‘ o7 '
At 1 January 2016 - v - 36 20 8 51 115
Additions - - ; S 1 1 A 4
Disposals . . . (1) .- - (1) (2) -
At 31 December 2016 . . 36 21 9 "~ .51 117
Accumulated |mparrment deprematlon and amortisation: ) o
At 1 January 2016 ) 14 5 6 46 71
. Disposals - . - - - - -
'Depreciation charge forthe year . _ 1 - 1 1 3
At31 December 2016 = Do .15 . 5 7 . 47 74
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 4 16 2 4 43
Bank
- . . Leases of Leases of . o
Freehold 50 years or 50 years or Computer’ -
land and more less and other .
: buildings unexpired unexpired equipment Total "
2015 - L £m £m £m - £m £m
" Cost or valuation: S ' - :
© At 1 January 2015 _ S 37 21 10 ' 55 123
~ Additions - S : 1 - - - 1
.Disposals . . (2). (1) 2) (4) (9)
At 31 December 2015 a ' 36 20 8 51 115
Accumulated impairment, depreciation and amortisation:
At1January 2015° ‘ : 14 6 . 7 49 76
Disposals : [ ) (1) 2 (4) (9)
Depreciation charge for the year ) C 2 - I 1 4
At 31 December 2015 T 14 5 6 46 71
" Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 22 - 15 2 5 44
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‘16. Derivatives ‘.

Compames in the Group transact denvanves as pnncnpal e:ther as a tradlng activity or to manage balance sheet foreign

" exchange, mterest rate and credlt risk.

347 - ¢

Group
2016 2015
Notional Notional
amounts . Assets Liabilities amounts Assets  Liabilities
4 - Em £m £m £m £m £m
Over-the counter derivatives '
Foreign exchange contracts: )
Spot, forwardé and futures 259 5 4 2,889 31 29
Currency swaps - - - 1,290 51 101
lnteres;t'rat‘e contracts: ,
Interest rate swaps - - - 32,015 452
- Options purchased - - - 77 - -
Options written - - - 73 - -
Equity and commodity contracts .- - - 960 93 -
' : 259 5 4 37,304 627 477
~ Bank
2016 2015
Notional - . Notionat :
amounts - . Assets. Liabilities amounts " Assets Liabilities
K ) £m £m £m £m- £m £m
Over-the-counter derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts: )
" Spot, forwards and futures 259 5 4 392 2 - 3
Interest rate contracts: : i
. Interest rate swaps 2,428 2 .31 2,135 1 32
2,687 7 35 2,527 3 35
7. Prepayments, accrued income and other assets
Gfoup» Bank
.2016 2015 . 2016 .. .. 2015
. £m £m _€m . f£m
. Prepayments 3 7 ' 3 3
.Accrued income 3 8 - 3. 2
Other assets 2 80 4 26
: 8" 95 10 ' 31
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18. Dllscontmvued operations and assets and liabilities of disposal groups A

On 1 January 2017, 'th'e Benk sold Ulster Bank (Ireland) Holdings Unlimited Company ("UBIH"’)‘ and its sut;sidiaries

comprising the Group's Republic of ireland operations to NatWest Holdings Limited. Accordingly UBIH and its subsidiaries
- have been classified as a disposal group at 31 December 2016 and presented as a discontinued operation.

(a) Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax o
: Group

2016 . 2015
: £m £m -
Interest receivable ' ' 484 T 481
_ Interest payable S ' - _ .. (73) (126)
Net interest income , , : ‘ L 41 355
Other income » ( . » 123 163
Total.income , : - 534 518
: Operatihggxpenses : ' . . (586) (357)
Opérating (Iosé)/profit before impairment -~ . ' (52) 161
impairment gain B . . 112 676
Operating profit before tax ' ' - L 60 837
Tax credit/(charge) ‘ ' ‘ ' 3 (3)
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax o 63 - 834

Other cbmprehensive income for discontinued operations includes actﬁariél gains 6n‘ defined benefit plans of £93m (2015:
£164m) and fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets of £3m (2015: £nil).

. (b) Cash flows attributable to discontinued operations

Group -

2016 2015
. £m fm
~ Net cash flows from operating activities ) o ' 2,144 - 335
. Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities : ' ' 167 : 199
Net cash used in financing activities ' : (1,802) (262) .
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equwalents . : : 612 (215)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents = . A . . 1,121 57
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18. Discdntinyed operations and assets and liabilities of disbosal groupé A(contimjed)-

- (c) Assets and liabilities of disposal groups

Group Bank
. 2016 2016
, ) - . E€m £m
Assets of disposal groups 4 , 4 ‘
Cash and balances at central banks o ) . - ' - 249 -

" Loans and advances to banks : ' , 3,923 -
L.oans and advances to customers o . 18,928 . o-
Debt securities o 4 ‘ . ‘ _— - 2,004 -
Equity shares : _ ‘ : : T o 5 -
nvestments in Group undertakings . ' - . 4,883
Derivatives . ) S : 848 ' -
Property, plant-and equipment : ‘ L S .87 . .
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets ~ ~ - B 22 o e

. Deferred taxation ' - R ' 251 L -
~ ' : 26,297 - 4,883
Liabilities of disposal groups . S
Deposits by banks . . IR , , 1,342 -
Customer accounts : S oo 16,121 -
Debt securities in issue - : - o 1,179 - -
Derivatives . - S S 757 -
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities . S , : . 302 -
Retirement benefit liabilities o o . : . 209 -
Subordinated liabilities o A 162 . -
L B ' o ' o .. 20,072 -
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18. Dlscontmued operatuons and assets and liabilities of dlsposal groups (contmued)
, (d) lntercompany recharges

Included within-operating expenses in the consolidated income statement is £46m (2015: £38m) of staff and overhead-
costs incurred by the Bank in providing services to UBIDAC. These services were:recharged to UBIDAC on an arms’
length basis and these recharges are reflected as income in the individual financial statements of the Bank and as
operatlng expenses in the individual financial statements of UBIDAC :

" In accordance with 1FRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements the cost recharges in the Bank’s income and UBIDAC’s
operating expenses eliminate in the consolidated income statement of the Group and only the overall cost to the Group of
providing the services remain within consolidated operating expenses. Applying the requirements of IFRS 5 ‘Non-Current
-Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’ to. the consolidated income statement results in these costs being
classified within continuing operations even though they represent costs of -servicing the discontinued operations. .
Therefore as presented under IFRS 10 and IFRS 5 the loss/profit from continuing operations and profit from discontinued
operattons do not reflect the go-forward operattons of elther the Bank or the disposal group.

To assist the reader in better understanding the results of the underlying operatlons of the Bank and the drsposal group -
_the costs of servicing discontinued operations have been extracted and presented separately within continuing operauons
in the consolxdated income statement.

Similarly proflt from discontinued operations includes £12m (2015: £9m) of staff and overhead costs incurred by the
disposal group in providing-services to the Bank. The table below summanses both adjustments and the lmpact on the
results of both contmumg and discontinued operations:

2016 2015

£m £m
(Loss)/profit from continuing-operations . _
As presented in consolidated income statement : - : S (1'3) '3
Costs incurred by continuing operations in servicing discontinued operations - . ' - 46 -+ 38
Costs incurred by discontinued operations in servicing continuing operations- - . (12) (9)
Adjusted profit from continuing operations A ) ' 2 : 32
Profit from discontinued operations ) o .
As presented in consolidated income statement : \ . 63 . -~ 834
Costs incurred by discontinued operations in servicing continuing operations ' . 12 _ .9
Costs incurred by continuing operations in servicing discontinued operatlons 3 (46) . -(38)
Adjusted profit from drscontmued operations . . 29 ‘805
Profit for the year' o ' A . 50 . 837
19. Provisions, accruals and other liabilities
Group Bank-
2016 © 2015 2016 2015
: , £m . fm ' £m £m
Notes in circulation : : : 752 687 - 752 687
Accruals - - 19 120 18 30
Deferred income - ’ ' , : - S 6L - -
Provisions for Ilablhtles and charges : .26 66 2% 23
Other liabilities - ' : 6 42 5 - 8

803 _ 921 . 801 748
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19. Provisions, accruals and other liabilities (continued)

The following amounts are included within prdvisions for liabilities and charges: ‘

Group

Interest
rate Payment
hedge protection

Tracker Global

".mortgage restructuring

Provisions at 31 December 2016

Property provisions

‘Property products insurance examination group Other Total
L fm = £m " fm £m £m £m £m
Provision as at 1 January 2015 47 33 19 T - 2 101
Charge to income statement '
- from continuing operations 3 - - - - 8 11
- from discontinued operations 13 - - : 5 18
Utilised in the year - @Y @ (6) - - (1) (42)
Exchange movements (3) @) - - - - (5)
Release to income statement ) ) ‘
- from continuing operations - - 1 - - - -
- from discontinued operations (1) (13) . - (2) - - (1) . (17)
Provision at 31 December 2015 27 14 12 : - 13- 66
Transfer from accruals - - - 4 - 14 18
Charge to income statement " -
- from continuing operations . 1 - - - 6 -2 9
- from discontinued operations 2 - - 168 9 11 190
~Utilised in the year o (5) (5) 3) - (18) - (4) (35)
Exchange movements 5 o2 - -9 - . 16
" Release to income statement
" - from continuing operations 2) - - - - (5) (7)
- from discontinued operations (16) - (10) .- - - (2 (28)
Transfer to disposal group - (9) (1) . . (163) (9) (21)  (203)
Provisions at 31 December 2016 3 - 9 - 6 8 26
Bank
Payment Global
protection restructuring i -
Property insurance group. Other Total
£m £m fm - £m £m
‘Provisions at 1 January 2015 5 17 - - 22
Charge to income statement -3 B - 6 9
Utilised in the year (2) (5). - - (7)
Release to income statement (1) - - - (1)
Provisions at 31 December 2015 5 12 - 6 23
Transter from accruals ' - - ' - 6 6
Charge to income statement 1 - 6 2 9
Utilised in the year . (1) (3) - (1) (5)
Release to income statement (2) - - ~ (5) (7)
3 9 6 8 26

The property provisions principally compnse provnsuons for onerous lease contracts. The timing for such payments is
uncertain. Provision is made for future rentals payable in respect of vacant leasehold property and for any shortfall where
leased property is sub-iet at a rental lower than the {ease rentals payable by the Group.

Interest rate hedge products

In 2013, the CBI requested that UBIDAC, along with a number of other Irish banks, carry out a review of interest rate
hedging products sold in the Republic of Ireland in the period 2001 to 2012. Potential redress for the Republic of Ireland
customer base was established as part of an RBS Group initiative. During 2016, detailed legal reviews and specific case
settiements, coupled with revised anticipated requirements for. the remaining sophisticated population, resulted in- a £10m
reduction in the provision. A £1m provision remains in the disposal group to cover redress payments and-legal costs for a

small number of outstandmg cases.
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19. Provisions, accruals ahd other liabilities (continued)

Payment protectlon insurance (PPI)

The PPI provision was established to reflect future costs as estimated using: current experience of PPl complaints
received. The eventual cost is dependent upon complaint volumes, uphold rates and average redress costs. Assumptions
relating to these are inherently uncertain and the ultimate financial impact may be different from the amount provided. The
remaining provision of £9m represents expected costs at current ulilisalion rates.

Tracker mortgage examination

in 2015 UBIDAC, along with other Irish banks received a letter from the Central Bank of Iretand (CBI) requestmg that it
conduct a review to assess instances of contractual and regulatory non-compliance that may have adversely impacted its
portfolio of tracker mortgage customers. £4m was booked as-an accrual at 31 December 2015 based on expected costs
of carrying out the review at that point in time.-In 2016 the accrual was transferred from accruals and incorporated within
the overall provision with a further £168m recognised to cover customer remediation and other project costs. As this -
. provision is held.by UBIDAC itis part of the liabilities that constitute the disposal group at the balance sheet date.

Global restructuring group (GRG) '

The Group established a provision of £15m (£6m in continuing operations, £9m in disposal group; 2015: £nil) in respect of
the FCA review of the treatment of SME customers, relating to the automatic refund of complex fees for SME customers
. that were in GRG between 2008 and 2013, additional redress costs arising from a new.complaints process and the
associated operational costs. Background information in relation to the FCA review of SME -customers is given in Note 26.

20. Deferred taxation

s ' :
Provision for deferred taxation has been made ds follows: . :
' ‘ Group ' ' Bank

2016 2015 2016 2015
: _ . , £m . £m , £m £m
Deferred tax asset . . A . N 288 o1 25
Deferred tax liability . - : @) ' - -
Net deferred tax asset ’ A : 11 233 <11 . 25
Group
Accelerated o - Fair value on
capital Deferred . financial
Pension  ailowances gains  instruments Other Tax losses Total
. - . : ) : £m £m £m - : £m . £m - fm £m
© At 1 January 2015 : 1 - © (5 - 3) 223 216
(Charge)/credit to income ‘ ’ '
statement ‘ A . ,
- from continuing operations . ©) 5 ) - 31 25
Credit/(charge) to other
comprehensive income
- from continuing operations | 5. 0 - (1) . - - 4
Other ' : co o
- from discontinued.operations - - - . - (12) . (12)
At 1 January 2016 ' . (3) 5 7 (1) (3) T 242 . 233
(Charge)/credit to income : :
statement . , _ _ ) . A . S
- from continuing operations ‘ - (8) (2) .- e .3 (17) (24) -
- from discontinued operations - - - - 5 5
Credit to other comprehensive ' '
income _ A
- from continuing operations 13 - - - - - 13
Other o ‘ _ :
- from discontinued operations . : - - - - 35. 35
Transfer to disposal group B - (2) S L - 1 - (251) (251)
‘At 31 December 2016 E - 4 ) . .. 14 11
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20. Deferred taxation (continued)

" Bank

Accelerated .
capital Deferred

Pension allowances -  gains Taxlosses Total

£m gm__ fm £m £m

At 1 January 2015 ' o ‘ (1) 2 (5) - (4)
(Charge)/credit to income statement - : (9) 4 2 - 3 24
Credit to other comprehensive income ’ ‘ 5 - - -~ 5.
At 1 January 2016 - ' (5) 6 (7) 31 25
Charge to income statement : a i (8) 2) - (17) (27)
Credit to other comprehensive income ] 13 S - - 13
At 31 December 2016 o : ' . 4 ) 14 11

A deferred tax asset of £14m (2015: £31m) has been recognised in respect of £78m (2015: £170m) of total tax losseés of
" £168m (2015:.£170m) carried forward at 31 December 2016. These losses arose principally from significant impairment
losses reflecting wéak economic conditions in Northern Ireland. The economy continues to improve and, based on current”
business forecasts, the losses on which a deferred tax asset has been recognised will be utilised against future taxable” .
profits of the'company by the end of 2022. Under UK tax legislation, tax Iosses do not expire and can -be carried forward
mdeftmtely

Deferred tax liabilities of £123m (2015: £138m) have not been recognised.in reéspect of retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries and held-over gains on the incorporation of overseas branches. Retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries
are expected to be reinvested indefinitely or remitted to the UK free from further taxation. No taxation is expected to arise
in the foreseeable future in respect of held-over gains. With effect from the 1 January 2017, the overseas subsidiaries and
held-over gains have transferred to NatWest Holdings Limited. . '

In periods from April 2015, the Finance Act 2015 limits the offset of losses carried forward by UK banks to 50% of profits.
Furthermore, in periods from April 2016, the Finance Act 2016 further limits the offset of losses carried forward by UK
banks to 25% of profits. The main rate of UK Corporation Tax will reduce from 20%-to 19% from 1 April 2017 and to 17%
from 1 April 2020. Under the Finance (No 2) Act 2015, tax losses carried forward at 31 December 2015 are given credit in
future periods at the main rate of UK corporation tax, excluding the banking surcharge rate (8%) introduced by the Act.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016 take into account the reduced rates in respect of tax losses and
where appropriate, the banking surcharge inclusive rate in respect of other banking temporary differences.

21. Subordinated liabilitjes

Group " Bank
2016 2015 . 2016 2015
£m : £m £m £m
Dated loan capital S ~ 836 _805 836 © 732
Undated loan capital - 103 155 103 88

939 - 960 , 939 . 820
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21. Subordinated Iiabilities (continued)

Group’ S Bank
2016 2015 2016 2015
: £m £m £m £m
. Dated loan capntal :

-£100m floating rate loan capital repayable 2019 ) : .
- held by RBS (3 month LIBOR plus 0.5%) o 100 , 100 . 100 100
€400m floating rate loan capital repayable 2017 . : . t ' - :
- held by BRBS (3 month EURIBOR plus 1%) _ 343 . 294 : 343 294

* €180m floating rate loan capital repayable 2020 ’ K ‘ -
- held by RBS (3 month EURIBOR plus 0.4%) 154 . 132 .. - 154 ' 132
€280m floating rate loan capital repayable 2022 ) 4 i : )
. - held by RBS (3 month EURIBOR plus 0.35%) 239 ' 279 239 . 206
' ' ' 836 805 836 - 732
Undated loan capital:

'€120m perpetual floating rate notes . . . .

- heid by RBS (3 month EURIBOR plus 0.35%) 103 o 88 103 ’ 88
€32m 11.375% perpetual tier two capital : - 41, - A -
£12m 11.75% perpetual tier two capital : . . - 24 - -
£1.3m floating rate perpetual tier two capital ' - 2 . - : -

’ 103 155 103 - _ 88
Total . . 939 . 960 939 820

.Claims in respect of the Group s and the Bank s loan caputal are subordmate to the claims of other creditors. None of the
loan capital is secured.

Dated loan capital

Interest on the Sterling denominated dated loan capital heid by the Group' s ultimate holding company is payable quarterly
at a margin over London Interbank Offer Rates (LIBOR). Interest on Euro denominated loan capital is payable quarterly at
a margin over Euro Interbank Offer Rates (EURIBOR)

Undated loan capnal
The €120m loan notes are held by RBS and are repayable at the option of the Bank, -only with prior consent of the
Prudenual Regulanty Authority (PRA) :

- The subordinated perpetual bonds were issued by First Active Limited, in the Republic of Ireland, at par on conversion of
First National Building Society to a public limited company pursuant to Section 107 of the Building Societies Act, 1989 to
replace the issued fixed and floating rate permanent interest bearing shares of the society. The issuance of the bonds
transferred to UBIDAC when First Active Limited transferred its banking business in February 2010 The claims of the
holders of the bonds are subordinate to the claims of all creditors of UBIDAC.
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22. “Share capital :
: Group and Bank

Allotted, called up

and fully paid’ _ Authorised
2016 2015 2016 - 2015
£m £m_ £m £m
Equity shares: ' A ’
- Ordinary shares of £1 . 1 254 1,320 - 2,000 2,000
" Equity preference shares: ' .
Non-cumulative redeemable : o . .
preference shares of €1 each ' 201 - 200 - 365 346
Total share capital : , - 455 . 1,521 - 2,365 2,346 -
. Allotted, calleq up E ' Authorised
.and fully paid : -
_ . , _ 2016 2015 . 2016 2015
Number of shares ' : C Millions Millions Millions Millions
Equity shares: ' ) . L -
Ordinary shares of £1_ . : 254 1,320 . 2,000 2,000
' Equity preference shares: ' ' :
Non-cumulative redeemable : : ]
- preference shares of €1 each N ) 309 309 . 500 _ 500
-~ Total share capital ' ‘ 563 1,629 - 2,500 . 2,500

On 21 December 2016, the Bank carried out a capital reduction under Section 641 (1)(a) of the Companies Act 2006.
The issued ordinary shares of £1 were reduced from £1,320m to £254m and an amount of £1,066m was transferred to
retained earnings. In the same transaction the Bank’s share premrum account on ordrnary shares was cancelled and a
further £434m was transferred to retained earnings. :

The non-cumulative redeemable preference shares .entitle the holders thereof to receive periodic non-cumulative cash

.. dividends, at the discretion of the directors, at a specified floating rate payable out of distributable profits of the Bank. Ina -

- winding-up. the holders of the preference shares have the right to repayment in priority to the holders of any other class of

- shares in the capital of the Bank. Any surplus assets available after repayment of the preference shares will be
distributable to the holders of the £1 ordinary shares. . h

The non-cumulative redeemabie preference shares do not confer on the holder a right to attend or vote at general
meetings of the Bank unless the business of the meeting includes the-consideration of a resolution for winding up of.the
Bank, reducing its share capital or varying any of the special rights attached to the preference shares.

Subject to the provisions of company law and to the consent of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), the Bank shall

have the right to redeem the preference shares at any time by notice to the holders provided that no such notice may be
issued in respect of any preference share prior to the day following the fifth anniversary of the date of its allotment.

23. Leases

The Group purchases plant and equrpment renting them to customers under lease arrangements’ that depending on their
terms, -qualify as either operating or finance leases. .

The Group provrdes asset finance to its customers through actlng as a lessor Amounts receivable under finance lease
and hire purchase agreements .

: ; Group
2016 2015
Present ’ ) ' Present
Gross value Present Gross ) value Present
- amounts adjustments : value amounts - adjustments value
Yeéar in which receipt wrll oceur:_ £m £m £m £m : £m £m
Within 1 year 18 (1) 17 81 . N (5)] 75
" After 1 year but within 5 years - 20 M 19 87 B V4 - 80
After 5 years - ‘ _ -1 - 1 1 - 1
i ~ : 39 2 37 169 . (13) © 156

67



ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the yéar ended-31 December 2016

23. - Leases (continued)

‘Minimum amounts payable under non—cancellabie leases:

Grqup

2016

2015

After 1 yeai

-‘After 5

After 1 year

After 5

- discontinued operations )

: * Within 1 - but within 5 Within 1 but within 5 o
Year in which year years years Total year years years Total
payment will occur: CEm . £m £m £m £m " £m £m £m

. Operating lease A A
. obligations: ’ . i , : . S
Premises 2 3 86 91 16 42 113 171
Equipment - - - - 1 - .- 1
‘ 2 3 86 91. .17 42 113 172
-Bank -
2016 ' 2015
After 1 year - . " - After 1 year :
. Within 1 but within5 After 5 ) Within 1 but within 5 After 5 C
Year in which- year years years Total year years years - Total .
" payment will occur: £m fm £m £m £m © £m ~ fm £m
®." Operating lease '
obligations:- :
Premises 2 3 86 91 2 2 87 91
Grbup Bank
2016 2015 2016 -~ 2015
. ‘ £m . £m £m - ._£m
Amounts recognised in income statement . ’
Operating lease e)épense_ — minimum payments
- continuing operations 3 14 3 3
11 11 - -
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24. Collateral and securitisations ' A

Securities repurchase agreements and Iending transactions

The Group enters into securities repurchase agreements and securities lending transacuons under which |t receives or
transfers collateral in accordance with normal market practice. Generally, the agreements reqwre additional collateral to
be provnded if the value of the securities fall below a predetermined Ievel

Under standard - terms for repurchase transactions in the United Klngdom and Repubhc of Ireland, the recipient of
collateral has an unrestricted right-to sell or repledge it, subject to returmng equrvalent securities on settlement. of the :
transacnon . o
There were no seéuntles trénsferred under repurchase transactlens included within debt securities on the balance sheet

. in either of the years under review. There were no securities received as collateral under reverse repurchase agreements
in either of the years under review. - .

Other collateral given

Group
. , , ' 2016 2015
Group assets charged as security for liabilities s 5 ' . £m £m
" Loans and advances to customers .. ' . ) 8,558 7,395
Group -
: . . 2016 . 2015
Liabilities secured by charges on assets ‘ - : £m £m
Debt securities in issue’” ‘ v 4646 - 5544
Derivatives . B ) 4 , o , 24 31
’ 4,670 . 5575

_ m £3,467m of the debt securities in issue are held by the Group (2015: £4,072m).

,- During the financial year all of the debt securities in issue by Celtic Residential Irish Mortgage Securitisation No. 12 DAC
("Celtic 12"}, a limited recourse entity controlled by the Group and included in the consolidated financial statements on
that basis, were redeemed at par by that entity. At 31 December 2015 the value of the debt securities issue by Celtlc 12

- was £788m, £469m of these were held by the Group and consol:dated in'the Group financial statements.

" The amounts prowded as-collateral relate to assets and liabilities held for disposal.

Securitisations and other asset transfers

The Group undertakes securitisations to fund specific pbrtfolios of assets. In a securitisation, assets, or interests in a poo!
of assets, are transferred generally to a special purpose entity (SPE) which then issues liabilities to third party investors.

SPEs are. vehicles- established for a specific, limited purpose, usually do not carry out a business or trade and typically =

have no employees. They take a variety of Iegal forms - trusts, partnerships and compames and fulfil many different
functions. . '

it is primarily the extent of risks and rewards assumed that determines whether these entities are consolidated in the
. Group’s financial statements. The table below sets out the asset categories together with the carrying amounts of the

assets and associated liabilities for those securitisations where substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset have
been retained by the Group and continue to be presented in its balance sheet.

2016 B 2015

Assets Liabilities - Assets = Liabilities
: £m - Em . £m - £m
Residential mortgages  * : o . 8,558 1,179 . 7,395 - - 1,472

The assets and liabilities held in SPEs relate to assets and liabilities of disposal groups. .
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On 1 January 2017, the Group sold Ulster Bank (Ireland) Holdings Unlimited Company ("UBIH") and its subsidiaries
comprising the Group's Republic of Ireland operations to. NatWest Holdings Limited. Accordingly UBIH and its
subsidiaries have been classified as a disposal group at 31 December 2016. Consequently, all current year drsclosures
‘refate‘to the contrnurng operations (Northern-irefand operations, principally the Bank).

Business model and associated risks

-The Group aims to become a bank that its customers’ and all other stakeholders can trust. It is doing so by focusing on
Personal & Business Banking (“PBB”) and Commercial & Private Banking (“CPB"). By delivering only services that meet
the customers’ needs in these segments, it aims to achieve an appropriate return. To support delivery, a. major
programme is underway to transform and enhance the ways in which the Group operates:

.PBB provides traditional retail banking products including current and'savings accounts, mortgages and credit cards to
individual, mass-affluent and small business customers. CPB provrdes commercial, corporate and high-net-worth
customers with loan products and rnvestment services. . . '

“The main sources of earnings are interest income from lending and fee income from transactional and other sérvices. In
2016, greater competition and lower interest rates have put pressure on financial targets. In response, the Group
continues to focus on customer service and satisfaction while reducing costs through rationalisation and simplification. . -

In the past. year the Group has further reduced -exposures to legacy issues, deleveraged the balance sheet and
+ significantly improved the risk profile of the bank. Moreover, the Group must respond to new and impending regulation,
such as adapting to the UK Financial Services (Banking Reform) Act, which requires core banking services including
deposit-taking to be ring-fenced by 2019.

These major strategic and regulatory change programmes mean that the Group must manage the associated execution
risk in coming years. If not effectively managed, this- could represerit a significant burden on management and may
threaten strategic objectives. The volume of change could also affect the Group’s ability to retain the-talent and-skills it
requires and, until target operating models are achreved organlsatronal complexrty, particularly in T systems will
“contribute to increased Ievels of operational risk.

Increased focus on key. strengths is intended to deliver financial robustness and stronger risk management, but also
. raises product concentration risks. These risks must be managed effectively in increasingly competmve and fast-changing
target markets whne navigating |ndustry-w1de risks such as those related to cybercnme

. The Group contrnues to resolve issues related to historical misconduct and unsustainable strategrc decision: makrng To =
prevent the recurrence of similar issues, the Group aims 1o underpin its business model with a strong risk culture across
its businesses: This culture promotes appropriate risk awareness and judgements about risk-taking. Through its business
model, the Group will continue to be exposed to credit, market, operational and liquidity risks, but also a range of other-

" risk types including pension, reputational conduct.and regulatory. These, and the business model related risks outlined *
‘here, are considered further in the following sections. Capital -and risk management are conducted on an.overall basis
within RBS Group such that common policies, procedures, frameworks and models apply across BBS Group. Therefore,
for the most part, dlSCUSSlons on these aspects reflect those in RBS Group as relevant for the businesses and operatlons '
in the Group.

Governance structure
The nsk governance structure of the Group and the main purposes of each of the commlttees are indicated below

) Board
. wSets and owns the Group s risk appetite, which i is cascaded across the busrness

Group Aud/t _Comm/#ee
Reviews systems and standards of internal .control

Board Risk Committee ’
Provides oversrght and advrce on current and potential exposure, risk strategy and to|erance

Execut/ve committees
Consrder emerging issues matenal to both the Group S strategy and risk exposures
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25. Risk management (contmued) | |
Three lines of defence

The three lines of defence model is used industry-wide for the management of risk. It provides a clear set of principles by
which to implement a.cohesive operating model, one that provides a framework for the articulation of accountabrlmes and
responsrbllmes for managing risk across the organisation.

First line of defence management and supervision
The first line of defence includes customer franchises, Technology and Operations and support functions such as Human
Resources, Communrcatrons and some areas of Finance. Responsibilities include: .

. Ownmg managing and supervrsmg, within a defined risk appetite, the risks which exist in busrness areas and
support functions.
+ Ensuring appropriate controls are in place to mitigate risk, balancing control, customer servrce and competitive
‘advantage. '
e Ensuring that the culture of the business supports balanced risk decrsrons and compliance with policy, laws and
. regulations.
. Ensunng that the business has effective mechanlsms for |dent|fy|ng, reporting and managlng risk and controls.

* Second line of defence - overS/ght and control :
The second line of defence includes Risk Management and Conduct & Regulatory Affairs, Legal and the financial control.
aspects of Fmance Responsrbllltues rnclude

o Working with the businesses and functions to develop the risk and- control policies, ||m|ts and 100ls for the business to
use to discharge its responsibilities.
Overseeing and challenging the management of risks and.controls.
Leading the articulation, design and development of risk culture and appetite.
Analysing the aggregate risk profile and ensuring that risks are being managed to the desired Ievel (risk appetite).
Providing expert advice to the business on risk management.

- Providing senior executives with relevant management information and reports and escalatrng concerns where .
appropriate.
o Undertakmg risk assurance.

Third //ne of defence - Interna/ Aud/t
“Responsibilities include:

o Designing and delivering a risk-based audit plan to prowde assurance on material risks and report on whether the
Group is managing its material risks effectively.
-~ Monitoring, évaluating and reporting on the remedlatlon of material risks.
« Engaging with management and participating in kéy governance fora to provide perspectives, insights and challenge
© s0 as to influence the building of a sustainable bank.

K Advrsmg the Group Audit Commlttee and executive management with respect to matenal risks and their, assocrated S

- controls. ’
. Reportrng any matters which warrant escalation to the Board, the Board Risk Commrttee Group Audit Commrttee
-and the Executive Committees as appropriate.
e Providing mdependent assurance to the FCA, PRA and other key 1unsd|ct|onal regulators on both specific risks and .
control themes. -

'Risk culture and appetite

Risk culture :

A strong risk culture is essential if the Group is to achieve its ambition to build a truly customer-focused bank The Group
has measured and benchmarked its risk culture across all functions and businesses. It has set a risk culture target,

making risk samply part of the way that employees work and think. Such a culture must be built on strong risk capabrhtles

with robust risk practrces and appropriate risk behaviours embedded across the organisation. ’
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'25. -Risk management (contmued)

Risk culture (contmued) , : - '
To achieve this the Group is focusing on leaders as role models and taking actions to build clarity, develop capablhty and
motivate employees to reach the required standards of risk culture behaviours including: )

Taking personal accountabi|ity and proactively managing risk.
Respecting risk management and the part that it plays in daily work.
Understanding clearly the risks associated with individual roles.
'Aligning decision-making-to the Group’s risk appetite.

Considering risk in all actions and decisions.

Escalating risks and issues early.

Taking action to mitigate risks.

Learning from mistakes and near-misses.

Challenging others’ attitudes, ideas and actions.

Reporting and communicating about risks transparently.

To embed and strengthen the required risk culture behaviours, a number of Group-wide activities have been undertaken.
To support a consistent tone from the top, senior management frequently communicate the importance of the required
risk behaviours through various channels, linking them to the achlevement of good customer outcomes.

The Group’s target risk culture behaviours have been embedded into a statement’ of “Our Standards”, which -are clearly
aligned to the core values of “serving customers”, “working together”, “doing the right thing” and “thinking long term”. They
act as a clear starting point for a strong and effective risk culture as “Our Standards" are used for performance
management, recruitment and select:on and development. ’

In addition to embeddlng risk culture behaviours into performance management, in 2016 an objective aligned to the
" Group's risk culture target was set for the Executive Committees and made integral to performance reviews. The Group’s

policies require that risk behaviour assessment is mcorporated into performance assessment and compensation
" processes for enhanced governance staff.

To track progress towards the Group’s risk culture target, a programme of assessmenf commenced in 201 6J_

Risk-based key performance indicators :
RBS Group-wide remuneration policy ensures that the remuneration arrangements for all employees reﬂect the principles
and standards prescrlbed by the UK Remuneranon Code.

Training

Enabling employees to have the capabnlltles and confidence to manage nsk is core to the Group’s learning strategy The
Group offers a wide range of risk learning, both technical and behavioural, across the risk disciplines. This training can be
mandatory, role-specific or for personal development. Mandatory learning for all staff is focused on keeping employees,
customers and the Group safe. This is easily accessed online and is assigned.to each person according to their role and
business area. The system allows monitoring at all levels to ensure completion. ’ oo

Code of Conduct

Aligned to these values is the Code of Conduct. The Code provides.guidance on expected behav:our and sets out the
standards of-conduct that support the values. It explains the. effect of decisions that are taken.and descnbes the principles
that must be followed.

These principles cover conduct-related issues as well as wider business activities. They focus on desired outcomes, With

practical-guidelines to align the values with commercial strategy and actions. The embedding of these principles facilitates . -

sound decision-making and a clear focus on good.customer outcomes. They are also consistent with the people
management and remuneration processes and support a positive and strong risk culture through appropriate incentive
structures. .

A simple decision-making guide (called the “YES check”) has been.included in the Code of Conduct. It is a simple,
intuitive set of five qqestions,'designed to ensure the Group values guide day-to-day decisions:

Does what | am 'doing keep our customers and the Group safe and secure?
Would customers and colleagues say | am acting with integrity?. . '
Am | happy with how this would be perceived on the outside?

Is what | am doing meeting the standards of conduct required?

In five years’ time would others see this as a good way to work?
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25. Risk management (continued)
'Flisk culture (cominued)

Code of Conduct (contlnued) ‘
Each of the five questions is a prompt to think about -how the situation fits with_ the .Group’s values it ensures that,
employees can think through decisions that do not have a clear answer, and guides their judgements. If conduct falls
short of the Group’s required standards, the accountabrmy revaew process is used to assess how this should be reflected
in pay outcomes for those mdwnduals concerned.

The Group Performance and Remuneration Committee. also considers I'ISk performance and conduct when determining
overall bonus pools. The Committee’s decisions on pay aim to reinforce the need for good behaviours by all employees.

.Rusk appetite

Understanding and managing risk is essential in order to keep the Group safe and secure and embed a strong risk
culture. Risk appetite is the way the Group expresses the level of risk it is willing to accept in order to achieve its strategic
objectives and business plans. Risk appetite seeks to ensure. the Group strikes an optimal balance between building a
" sustainable business and creating long-term value for customers and stakeholders. X

Risk appetite is set for material risks and cescaded and embedded across the Group. Risk appetite informs, guides and
empowers. the divisions, functions and iegai entities to execute their strategies within manageable limits.

Risk appetite framework '

The risk appetite framework outlines the standards to . which the Group hotds itself accountable for estabhshing,
governing, reporting and. embedding risk appetite. It provides a structured approach to risk-taking within agreed -
houndaries. The Board reviews and approves the risk appetite framework annually. The Group embraces taking risk as .
part of the way we work and think and our risk appetlte framework is intended to: .

Ensure the Group is safe and secure. :

Contribute towards the achievement of our strategic plans.

Ensure risks are comprehensively understood and effectively controlled. .
_ Avoid activities that are inconsistent with the Group’s values, code ot conduct and policies..

e o o o

Strategic risk appetite
The Board has set out four strategic risk appetlte objectives. These are aligned with the strateglc plan and provide the
boundanes within which risk appetite for all other material risks are set. The strategic risk appetite objectives-are to:

. Mamtam capital adequacy: to ensure there are sufhcnent capitat resources to meet regulatory requirements and cover
potential unexpected iosses.

» Deliver stable earnings growth to ensure that the strategy for growth considers the longer—term nsks versus rewards.
Risk appetite is set so that the Group remains profitable under severe stress.

» Ensure stable and efficient access to-funding and liquidity: there must be sufficient funding to meet obhgations taking
account of the constraint that some forms of funding may not be available when they are most needed.

* Maintain stakeholder confidence: to ensure that the Group is respected and valued by stakeholders, as well as ’
trusted to attain its strategic objectives.

" To establish and maintain an appropriate culture and operational controls. Strategic risk appetite objectives provide the
link between the-overall business strategy and the frameworks, limits and tolerances used to set risk appetite and
manage risk in the business on a day-to-day basis. .

Risk appetite measures
Risk appetite is set in a manner that:

». s aligned to the Group’s goals: risks are managed in support of business and financial objectives.
» Is meaningful to the business: risk appetite is expressed as a qualitative statement of appetite supported, where
i possnble by quantitative risk limits and triggers. Risk appetite is communicated to each division, function and legal

entity in a meaningful and clear way.

* _ Allows risks to be effectively controlled: risk control frameworks set detailed to|erances and limits for managlng nsks

. such as credit risk and market risk, on a day-to-day basis.

o Considers performance under stress: the establishment and monitoring ot I'iSk appetrte considers potentlai risk
exposures -and vulnerabilities under plausible stress conditions. :

» Facilitates robust monitoring: effective processes allow frequent reporting of risk profile agamst agreed risk appetlte
to senior management and the Board.
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25. Risk management (continued) ‘
Credrt rrsk ‘

Credit rrsk is the risk of financial Ioss due to the failure of a customer. or counterparty to meet its obligation to settle
outstandlng amounts.

_Sources of credit nsk oo o
The principal sources of credit risk for the Gr0up are as follows

Lendlng -The Group offers a number of Iendlng products where it has an irrevocable obligation to provide credit fac;lmes

to a customer. Security can be obtained to mitigate the risk of loss in the form of physical collateral (such as commercial -

real estate assets and residential housing), or frnancral collateral (such as cash or bonds). Exposures arlsmg from leasing
activities are also included.

Derivatives and security financing - The Group enters into derivatives contracts and securities financing transactions.
These result.in counterparty credit risk, which is the risk of financial loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to meet
obligations that vary in value by reference to a. market rate or asset price. To mitigate the risk of loss, collateral is used
along with the additional legal rights provided under the terms of over- -the-counter contracts. :

" Debt securities - - The Group holds debt securities for Irquadrty management purposes and is exposed to credit rrsk as.a
result. :

Off-balance sheet products The Group provrdes trade finance and guarantees for customers as wetl as committed but
undrawn Iendlng facilities, and'is exposed to credit risk as a result. .

Credit risk management function s

As is standard practice 'in the industry, credit risk management actwrtres are organrsed along’ two separate lines,
wholesale and personal, reflecting the distinction between business types and - consequent drivers of credit risk. .
Wholesale focuses on activities with institutional, corporate and SME customers. Personal covers personal customers,
small businesses as well as personal lending activities in private banking. Nonetheless, many activities remain common
to both business lines. The following discussion refers to both wholésale and personal, wrth some specific additional
comments relatrng to each individual business line. -

Risk measurement and models

The Group uses the output.of credit risk models in the credit approval process - as well as for ongoing credit risk.
assessment, monrtormg and reportmg - to inform credit risk appetrte decisions. These models are divided into different
categories: .

Model- Calculation A : Wholesale . . Personal -
) method -

Each customer is assigned a
probability of default (“PD”) rating |
and corresponding grade. PD is
calculated using a combination of
quantitative inputs, such as recent
financial performance, and
qualitative - inputs such as
management  performance and
| sector outlook. _
Loss ‘given default (“LGD") models estimate the amount that would not be
recovered in the event of a customer default. ‘When estimating LGD, the Group’s
models assess both borrower and facility characteristics, as well as any credit risk
mitigants. The cost of collections and a time-discount factor for the delay in cash

" recovery are also incorporated.

Exposure at default ("EAD”) models provide estimates of credit facility utrhsatron at
the time of a customer default, recogmsmg that customers may make further -
EAD Individual. = ‘| drawings on unused credit facilities prior to default or that exposures may increase
model- counterparty . due to market movements. Regulatory requirements stipulate that EAD must
always be equal to, or higher, than current utilisation, though exposures can be .
| reduced by a legally enforceable netting agreement. '

Each customer account is scored and

models are -used. to assign .a PD rating.

Inputs vary across portfolios and include

" both internal account and customer level

data, as well as data from credit bureaus. .
This score is used to.support ‘automated
credit decision-making through the use of a

statistically-derived scorecard. :

| Individual

PD model counterparty

LGD | Individual - .
model counterparty
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25. Risk mavnagement ~ credit risk (continued)

Risk measurement and models (continued)

During 2016, the Group made two key amendments to the underlying assessment of loan loss provisions:

- LGD rate methodology was revised to align methodology with Basel Il LGDs. This resulted in a £0.7m charge to the
income statement; and

- Property price indices were revised to utilise new UK House Price Index for Northern Ireland resultmg in a £0.5m charge
to the income statement.

The following table analyses the sensitivity of the Income Statement to key inputs to the credit risk modéls. o

. : . ] 2016
~ Metric , Sensitivity ' ‘ fm
“ Retail Probability of Default 1% movement in Good Book (across aII segments) 4.1
Wholesale Probability of Default 1% movement ' 1.3
Probability of Default - Combined 1% movement . 5.4

. Wholesale Loss Given Default . 1% movement e S : S 07
Retail Loss Given Default ' _ 1% movement ‘ A : 08
~-Loss Given Default - Combined 1% movement _ o : .15
Retail 'Emergence Period “1 month increase L v -0.4
. Wholesale Emergence Reriod : 1 month increase ) e : g 0.2
Emergence Period - Combined - "1 month increase : v - y -0.6,

Models are regularly revised to reflect changes in the economic environment, regulatory environment, portfolio changes

" or changes in business strategy. Capital models, used to estimate risk weighted assets (‘RWA”) and capital, are subject

to enhanced internal scrutiny followed by submission to the Group s regulators for approval.

Asset quality - unaudited

Internal reporting and oversight of nsk assets is prrncrpaﬁy differentiated by credit grades Customers are assrgned credit
grades based on various credit grading models that reflect the key drivers of default for each customer type. All credit
grades across the Group map to both a Group level asset quality scale, used for external financial reporting, and a master .
grading scale for wholesale exposures, used for internal management reporting across portfolios. Accordingly, measures
‘of risk exposure may be readily aggregated and reported at increasing Ievels of granulanty depending on stakeholder or
business need. :

-Performing loans are defined as AQ1-AQ9 (where the PD is less than 100%) arrd non-performing loans as AQ10-(where
- the PD is 100%).The PD models used to assign a credit grade for the purposes of credit risk management assess the
probability of a customer failing to honour its credit obligations over aorie-year time period.

The AQ bands and corresponding.probability of default renges are set out below:

' ~ AQ Band - Probability of default . Indicative S&P rating

AQ1 : 0% - 0.034% AAAto AA
AQ2 - ‘ 0.034%- 0.048% , AA-
AQ3 ) - 0.048%-0.095% A+ to A-
AQ4 0.095% - 0.381%. . BBB+to BBB-
AQS5 © 0.381%-1.076% BB+ to BB
 AQ6 : © 1.076% - 2.153% . BBtoB+
AQ7 SRR 2.153% - 6.089% . B+toB .
AQ8 - 6.089% - 17.222% -~ B-to CCC+
-AQYQ ) o 17.222%-100% CCCto C

. AQ10 = 3 100% , ._D
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25.
Risk measurement-and mo.délsv('i:ontinued)

Asset -quality - unaudited (continued)

The follo_wing table provides an analysis of the credit qual

Risk management — credit risk (continued)

- Group

lity of third party financial assets by probability of default.

3 .

Cashand' - .
balances at Loansand Loansand :
central - advances advances to . Contingent
banks to banks customers Derivatives -Commitments liabilities
2016 ~ £m . £m . fm ~ £m £m £m
AQ1 - . 1,012 5,397 8 4 61 .
AQ2 , A - - - - 2 -
AQ3 . - 3. 50 S - 7 -
AQ4 S - 2 888 . - 207 29
AQ5 , ‘ - 1,456 o1 418 17
AQ6. ' I - 636 - - 127 5
AQ7 - - - 375 . - 113 16
AQS8 - - 157 - 21 2
AQ9 - ‘ ' - - 31 - 2 -
 AQ10 - - - - 10 5
Accruing past due B - 72 - -
-Non-accrual - ' BT - - 178 . - - -
Impairment provisions - - (155) - - -
Total 1,012 5,402 3,696 . 5 968 74
Group
Cash and :
balancesat Loansand Loans and :
central advances advancesto - A . Contingent
banks to banks  customers Derivatives Commitments liabilities
2015 ~_fm €m - fm - £m £m £m
AQ1 . 868 - 7,515 - 68 541 84 - -
TAQ2 ' ‘ - 305 3 30 97 -
AQ3 ‘ o - 1,662 248 27 - 323 96
AQ4 . - o . 2 2,366 - 22 -883 75
AQS5 ' o . 1 " 5,705 -3 878 33
AQ6 ‘ . - - 6,007 -1 540 69
AQ7- ) : , - - 1,134 1 265 31
AQ8 _ - - - 511 ) - 51
AQ9 , ‘ - - 1,742 - .. 8 2
AQ10 . ‘ L - : - 2 54 27
Accruing past due : o - - 1,101 - - oo
~ Non-accrual ' - - 5,369 - : - - -
Impairment provisions . - - {3,611) - - -
Total ‘ 868 9,485 20,643 . 627 3,183 336 .
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25. Risk managément — credit risk (continued)

Risk measurement and models (continued)

Asset quality - unaudited (continued)

. Bank
Cash and -
balances at Loansand Loans and -
central -advances advances to . Contingent
banks to banks . customers Derivatives Commitments liabilities
2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m
- AQ1 - _ 1,012 5,930 61 6 61 -
- AQ2 , . - - - - 2 -
AQ3 - 3 - - 50 - 7 -
AQ4 . o - 2 886 - 207 29
AQ5 - . - - 1,444 1 418 17
AQ6 s _ . - - 633 - 127 5
AQ7 , - - - 357 - 113 16
AQ8 . ) - oo . 157 - .21 2
AQ9 , - - 31 - 2. -
-AQ10 . ; : - - - - 10 5
Accruing past due ' ' E - - 72 - - -
Non-accrual - . - 191 - - -
Impairment provisions ' - - (168) - - -
Total ' 1,012 5,935 3,714 7 968 74
Bank
Cashand Loansand Loans and
balances at advances advancesto C . ) Contingent
: . central banks to banks  customers Derivatives Commitments liabilities
2015 £m fm . £m “£m . _fm £m
AQ1 _ 616 7,116.- 90 2 . 40 -
AQ2 _ A - - 30 . - 36 -
AQ3 : T 2 26" - 1,107 11
AQ4 - . . 1 1,035 - 186 7
AQ5 - A - ' ' - - 1,375 - 298 17
AQ6 - - - - ' 453 - 167 13
AQ7 , ' - - - 380 . 1 100 14
AQ8 - ' ' o - - 142 - 19 1
AQ9 ' : - - - . 150 - 2 ’
AQ10 . R S - - - 9 6
Accruing past due . - ' - - : 64 - - -
Non-accrual ‘ - - | 624 - - -
Impairment provisions B - - (568) - - -
Total 616 _ 7,119 3,801 3 1,964 69
Risk appetite

Risk appetite across all nsk types is set using specific quamltanve targets under stress, including earnings volatility and
capital adequacy. The credit risk appetite frameworks have ‘been designed to reflect factors that influence the ability to
meet those targets. Tools such as stress testing and economic .capital ‘are used to measure credit risk volatility: and
develop links between the credit risk appetite frameworks and risk appetite targets. The frameworks are supported by a
suite of policies and transaction acceptance standards that set out the risk parameters within which franchises must

~operate.

77



| ULSTER BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

25. Risk management - credit risk (continued)
-Risk mitigation

Risk mitigation techniques, as set out in the Group’s credit policies are used in the management of credit portfolios across
the Group typically to mitigate credit concentrations in relation to an individual customer, a borrower group-or a collection
of related borrowers. Where possible,-customer credit balances are netted against obligations. Mitigation tools applied
can include: structuring a security interest in a physical or financial asset; use of credit derivatives, including credit defauit
swaps, credit-linked debt instruments and securitisation structures; and use of guarantees and similar instruments (for
example, credit insurance) from related and third parties.

When seeking to mitigate risk, at a minimum the Group considers the followmg

e The sunabnhty of the proposed risk mitigation, particularly if restrictions apply;

» The means by which legal certainty is to be established, including reqmred documentation, supportive Iegal opinions
and the steps needed to establish legal rights; -

e The acceptability of the methodologies to be used for initial and subsequent valuatlon of collateral, the frequency of

valuations and the advance.rates given;

The actions which can be taken if the value of coliateral or other mitigants is less than needed,

The risk that the value of mitigants and counterparty crédit quality may deteriorate snmultaneously,

The need to manage concentration risks arising from collateral types; and . -

The need to ensure that any risk mitigation remains Iegally effective and enforceable

The business and credit teams are supported by specialist in-house documentation teams. The Group uses industry-.
standard loan and security documentation wherever possible. However, when non-standard documentation is used,

external lawyers are employed to review it on-a case-by-case basis. Mitigants (including any associated insurance) are
monitored throughout the life of the transaction to ensure that they perform as anticipated. Similarly, documentatuon is
also monitored to ensure it remains enforceable.

Within its secured portfohos, the Group has recourse to various types of colldteral and other credit enhancements to
mitigate credit risk and reduce the ioss to the Group arising from the failure of a customer to meet its obligations. These
include: cash deposits; charges over residential and commercial property, debt securities and equity shares; and third-
party guarantees. The existence of co!lateral may affect the pricing of a facility and its regulatory capital requirement. -

When a collateralised financial asset becomes impaired, the impairment charge dlrectly reflects the reallsable value of

collateral and any other credit enhancements.

For further information, refer to the sub-sections on Wholesale credit risk management and Personal credit risk
~management.

" . Risk assessment and monitoring

Provisioning

The amount of an impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset carrying amount and the present

value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The current net

realisable. value of any collateral will be taken into account in determining the need for a provision. This includes cash

flows from foreclosure (less costs of obtaining and selling the collateral), whether or not foreclosure is probable.

impairment provisions are not recognised where amounts due are expected to be settled in full on the reahsatvon of
collateral.

Key factors considered

Provision |Customer type Quantification method

method : . : : .

Individual | Impaired, Case-by-case'assessmentof |e  Customer and guarantor performance.
individually future cash flows e  Future value of collateral. -
significant e Future economic conditions based on factors

.. available at the time.

Collectiveé |Impaired but not Quantitative revnew of relevant e Level of arrears.
individually portfolio ¢ Value of security. ,
significant, e ° Historical and projected cash recovery trends.
grouped into e  Current economic conditions.
homogenous o Operational processes. .

. portfolios ) o Latest cash collection profile.
Latent Not impaired PD% x LGD% x Drawn Balance [e  For wholesale and retail customers PD, LGD,

x Emergence Period

The emergence period is the
period between the occurrence
of an impairment event and a
loan being identified and
reported as impaired.

78

Drawn balance and Emergence Period
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25. Risk management -'credit risk (c'ontinued)

‘Wholesale credit risk management -

This section sets out further detail'on' the Grbup’s approach to credit risk management for its Wholesale customers. Three
‘formal frameworks dre used to manage Wholesale credit concentration risks within the Group’s risk appetite. These
frameworks are regularly reassessed to ensure they remain appropriate for the Group’s varied business franchises,

economic and market conditions and to reflect refinements in risk measurement models as well as agreed risk appetite.

A summary of the frameworks is set out below.

Concentration : » ‘ : .
framework - Single name (SNC) Sector Product and asset class
Risk addressed.- | Concentration on a Concentration in a single Concentration on certain products or asset
' single borrower or sector or across sectors'that | classes. :
borrower group. are susceptible to similar ' '
. ‘ . stress events. i ,
Basis for Size or LGD - based, | Size - based.on exposure; Size - based on exposure to a product or
classification on net customer and Risk - based on asset class; and Risk — based on heightened
exposure for a given economic capital and other risk characteristics of a product.
.| probability of default. | qualitative factors. : ,
Limit types | Customer exposure Bank-wide and franchise Bank-wide and franchise product/asset class
and LGD limits relative | sector and sub-sector ".| exposure limits and sub-limits.
to.PD. exposure limits. o
Risk assessment

.Credit is only granted to customers following jonnt approval by an approver from the business and the credit risk functlon

These approvers act within a delegated approval authority under the wholesale Credit Authorities Framework (“CAF”)
approved by the Executive Risk Forum. ‘

The level of delegated authority held by approvers is dependent on their experience and expertise Only a small’ number
of senior executives hold the highest authority provided: under the CAF. Both business and credit approvers are
accountable for the quality of each decision taken but the credit risk approver holds ultimate sanctioning authority.

In 2016, new sector specific Transaction Acceptance Standards (“TAS") were “introduced to provide more detailed
transactional lending and risk acceptance rules and guidelines which are one of the tools to control risk appetite at the
. customer/transaction level. This followed the introduction of general sector TAS in November 2015 prov;dlng full sector
coverage. TAS are supplementary to credit pohcy .

When assessmg credit risk the following must be considered at a minimum:

" The amount terms, tenor, structure, condmons purpose and appropriateness of all credit facrlmes
Compliance with relevant credit policies and transaction acceptance standards.
The customer’s ability to meet obligations, based on an analysis of trnancral rnformatron
A review of payment and covenant compliance history.
The customer’s risk profile, mcludmg sector, sensitivity to economic and market developments and management
capability.
e~ Legal capacity of the customer to engage in the transaction. o
o Credit risk mitigation including requirements for valuation and’ revaluation. The customers credit grade and the loss

_- given default estimate for the facilities, including any expected changes.
e The requirement for the provision of financial information, covenants and/or monitoring formulae to monltor the
~ customer's financial performance.- : :
-« Refinancing risk - the risk of loss arising from the failure of a customer to settie an obligation on explry of a facility
" through the drawdown of another credit facility provided by the Group or by another lender. .
»  Consideration of other risks such as environmental, social and ethical, regulatory and reputational risks.
¢ The portfolio'impact of the transaction, mcludrng the impact on any credit risk concentratron limits or agreed business
franchise risk appetite.

Credlt relationships are reviewed and credit grades (PD and LGD) re-approved annually. The review process addresses
borrower performance, including reconfirmation or adjustmeént of risk parameter estimates; the adequacy of security;
compliance with terms and conditions; and refinancing risk.
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‘ 25. Risk management credit risk (continued)
Wholesale credit risk management (continued)

Risk m/t/gat/on
" The Group mitigates credit risk relating to wholesale customers through the use of nettlng, collateral and market standard
documentation, depending on the nature of the counterparty and its assets. The most common types of mitigation are:

o Commercial real estate. . . .

« " Other physical assets - Including stock, plant, equipment, machinery, vehicles, ships and aircraft. Such assets are
suitable collateral only if the Group can identify, locate, and segregate them from other assets ‘on which it does not
have a claim. The Group values physical assets in a variety of ways, depending on the type of asset and may rely on
balance sheet valuations in certain cases.

e Recéivables - These are amounts owed to the Group’s counterparties by their own customers. The Group values
them: after taking into.account the quality of its counterparty s receivable management processes and excluding any
that are past due. :

¢ Financial collateral.

Problem debt management‘

Early problem identification i

~ Early warning indicators (“EWISs") are in place to |dent|fy customers experiencing financial difficulty, and to increase
monitoring if needed. EWIs may be internal, such as a customer’s bank account activity, or external, such as a publicly-
‘listed customer’s share price. If EWls show a customer is experiencing potential or actual- difficulty, or if relationship
managers or credit officers identify other signs of financial difficuity they may decnde to cIassrfy the customer within the
" Risk of Credit Loss Framework. -

Risk of Credit Loss Framework : ‘ :
In early 2016, the Risk of Credit Loss framework replaced the Group’s previous Watchlist process for managung problem

" debts. The new framework focuses on wholesale customers whose credit profiles have deteriorated since- origination.
Expert judgement is applied by experienced credit risk officers to classify cases into categories that reflect progressively
deteriorating credit risk to the bank. There are-two classifications. which apply to non-defaulted customers within the
framework - Heightened Monitoring and Risk of Credit Loss. The framework aiso apphes to those customers that have
met the bank’s default criteria (AQ10 exposures). - C .

Heightened Monitoring customers are performing customers who have met certain characteristics, which have led to
material credit deterioration. Collectively, characteristics reflect circumstances that may affect the customer's ability to -
meet repayment obligations. Characteristics include trading issues, covenant breaches, material PD downgrades and
past due facilities. Sector spécific characteristics also exist. Heightened Monitoring customers require pre-emptive actions
(outside the customer's normal trading patterns) to return or maintain their facilities within the banks current nsk appetite
prior to maturity. ‘ .

Risk of Credit Loss customers are performing customers who have met the criteria for Heightened Monitoring and also
pose a risk of credit loss to the bank in the next 12 months, should mitigating action notbe taken or be successful.

Once classified as either Heightened Monitoring or Risk of Credit Loss a number of mandatory actions are 'taken in
accordance with RBS-wide policies. This includes a review of the customer's credit grade, facility and security
documentation and the valuation of security. Depending on the severity of the financial difficulty and the size of the
exposure, the customer relationship  strategy is reassessed by credit -officers, by specialist credit nsk or relationship
management units in the relevant business or by Restructuring. : :

Agreed customer management strategies are regularly monitored by both the business and credit teams. The largest Risk

of Credit Loss exposures are regularly reviewed by a Risk of Credit Loss Committee. The committee members are

experienced credit, business and Restructuring specialists. The purpose of the committee is to review and challenge the
" strategies undertaken for those customers who pose the largest risk of credit loss to the bank.

Appropriate corrective action is taken when circumstances emerge that may affect the customer’s ability to service:its
debt (see Heightened Monitoring characteristics). Corrective actions may include granting a customer various types of
concessions. Any decision to approve a concession will be a function' of sector appetite, the credit quality of the customer,
the market environment and the loan structure and security. :

Other potential outcomes of the re|at|onsh|p review are to: take the customer off the Rrsk of Credit Loss framework; offer
additional lending -and contlnue monrtonng, transfer the relationship to Hestructurlng if appropnate or exit the relationship
altogether .

_ The. Risk of Credit Loss framework does not apply to pro'blem debt management for Business Banking customers. These

customers are, where necessary, managed by specialised problem debt management teams, dependlng on the size of
exposure or the Busmess Banking recoveries team where a loan has been impaired.
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" Risk management credit risk (continued).
Wholesale credit risk management (continued)
Wholesale forbearance
Forbearance takes place when a concession is made on the contractual terms of a Ioan in response to a customer’s -

financial difficulties. Concessions granted where there is no evidence of financial difficulty, or where any changes to terms
and conditions  are within' current rlsk appetrte or reflect |mprovrng credit market conditions for the customer, are not

* considered forbearance

The aim of -forbearance is to restore the customer to financial health while minimising risk to RBS. To ensure that
forbearance is appropriate for the needs and financial profile of the customer, the Group applies minimum standards
when assessmg recording, momtormg and reporting forbearance. . .

The levels of wholesale forbearance in the Group are not materiat and are therefore not reported.

‘ Wholesale exposures
The type of collateral taken by the Group’s commercial and corporate businesses and the manner in whrch itis taken will
vary according to the acttvrty and assets of the customer.

. Physical assets - These include business assets such as stock, plant and machinery, vehicles, ships and aircratt. In
general, physical assets qualify as collateral only if they can be unambiguously identified, located or traced, and
segregated from uncharged assets. Assets are valued on a number of bases according to the type of security.that is

: granted.

"o Real estate - The Group takes collateral in the form of real estate, which includes re3|dent|al and commercial
properties. The loan amount will typically excéed the market value of the collateral at origination date. The market
value is defined as the estimated amount for which the asset could be sold in an arm’s length transactzon by a wrllrng
seller to a willing buyer.

. Receivables.- When taking a charge over receivables, the Group assesses:their nature and quallty and the .
borrower’'s management and collection processes. The value. of the receivables offered as collateral will typically be

adjusted to exclude receivables that are past their due dates. . .

© The secunty charges may be: ﬂoatrng or fixed, with the type of security hkely to impact: (i) the credit decision; and (ii) the
potential loss upon default. In the case of a general charge such as a mortgage debenture balance sheet information
may be used as a proxy for market value if the information is deemed reliable.

The Group does not recognrse certain asset classes as collaterai: for example, short leasehold property and equity.
shares of the borrowing company. Collateral whose value is correlated to that of the obligor |s assessed on a case-by-
case basis and where Jnecessary, over-collateralisation may be required. :

The existence of collateral has an |mpact on provisioning. Where the Group no longer expects -to recover the principal
and interest due on a loan in full or in accordance with the original terms and conditions it is assessed for impairment. If
exposures are secured, the currént net realisable value of the collateral will be taken into account when assessing the
need for a provision. No impairment provrsron is recognlsed in cases where aII amounts.-due are expected to be settled in
full on reallsatlon of the secunty .

2016 ' 2015

Loans Provisions ‘Loans Provisions
Non- performlng corporate loans (excludmg commercial real estate) £m £m £m. £m
Secured , .. - : 43 c 42 - - 195 190 -

Unsecured ‘ ’ : .. - - -

The reduction in non-performing balances has been driven by asset sales during the year:
A.Personat credit risk management

‘Risk assessment

Personal lending entails makrng a large number of small-value loans. To ensure that these lending decrsrons are made
consistently, the Group analyses credit information, including the historical debt servicing behaviour of customers with
respect to both the Group and their other lenders. The Group then sets its lending rules accordingly, developing different
rutes for different products. The process is then largely automated, with customers receiving a credit score that reflects a
comparison of their credit profile with the rule set. However, for relatively high-value, complex personal loans, including
some residential mortgage Iendlng, specialist credit managers make the final lending decisions.
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25. Risk management - credit risk (continued)
Personal credit risk management (continued)

Risk mitigation )

The Group takes collateral in the form of resudentral property to mitigate” the credit nsk ansmg from mortgages and-home
_equity lending. The Group values residential property during the loan underwriting process by either appraising properties
_individually or valuing them collectively using statistically valid models. The Group updates'residential property values
- quarterly using the relevant residential property index.

The property price mdrces were revised in 2016 to utilise new UK House Price Index for Northern Ireland.

Problem debt management
Personal customers in financial difficulty are managed through either colléctions-or recoveries functlons Further details of
these are set out below: ’

Personal collections and recoveries

There are collections and recoveries functions in each of the consumer businesses. Their role is to provide support and
assistance to customers who are currently experiencing difficulties meeting their financial obligations. Where possible, the
aim -of the collections and recoveries teams is to return the customer to a satisfactory position by working with them to .
restructure their flnances if this is not possrble the team has the objective of reducing the loss to the Group

Personal forbearance
Within, the Group’s retail busrnesses forbearance general!y occurs when the busmess grants a permanent or temporary
concession to a customer Forbearance is granted following an assessment of the customer’s individual circumstances

and ability to pay.

" Identification of forbearance - : '
Customers who contact the Group directly because of financial difficulties, or who are already in payment arrears, may be
‘granted forbearance. In the course of assisting customers, more than one forbearance treatment may be granted:

Types of retail forbearance
Forbearance options |nclude but are not hmlted to the measures outlined below:

e Payment concessions - a temporary reductron in, or ehmlnatlon of, the periodic (usually monthly) loan repayment is
agreed with the customer. At the end of the concessionary period, forborne principal and accrued .interest
outstanding is scheduled for repayment over an agreed period. ) i

. Capltalrsatlon of arrears - the arrears are repaid over the remaining term of the mortgage and the customer returns to
an up-to-date position.

Term extensions - the maturity date of the loan is extended..
Interest only conversions - the customer converts from principal and interest repayment to interest only repayment on -
a temporary or permanent basis. ‘

. For unsecured portfolios, forbearance treatments entail reduced or deferred payments Arrangements to facrlltate the
" repayment of overdraft excesses or loan arrears can be agreed dependent on affordability. Where repayment :
arrangements are not affordable debt consolidation loans can be provided to customers in collections. Definitions, are
based on those used within the FCA forbearance gurdellnes For a proportlon of mortgages, more than one forbearance

type applies. .
The arrears ‘information on mortgages in forbearance and related provisions are shown in the table below:

2016 - 2015 )
- ) Balance Provisions - Balance Provisions
Arrears status and provisions S . - fm £m - £m £m
No missed payments : : . 23.0 - 0.1 33.1 0.5
1-3 months in arrears B ) . 85 - 0.5 6.9 05
>3 months in arrears 25.8 - 9.7 30.3 8.1
Total : : ’ . 573 10.3 703 © 9.1

)

The -incidence of the main types of personal forbearance on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 is analysed
below. '

2016 . 2015

: ) : £m £m

Interest only : L o 16.5 21.8
Term extensions — capital repayment&lnterest only , : IR 1.8 2.4
Payment concession/holidays . ’ . ) - 36.3 42.9
Capitalisation of arrears ) : ] 2T 3.2
Total : ' C ' - 57.3 70.3

At the balance sheet date 2.6% (2015: 3.2%) of the Group's retail mortgages were in forbearance.
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- 25. Risk management - credit l‘lSk (contln,ued)

. Personal credit risk management (coﬁtinue’d)

Monitoring of forbearance :
The granting of forbearance will only ¢change the dehnquem,y status of the loan in cxceptional circumstances, which can
include capitalisation of pnncrpal and interest in arrears, where the loan may be returned to the performlng book if it
" remains up to date forthe duration of the probation penod and is deemed hkely to continue to do so.

Impa/rments for forbearance

The methodology used for provisioning and impairments for forborne loans will differ depending on whether the loans are
performing or non-performing. For the performing loans, an extended emergerice- period is applied to account for the
impact of forbearance within the portfolio. For non- performing loans, there is no difference in treatment.

Recoveries

- Once a loan has been identified as |mpa|red it is managed by recoveries teams in the relevant busmesses The teams
seek to minimise the Group's loss while treating customers fairly. Where an acceptable repayment arrangement cannot
~ be agreed with the customer litigation may be considered. No repossessuon procedures are initiated until at least six
months following the emergence of arrears. : :

Personal exposures ) ]
The table below details residential mortgages three months or more in arrears (by volume):

' Grodl

. 2016 2015
Personal ‘ - ' _ % %
Mortgages ) . o o _ . 3.0 3.3

The table below shows the distribution of residential mortgages by LTV (indexed). LTV is based upon gross loan amounts
" and, whilst including defaulted loans, does not take account of provisions made..

/

Group

: "2016; 2015
Residential mortgages — distribution by averagJ.TV o ' o % %
<=50% . . 23.9 23.7.
>50% and <=60% o Ny - S 11.0 9.8
>60% and <=70% ‘ ' ' 7 1ns8 - 104
>70% and <=80% = . | ) o . 14.4 14.4
>80% and <=90% - . - - 170 15.6
>90% and'<=100% ‘ : S R - - 103.
3100% ’ o . - . 15.2 © 1568
Total portfolio average LTV at 31 December . : 749 73.9
Average LTV on.new originétione during the year ’ , - 75.2 74.6

™ The above table uses unweighted LTV averages calculated by value.
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'25. Fhsk management — credlt risk (contmued)

. Personal credlt risk management (contmued)

The tables below show penod -end weighted LTVs for the Group S reSIdentlal mortgage portIquo split between performing.
and non-performing. . . :

2016 - 2015
Non-performmgildenhal mortg__ges averaLLTV by exposure ' ) ' £m : £m
<70% : , o ‘ - 214 239
>70% and <=90% - : I 127 187
>90% and <=110% - : ' ‘ : 12,2 ©19.1
>110% and.<=130% : v : _ '- : 10.7 137
->130% : : , ' 204 173
Total - : i - o ' : " 77.4 907
Total portfolio average by LTV ' . : - o 102% 94%
: S o 2016 . 2015

Performing residential mortgageé average LTV by exposure B : fm - fm .
<70% ' . . , 1,020 955,
- >70% and <=90% - o ' . 687 651
">90% and <=110% - - S - 213 306
>110% and <=130% SR ‘ - 15 134
>130% : : ‘ ‘ 124 . 88
Total . L _ o ' ' 2,159 2,134

" Total portfolio average by LTV = - R 5 74.0% _73.0% -

" The increase in >130% average LTV by exposure is due to the .utilisation of new. UK House Price Index for Northern
. lrelangd. . ‘

.Sector and geographical concentration

Credit risk assets by /ndustry and geography ‘
Industry analysns plays an important part in assessing the potent»al for concentration risk in the loan portfoho Particular
attention is given to industry sectors where the Group believes there'is a high degree of risk or potential for volatility in the
future. The tables below analyse credit nsk assets. by industry sector ‘and geographlcal region (based on location of
“transaction office) and sector: :

Group

Gross loans:
"and advances . .
tobanksand - . W Netting and
' ' - customers - - Derivatives -~ == Total offset
2016 . - £m _ fm . fm . €m
Uk - . : - L
.Central and local government S i3 - - 13 ‘ o
Manufacturing © - 263 1 264 : 6
Construction - ' : - 50 - 50 9
Finance ’ 5,430 S 3 5,433 ' -
. Service industries and business actlvmes , - 464° 1 465 31
. Agriculture, forestry and f|sh|ng o B 237 L - . 1237 : 48
Property S - ' 329 __— - ; 329 7
Individuals i : , o E ' ‘ S
Home mortgages 4 2,236 - : 2,236 -
Other . ~ ' 4 . 226 . 226 oA
Interest accruals . e 5 - ) 5 : o -
: o 9,253 v 5 9,258 102

For noIes relating to this table refer to page 85. -
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.25, Rlsk management - credlt risk (contmued)
‘Sector and geographical concentratlons (continued)

Credit risk assefs by industrj/ and geography (continued)

" Group

Gross loans Debt
. and advances securities
to banks and and equity : Nettnng and
o customers shares Derivatives Total. ' offset
2015 : : ' £m £m £m £m £m
UK ‘ ' '
Central and local government . 14 - - 14 - -
Manutfacturing o 323 - - 323 6
Construction . 144 - - 144 25 -
Finance . - - . 7,561 - 2 7,563 L
Service industries and business activities - 589 - 1 590 36
Agriculture, foréstry and fishing i 248 . - 248 34
Property o ' . 865 - - 865
Individuals L '
Home mortgages o : 12,223 - - 2,223 -
Other . . ’ ' 281 - - 281 -
" Interest accruals I 6 - - 6 -
TotalUK .~ . .~ 120254 . 3 12,257 . 106
Republic of Ireland . . .
Central and local government ’ . ’ 31 1,894 - 1,925 -
Manufacturing -~ 520 - 3. 523 6
Construction A A 350 - 2 352 18
~ Finance - ' . 2,087 - 562 2,649 -
Service industries and busmess activities’ '2,542 - 47 2,589 61
© Agriculture, forestry and fishing - ' : 459 - Lo- 459 .16
Property - : : ‘ 1,388 - 1 1,389 2
Individuals .
Home mortgages - - ‘ 13,770 - - 13,770 -
Other ’ 321 - 9 330 -
Interest accruals : . 17 - - 17 -
Total Republic of Ireland - 21,485 1,894 624 24,003 ‘103
Total . _ -
Central and local government ' - 45 1,894 - 1,939 -
Manufacturing ‘ 843 - 3 846 12
Construction = _ 494 - 2 496 43
Finance C C ‘9,648 CL- 564 10,212 -
Service industries and busmess actnvmes 3,131 - . 48 3,179, 97
Agriculture, forestry and flshlng ‘ 707 . - - 707 50
Property " 2,253 - 1 2,254
* Individuals - ' - :
Home mortgages , : " 15,993 - - 15,993 -
Other . - - , 602 S 9 - 611 -
Interest accruals . - A . 23 - ’ - 23’ -
33,739 1,894 B ‘627.. 36,260

209 .

(1) This column shows the amount by which the Group’s credit risk exposures is reduced through amangements, such as master netting agreements, which give the Group a legal *
right to set-off the financial asset against a financial liability due to the same counterparty. In addition, the Group holds collateral in respect of individual loans and advances to
banks and customers. This collateral includes morgages over property (both personal and commercial); charges over business assets such as plant, inventories and trade
receivables; and guarantees of Iendmg from parties other than the borrower. The Group obtains collateral in the form of securities in reverse repurchase agresments. Cash and

secunnas are recelved as collateral in respect of derivative transactions. °
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25. Risk managemeni - credit risk (qontinued)-

. Sector and geographical concentrations (continued)

. “Credit riékassets by industry and geography (cont/"nued)

Bank.

£m- -

Gross loans
and advances_ .
to banks and Netting and
A customers Derivatives- Total offset
© 2016 . - £m ' £m £m
UK o
Central and local government 13 - 13 -
- Manufacturing 263 - 1 264 5
Construction - 50 - 50 9
Finance 6,029 5 -6,034 -
Service industries and business activities 464 1 465 31
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 237 - 237 48
Property : 330 . - 330 7
Individuals - L : ‘ -
Home mortgages 2,236 - 2,236 -
. Other 190 - - 190 1
Interest accruals 5 - 5 -
- 9,817 . 7 9,824 101
- Bank
Gross loans.
and advances
to banks and Nemng and
S . ‘customers Derivatives Total offset™
- 2015 ' £m £m _Em - £m
UK , _ .
Central and local government: 14 - - 14, -
Manufacturing 316 - 316 6
Construction 104 - 104 24
- Finance 7,233 2 7,235 -
Serwce industries and busuness activities 507 1 508 35
, Agnculture, forestry and fishing 248 - 248 34
Property 618 - 618 - 5
Individuals ‘
Home mortgages 2,223 . 2,223 - -
Other , ) 219 - 219 -
Interest accruals 6 - "6 -
' 11,488 3 11,491 - 104 -

(1) This column shows the amount by which the Banl(s credit risk exposures is reduced through arrangements, such as master nemng agreements, which give the Bank a legal right
1o set-off the financial asset against a financial liability due to the same counterparty. In addition, the Bank holds collateral in respect of individual loans and advances to banks and
customers. This coltateral includes mortgages over property (both personal and commercial); charges over business assets such as plant, inventories and trade receivables; and
guarantees of lending from parties other than the borrower. The Bank obtams collateral in the form of securities in reverse repurchase agreements. Cash and securities are .

. received as collateral in respect of derivative transactions.
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| Market risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss as a result of adverse changes in market factors. The risk factors include interest -
- -rates, foreign currency and equity prices together with related parameters such as market volatilities.

The principal market risks: to which the Group is exposed are interest rate and foreign exchange risks. The Group
‘manages market risk within its trading and non-trading portfolios through a comprehensive market risk management
- framework. This framework includes limits based.on, but not limited to Value at Risk (“VaR”), scenario analysrs position
and sensitivity analysis. The Group in conjunction with RBS Market Risk and Treasury annually agree sub limits-based on
the Group’s approved market risk appetite.

Risk appetite is. expressed in the form’ of a combination of VaR, sensitivity and scenario limits. VaR is a technique that

" produces estimates of the potential change in the market value of a portfolio over a specified time horizon .at given
confidence levels. For internal risk management purposes, the. Group’s VaR model assumes a time horizon of one trading
day and confidence level of 99% and calculates VaR using historical simulation based on the previous 500 trading days
of market data. The model calculates both general market risk (the risk due to movement in general market benchmarks)
and-idiosyncratic market risk (the risk due to movements in the value of securities by reference to specific issuers). The
Group-VaR should be interpreted in light of the limitations of the methodology used as foliows:

* Historical simulation VaR may not provide the best estimate of tuture market movements. it can only provide a

prediction of the future based on events that occurred in the time series horizon. Therefore, events that are more ‘-

severe than those in the historical data series cannot be predicted;

e VaR that uses a 99% confidence level does not reflect the extent of potential losses beyond that percentile;

e VaR that uses a one-day time horizon will not fully capture the protlt or.loss |mp||cat|ons of positions that cannot be
liquidated or hedged within one day; and

e  The Group computes the VaR of trading portfohos and non-trading Treasury money market and liquid asset portfolios -
at the close of busmess Treasury structural interest rate risk VaR is computed monthly. »

These limitations mean that the Group cannot guarantee that losses will not exceed the VaR. A ‘Risks not in VaR’
framework has been developed to address.those market risks not adequately captured by the market standard VaR -

e methodology. Where risks ‘are not included in the model, various non-VaR controls (for example position monltonng,

sensitivity limits, trlggers or stress limits) are in place.

(i) Tradmg portfolios '
The Group eliminates its market risk in these portfolios by entering into back to-back positions with The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc. . . .

- (il Non-trading :
- The principal market risks anslng from the Groups non-trading activities are mterest rate.risk and torelgn exchange nsk
Non-trading risk is managed by Treasury, and arises from mismatches between the repnctng of assets and liabilities in its
- wholesale markets, retail business and commercral bank. :

- The total VaR for the Group’s dealing is presented in the table below:

31 December 2016 Maximum . Minimum .  ° Average

: ’ ..~ fm “£m £m_ £m

Value-at-Risk . .05 0.7 01 0.4
31.December 2015 Maximum Minimum . Average

: ‘ ' o £m " fm . Em , £m.
Value-at-Risk T 03 04 01 .03

87



.

ULSTER BANK LIMITED .

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016
25. Risk management - market risk (contrnued)

Interest Rate VaR ' _
The Interest Rate VaR limit is a sub limit of the Total VaR limit'and is monitored daily.

Interest Rate VaR is presented in the table below: -

31.December 2016 Maximum Minimum . Average

: . £m £m £m £m
Value-at-Risk ' . 05 07 - 01 0.4
31 December 2015 Maximum - Minimum - . Average

£m . Em £m £m

Value-at-Risk = : 0.3 0.4 : 0.1 0.3

Treasury interest rate risk -

The Group’s portfolro of non-trading financial instruments principally comprlses retarl and commercial banking loans and
deposits, debt securrlles issued, capital and hedging instruments.

Non- tradrng interest rate risk is calculated either on the basis of contractual maturity or by establrshlng the repricing
. behaviour of each asset, liability and off-balance sheet product. For many products, the actual interest rate repricing

characteristics differ from the contractual repricing. In most cases, the repricing maturity is determined by the market

interest rate that most closely fits the historical behaviour of the product interest rate. For example with non-interest-

bearing current accounts, the repricing maturity is determined by the stability of the portfolio. The repricing maturities

used are approved by ALCO at least annually. Key conventions are reviewed annually by ALCO. Short-term exposures
. are reviewed in terms of net interest income sensitivity over 12 months to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates. Risk
is managed through arm’s length cash transactions, bonds and derivatives, principally interest rate swaps.

A static maturity gap report is produced as at the month-end, in each functional currency based on the behaviouralised
repricing or contractual maturity for each product. It is Group policy to include in the gap report non-financial assets and
liabilities, mainly property, plant and equipment and the Group’s capital and reserves, spread over medium and longer
term maturities. This report also includes hedge transactrons principally derivatives.

Any residual non- tradrng interest rate exposures are controlled by limiting repricing mismatches in the balance sheets.
" Potential exposures to interest rate movements in-the medium to long term are measured and controlied using-a version
of the same VaR methodology that is used for the Group’s trading portfolios but without discount factors. Net accrual )
income. exposures are measured and controlled in terms of sensitivity over time to movements in interest rates.

Risk is managed wrthrn VaR limits approved by ALCO through the exécution of cash and derivative’ instruments. -
- Execution of the hedging is carried out by the Groups Treasury function. The residual risk position is reported to ALCO
on a monthly basis. .

Prrncrpal amounts only are included. Average balances are used for products where this is considered to provi’de a more
accurate representation of the exposure. A separate ladder is produced for each raterial currency.

Option risk in the non-trading businesses principally occurs in certain fixed rate assets and liabilities. It arises where
businesses undertake to provide funding to, or to accept deposits from, customers at a future date at a pre-determined
fixed interest rate. Derivatives are used to manage the risk of interest rate movements from the .date a commitment is
made to a customer to the date the transaction closes. Option risk also arises where customers can repay fixed rate loans
or withdraw fixed rate deposits prior to their maturity. In managing this risk, historic early repayment rates are taken into
account. .

The Group generally seeks to protect itself from early repaymentrisk through the »imposivtion of contract breakage' fees.
Foreign exchange risk ' '

Foreign exchange risk in the banking book represents exposures to changes in the values of current holdings and future
cash flows denominated in other currencies. Hedging instruments used to mitigate these risks include foreign currency -
options, currency swaps, futures, forwards and deposits. Foreign exchange risk results from the Group's investments in
overseas-subsidiaries, associates and branches in three principal forms: .

e Structural foreign currency exposures that arise from net investment in overseas subsidiaries, associates and
branches;

+ Transactional/commercial foreign currency exposures that arise from mrsmatches in the currency balance sheet; and

" e Foreign currency profit streams. . ‘
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25. Risk management - market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (contmued)

The Group does not maintain material non- tradlng open currency posmons other than the structurai foreign currency
translation exposures that arose from its investments in foreign subsidiaries and associated undertakings and their
related currency funding The Group’s policy in relation to structural positions was to match fund the structural foreign
currency exposure arising from net asset value, .including goodwill, in foreign subsidiaries, equity accounted investments
and branches, except where doing so would materially increase the sensitivity.of either the Group’s or the subsidiaries
regulatory capital ratios to currency movements. The pohcy requnres structural foreign exchange positions to be reviewed
regularly by ALCO. .

Foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations are recognised directly in equity.

The table below sets out the Group’s structural foreign currency exposures as at 31 December:

2016

_ Structural

Net assets of ' ) foreign

overseas  Minority Net Currency Economic currency

investment interest investments borrowings ~ hedges exposures

fm £m £m £m £m £m

Euro _ Co " 5,205 (1) 5,204 (429)  ..(1,329) 3,446
2015

. : Structural

Net assets of ) . foreign

overseas Minority Net Currency Economic currency

investment interest investments  borrowings hedges exposures

£m £m ‘£m £m £m £m

Euro o 5,502 - ' (1) 5,501 ~(305) (1,202) 3,994

At 31 December 2016, a 5% strengthening of foreign currencies would have resulted in a structural foreign currency gain
of £172m in equity (2015: £215m) and a 5% weakening of forelgn currencies would have resulted in a structural foreign
currency Ioss of £172m in equity (2015: £215m).

Changes in foreign exchange rates affect the Group’s earnings and equity through differences on the retranslation of the
net assets and related funding of overseas subsidiaries from the local functional currency to Sterling. Gains or losses on
foreign currency investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings are recognised in reserves. In 2016, exchange
gains of £917m (2015: exchange losses of £278m) have been taken directly to reserves.

On 1 January 2017, the. Group sold UBIH ‘and its subsidiaries. Consequently, whilst not entirely eliminating structural
foreign exchange risk, the Group no longer holds a structural foreign currency. exposure on its investments in foreign
" subsidiaries and assomated undertakmgs .

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations, including financing wholesale maturities
or customer deposit withdrawals as and when they fall due. Liquidity risk is highly dependent on company specific
characteristics such as the maturity profile and composition of the Group’s asset and liabilities, the quality and marketable -
value of its liquidity buffer and broader market factors, such as wholesale market conditions alongside depositor and
investor behaviour. :

Policy, framework and governance
The Group has in place a comprehensive set of policies to manage llqu1d|ty nsk that reilect best market practice and

complies with prevailing regulatory strictures

These pol|C|es are deS|gned to address three broad issues which ensure that

« the Group maintains adequate liquidity resources to meet liabilities as and when they fall due;
the Group maintains an adequate liquidity buffer appropriate to the business activities of the Group and their risk
“profile; and

e the Group has in place robust strategies, policies, systems and procedures for identitying, measuring, monitonng and
managing liquidity risk.
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Policy, framework and governance (continued)

At their simplest, these policiés determine the sources of liquidity risk and the steps the Group can take when these risks
exceed certain tolerances. These include, not only, when and how to use the Group’s liquidity buffer but also what other
adjustments to the Group’s balance sheet could be undertaken to manage these risks back within Group appetite. These
policies are reviewed at least annually, or more frequently ‘if the Group’s own liquidity position changes, or if market
conditions.and/or reguiatory rules warrant further amendment or refinement.

Guided by ALCO, the Bank’s Board of directors are responsible for defining and approving the Group’s liquidity policy and
‘high level, risk appetite setting acceptable parameters and risk limits that align with the overall RBS standard and risk
appetite. The Group’s liquidity buffer is managed by Treasury which monitors and controls the Groups fundlng and
liquidity’ posmon .

Regulatory oversrght

- The Group operates in the United ngdom and is subject to regulatory oversight in that jurisdiction. The . Group’s lead
regulators are the Prudential Regulatory Authority ("PRA") and the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). The PRA is the
. consolidated supervisor of RBS Group. and is responsible for promoting the safety and soundness of systemically
important financial institutions in the UK. The FCA provides regulatory oversight over the Group's liquidity management.
" In June 2010 liquidity rules were introduced to provide a standardised approach for all UK banks. At an RBS Group level,
the rules focus on the UK Defined Liquidity Group (a subset comprising the RBS Group’s five UK banks: RBS, NatWest,
Ulster Bank' Limited, Coutts & Co pic and Adam & Co pic) and cover adequacy of liquidity resources, controls, stress .
testing and the Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment ("ILAA"). The ILAA informs the RBS Group Board and the FCA
of the assessment and quantification of the Group’s llqwdlty risks and their mitigation, and how much current and future
Ilqu1d|ty is required. ;

Liquidity measurement and momtormg

* Liquidity risk is measured and assessed on a daily basis at RBS Group level in compliance with regulatory requ1rements
The Group uses a set of internal metrics and analysis to assess liquidity risk including Liquidity Coverage Ratio, Net
Stable Funding Ratio, Additional Liquidity Monitoring Metrics. Maturity Mismatch Cash Flow, Stressed Outftows, Loan to
- Deposit Ratio and Asset Encumbrance. In addition to risk limits covering these metrics, deposit concentration and Foreign
Exchange Mismatch limits are set by ALCO and monitored via daily reporting. Liquidity risk performance reports are
reviewed by ALCO. Any breach or material deterioration of these metrics will set in motion a series of actions and
escalations that could lead to activation of the Recovery Plan. The Group maintains a Recovery Plan which forms the
* basis of analysis and management actions to be undertaken in a liquidity stress scenario

The Group'’s liquidity risk framework is subject to internal oversight, challenge and governance both at Board level and vra'
Risk and Internal Audlt control functions. The Group is also sublect to regulatory review and chailenge.

Stress testing .
Stress testing is used to help inform a broader understanding of liquidity risk as well as to model specific liquidity risk
- events;-for example the secession of a country from the European Union or withdrawal from the Eurozone.

The Group actively monitors a range of market and firm specific indicators on an ongoing basis which are designed to act
as early warning indicators that liquidity stresses are emerging. Some of these indicators will be based.upon actual
performance of the business against pre-agreed limits, for example customer deposit outflows. Others will be based
around general or specific market movements.

Stress tests can therefore be run on an ad hoc basis in response to the emergence of one of these risks.

Scenarios include assumptlons about significant changes in key funding sources, external credit ratings, contingent uses
of funding and political and economic conditions or events in particular countries. Stress scenarios are applied to both on- .
balance sheet instruments and off-batance sheet activities to provide a comprehensive view of potential cash flows.

In determining the adequacy of the Group’s liquidity resources the Group focuses on the stressed outflows that it could
anticipate experiencing as a result of any stress scenario occurring. These outflows are measured as occurring over
certain time periods which extend from any given day, out to two weeks or to as long as three months. The Group is -
expected to be able to withstand these stressed outflows through its own resources (principally the use of the liquidity
buffer) over these time horizons without having to revert to extraordinary central bank or government assistance. ¢

Stress. tests are augmented from timeto time to reflect firm specific or emerging market risks that could have a material
impact on the Group’s liquidity position. :

The results of stress testing are an active part of balance sheet management and strategy and also inform allocation;

. target-and limit discussions. In short, limits in the business-as-usual envnronment are bounded by capacrty to satlsfy the
Group’s liquidity needs in the stress environments. -
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Balance sheet composition

The Group’s balance sheet composition i$ a functlon of product offerings-and diverse markets served. The structural
composition of the balance sheet is enhanced as needed through active management of both asset and liability portfolios.
The objective of these activities is to optimise liquidity transformation in normal busmess environments, while ensuring
adequate coverage of all cash requirements under extreme stress conditions. ., .

The Group also accesses professional markets funding by way of public and private debt issuances on an unsecured and
secured basis. These debt issuance programmes ate spread across multiple currencies and maturities, to appeal to a
broad range of investor types and preferences around the world. This market-based funding supplements the Group’s
structural liquidity needs and, in some cases, achieves certain capital objecllves :

" The Group is part of RBS Group and a contingency fundlng support agreement is in place.

Contractual matunty

The tables below analyse the contractual undlscounted cash flows receivable and payable up to a period of twenty years

. including future receipts and payments of interest on the balance sheet items by contractual maturity. The balances in the
tables below do not agree directly to the Group or Bank balance sheet as the tables mclude all cash flows relating to

principal and future coupon payments presented on an undiscounted basis. . _

Gr‘oup;l ) .
0-3 3-12 . 1-3 3-5 5-10 ~ 10-20
i : ) months . = months ‘years years . years .years
2016 ) . - £m - £m £m £m £m ) £m
Assets by contractual maturity " . : ' -
" Cash and balances at central banks - 1,012 - ' - e . Co-
. Loans and advances to banks - - 3,449 400 ' 732 . 821 - T
Total maturing assets : 4,461 400 732 821 -
Loans and advances to customers 627 ’ 410 788 ) 569 965 1,004
Total assets 5,088 ' 810 . 1,520 1,390 965 1,004
Liabilities by contractual matunty .o . ] .
_ Deposits by banks , .. 2370 250 390 . 40 15 -
Subordinated liabilities _ _ 1 346 103 .. 155 242 5
" Other liabilities 752 - . - - . .
Total maturing liabilities - 3,128 - 596 493 195 . = 257 - 5
* © Customer accounts 5,427 . 230 70 - - - -
© Total liabilities. L 8,550 -~ 826 563 195 257 5.
Maturity gap. ' _ : (3,462) (16) 957 - . 1,195. . 708 - 999
Cumulative maturity gap - (3,462) (3,478) (2,521) (1,326) - (618) 381 .
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25. 'Risk managemenf - liquidity risk (continued)

~ Contractual maturity (continued)

92

‘Group
0-3 - 3-12 -3 - 35 . 5-10 10-20
. months months years . years years years.
2015 __fm_ fm £m’ £m’ £m £m
Assets by contractual maturity - , ’
Cash and balances at central banks 868 - <. - .- - -
Loans and advances to banks 6,114 546 1,697 1,127 . - -
Debt securities o - 387 955 577 Co . ]
Total maturing assets ' 7,369 1,501 2,274 1,427 - Lo
Loans and advances to customers 2,268 1,500 - 3,701 3,483 5,808 6,446
Total assets » 9,637 3,001 . 5,975 4,610 5,808 6,446
Liabilities by contractual maturity A S
Deposits by banks " 3,625 926 100 175 - -
Debt securities in issue - 30 84 198 167 315° 357
Subordinated liabilities 3 7 310 - 245 304 74
Other liabilities ___ 687 - ’ - - - -
Total maturing liabilities 4,245 1,017 608 -~ 587 619 431
Customer accounts 116,026 1928 . 905 127 - =
Total liabilities - 20,271 2,945 1,513 714 - 619 431
Maturity gap (10,634) - 56 4,462 3,896 5,189 6,015
Cumulative maturity gap ©{10,634) (10,578) (6,i 16). (2,220) 2,969 8,984
. Bank. ] A
. 0-3 3-12 1-3 . 35 5-10 10-20
: ‘months months years - years years years
2016 £m £m - £m - £m £m £m
Assets by contractual maturity '
Cash and balances at central banks 1,012 - - C - - -
Loans and advances to banks 3,541 400 766 851 377 - -
_Total maturing assets’ 4,553 400 766 851 377 -
- Loans and advances to customers . 696 410 788 - 569 - 965 - 1,004
Total assets- ‘ 5,249 810 1,554 - 1,420 1,342 1,004
Liabilities by contractual maturity A ‘
Deposits by banks -+ " 2,404 250 . 390 . 40 15 - -
Debt securities in issue - - - - - -
Subordinated liabilities 1 346 103 ) 155 242 5
Other liabilities 752 - - ‘ - .- -
Total maturing liabilities . 3,157 596 493 195 - 257 "5
Customer accounts 5,465 .230 70 - - -
Total fiabilities . 8,622 826 563 - 195 257 5
Maturity gap- - (3,373) (16) ~© 991 1,225 1,085 999
Cumulative maturity gap - - (3,373)  (3,389) (2,398) {1,173) (88) 911
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25. Risk maﬁagement - liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity (continued)

Bank

03 3-12 1-3 3-5 5-10 10-20 .
months months years years years years -
2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets by contractual maturity B
- Cash and balances at central banks 616 - - : - - -
Loans and advances to banks 3,459 554 1,697 1,127 331 -
Total maturing assets 4,075, 554 1,697 1,127 331 .
Loans and advances to customers 711 316 754 711 © 1,093 1,063
Total assets 4,786 870 2,451 1,838 1,424 * 1,063
Liabilities by contractual matumy ) ‘
Deposits by banks 3,553 175 100 175 - -
Debt securities in issue 1 - - - - -
Subordinated liabilities 1 4 302 - 236 210 6
- Other liabilities 687 - - - - oo -
Total maturing liabilities 4,242 179 402 411. 210 6 -
Customer accounts 5,605 . 290 55 10 2 -
Total liabilities 9,747 469 457 421 212 - 6
Maturity gap (4,961) 401 1,994 1,417 1,212 1,057
Cumulative maturity gap (4,961) (4,560)- (2,566) (1,149) . 63 1,120 -

The contractual maturity of balance sheet assets and liabilities reflects the maturity transformation role banks perform,
. lending long-term but obtaining funding predominantly through short-term liabilities such as customer deposits. In.

‘practice, the behavioural profiles of many liabilities exhibit greater stability and longer maturity than the contractual
maturity. This is particularly. true of many types of retail and corporate deposits which, despite being repayabie on
demand or at short notice, have demonstrated very stable characteristics even in periods of acute stress. In analysis to
" assess and manage asset and liability maturity gaps the Group determines the expected customer behaviour through
qualitative and quantitative techniques, incorporating observed customer behaviours over long periods of time. This
“analysis is subject to-governance through ALCO.

'Other contractual cash obligations

Group
03 3-12. 1-3 ' 3-5 5-10 - 10-20
months  months . years years ‘years years
2016 £m £m - -E£m £m £m £m
Operating leases’ - 2 2 1 1 1

" Contractual obligations to purchase goods or ,

services - 1 2 - - -
- 3 . 4. 1 1 1

Group

0-3 3-12 ©1-3 3-5 5-10 10-20 -
months . months years years years years
2015 “£m £m .. £m £m £m £m
Operating leases ‘ . 5 12 27 15 17 10
Contractual obligations to purchase goods or '

services - 2 5 5 - -
5 14 - 32 20 17 10
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" 25.° Risk management - liquidity risk (eontinued)

Other contractual cash obligations (continued) .
‘ ' Bank

03 3-12- 1-3 35 5-10  10-20
o ) : months months  .years years - years  years
2016 - ' ’ £m £m ~_fm ~__Em £m. £m -
Operating leases : ' - 2 .2 1 1
Contractual obligations to purchase goods or _ o
services - - - 1. 2 - - -
' - 3 ' 1 1 1
. Bank A _
- 0-3 3-12 -3 35 510  10-20
_ . : . months . months - years .. years _ years _years
2015- - : ~_fm - £m fm . .fm fm___ fm .
Operating leases - : ' , 1 i 1 L. 1
Contractual obhgatlons to purchase goods or . i . o
serwces : - 1 2 2 - - -
2 2 3 . 3 1 1

Financial assets have been reflected in the time band of the latest date ‘on which they could be repaid uniess earlier
repayment can be demanded by the Group; financial liabilities are included at the earliest date on which the counterparty :
can require repayment regardless of whether or not such early repayment results in a penalty.

If the repayment of a financial asset or hablhty is triggered by, or is subject to, specmc criteria such as market price
hurdles being reached, the asset is included in the latest date on which it can repay regardless of early repayment
whereas the liability is included at the earliest possible date that the conditions could be fulfilled without considering the
probability of the conditions being met. For example, if a structured note is automatically prepaid when an equity index
. exceeds a certain level, the cash outflow will be included in the less than three months period whatever the level of the
index at the year end. The settlement date of debt securities in issue issued by certain securitisation vehiclés
consolidated by the Group depends on when cash flows are received from the securitised assets. Where these assets
are prepayable, the timing of the cash outflow relating to securities assumes that each asset will be prepaid at the earliest
possible date. As the repayment of assets and liabilities are linked, the repayment of assets in securitisations are shown
on the earliest date that the asset can be prepaid as thls is the basis used for liabilities. .

. The principal amounts of financial assets and liabilities that are repayable after 20 years or where the counterparty hasno
right to repayment of the’ pnncrpal are excluded from the table as are interest payments after 20 years.

Conduct and Regulatory risk

Conduct and regulatory risk is the risk that the behaviour-of the Group and its staff towards customers, or in the markets
in which it operates, leads to unfair or inappropriate customer.outcomes arid results in reputational damage, financial loss
or.both. The damage or loss may be the result of a failure to comply with (or adequately plan for changes to) relevant
official sector policy, Iaws regulatlons or major industry standards, or of failing to meet customers’ or regulators :
expectatlons

Sources of risk : :

Conduct and regulatory risk exists across all stages of the Group'’s relatlonshlps with its customers, from the developmem
of its busmess strategies, through governance arrangements, to post-sales processes. The activities through which
conduct risk may arise are diverse and include product design, marketing and sales, complaint handling, staff training,
and handling of confidential Inside Information. Conduct risk also exists if the: Group does not take effective action to
prevent fraud, bribery and money laundering. Regulatory risk arises from the regulatory, business or operatmg
- environment and from the Group's response fo it.

Governance - .

Conduct & Regulatory - Affairs ("C&RA") is responsible for .defining appropriate standards of conduct and driving .
* adherence to them, designing the framework for managing conduct and regulatory risk, and overseeing remediation

activity. The Board and its senior committees receive updates on conduct risk exposures and action plans through regular

reportmg : .
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Conduct and Reguiatory risk (continued)

Controls and assurance -

Risk assessments are used to identify material conduct risks and lmplement key controls across all busmess areas. The
risk assessment process is designed to confirm that risks are effectively managed and prioritised, as well as ensure
- controls are tested. Scenario analysis is used to assess the impact of extreme but pIausmle conduct risks including
financial crime.

Risk appetite .
The conduct risk appetlte framework has now been embedded and the Conduct Performance Assessment, which forms
part of it, facilitates a consistent approach across the Bank for assessing conduct and regulatory risk. Risk Appetite
Statements articulate the levels of risk which must not be exceeded Where areas are operatlng outside of appetite, the
problems are addressed through agreed risk mitigation plans

" Risk monitoring and measurement
C&RA reports on the most material conduct matters including conduct risk exposures and action plans to the approprlate
committees, |ncludmg the Board, the Group Audit Committee and Board Rlsk Commlttee

.‘Reputahonal rrsk

Reputational risk is the risk of brand damage and/or, financial loss due to a failure to meet stakeholders’ expectations of
the Group’s conduct and performance. Stakeholders include customers, investors, rating agencies, employees, suppliers,
government, politicians, regulators, special interest groups, consumer groups, media and the general public. Brand .
damage can be detrimental to the business in a number of ways, including an inability to build or sustain business

relatnonshlps low staff morale or reduced access to funding sources. :

The Group has put the focus on serving customers well at the heart of its strategic objectlves that, combined with a safe
and sound Group, will build a culture and reputation in line with our stakeholder expectations. There are still legacy issues
to work through, but dealing with thém in an open and direct manner is a necessary part of the ability to move forward.

Risk management and mitigation

The Board has ultimate responsibility for managing the Group’s reputation, though all parts of the Group .have
responsibility for any reputational impact arising from. their operations. The Board’'s oversight of reputational risk is
reinforced by an RBS-wide Reputational Risk policy framework comprising' reputational risk'committees in franchises
. designed to opine on cases and issues that present a heightened reputational risk. These are supported by a senior RBS-
wide Reputational Risk Forum which opines on cases that represent a material reputational risk to the whole organisation.
~ The framework has improved the identification, assessment and management of customers and issues that present a
_reputational risk, resulting in a greater awareness and focus on the importance of managing this risk. Reputational risk is
further mitigatéd through ongoing training to ensure early identification, assessment and escalation of material issues..

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resultmg from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from
external events. It arises from day to day operatlons and is relevant to every aspect of the Group’s business.

The Group aims to drive the design, ‘development, delivery and awareness of an mtegrated framework for the
management of operational risk. The aim is to ensure the risks facing the Group are managed proactively and
comprehensively in a-manner that shapes and supports the effective delivery of the Group’s strategy. Strategies to
‘manage operatlonal risk include avoidance, transfer, acceptance and mitigation by controls

The Group’s policy framework provides the.dlrectlon for delivering effective operational risk management _and ensures the
consistent identification, assessment, management, monitoring and reporting of operalidna! risk across the Group. '

Operational risk appeme policy and frameworks are tabled regularly at the Executive Risk Committee to satisfy. oversxght
responsubnlmes and, as appropriate; to other senior committees.
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Pension rrsk

Pension risk is the risk to the Group arising from its contractual or other Ilabrlmes to, or with respect to its pensron
schemes whether established for its employees or for those of a related company :

The Group is exposed to risk from its defined-benefit pension schemes to the extent that the assets of the schemes do
not fully match the timing and amount of the schemes’ liabilities. Pension scheme liabilities vary with chan‘ges to fong- -
term interest rates, inflation, pensionable salaries and the longevity of scheme members as well as'changes in legislation.
~ Ultimate responsibility for the Group’s pension schemes is separate from Group management. The Group is exposed to

therisk that the market value of the schemes’ assets, together with future returns and any additional future contributions
could be considered insufficient to meet the liabilities as they fall due. In such circumstances, the Group could be obliged,
or may choose, to make addrtronal contributions to the schemes or be requrred to hold additional caprtal to mitigate such
. risk. .

The UBPS scheme operates under a trust deed under which the corporate trustee is a wholly owned subsidiary of the,
Group. The trustee board comprises six directors selected by the Group and three directors nominated by members. -

Risk appetite and investment policy are agreed by the trustees with quantitative and qualitative input from the scheme
actuaries and investment advisers. The trustees also consult with the Group to obtain its view on the appropriate level of
risk within the pension funds. The Group mdependently monitors risk within its pension funds as part of the Internal’
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process.

The trustee board is solely responsible for the investment of the schemes’ assets which are held separately from the
assets of the Group: The Group and the trustee board must agree on the investment principles and the fundirig plan.
Investment Review Committees are in place for each of the schemes, compnsmg Bank and Trustee representatlves
which have specific responsmrhty for scheme investment matters.’ . .

The scheme is invested in drversmed ponfollos of quoted and private equity, government and corporate fixed-interest and
" index-linked bonds, and other assets including property; derivatives and hedge funds.

In November 2009 the scheme was closed to new employees

During 2016 (and concluding in early February 2017) the terms of the 31 December 2015 funding valuation of the UBPS

" were agreed with the Trustee. This resulted in the cessation of deficit recovery contributions from the bank. Contributions -

to cover the ongoing accrual of benefits by employees and the expenses of the pension scheme continue.
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26. Memorandum |tems
_ Contingent liabilities and commitments

The amounts shown in the table below are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of business outstanding at
. 31:December 2016. Although the Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance of the.obligations

undertaken by customers, the amounts shown do not, and are not intended to, provide: any indication of the Groups
expectation of future losses. . .

Group . - Bank
2016 - 2015 © 2016 2015

£m : £m £m _£m
Contingent liabilities: ’ ’
Guarantees and assets pledged as cotlaterat secunty 22 133 ' 22 : 26
Other contingent liabilities - . | 52 203 52 43

74 336 74 69
Commltments .
Documentary credits and other short-term trade related . )
transactions : ) o S 2 -4 7 2 1
Commitments to lend: A A " '

- less than one year . . 694 1,469 694 687
- one year and over ‘ . 264 1,637 © 264 1,270
Other commitments , ' . 8 . 73 : 8 - 6

‘ 968 3,183 968 1,964

Banking commitments and contingent obligations, which have been éntered into on behalf of customers and for which
‘there are corresponding obligations from customers, are not included in assets and liabilities. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit loss, in the event of non-performance by the other party and where all counterclaims, collateral or
security proves: valueless, is represented by the contractual nominal amount of these instruments included in the table.
These commitments and-contingent obligations are subject to the Group’s normal credit approval processes.

Contmgent Irabllltles ‘

Guarantees - the Group gives guarantees on behalf of customers. A fmanc:al guarantee represents an irrevocable
undertaking that the Group will meet a customer’s obligations to third partiés if the customer fails to do so. Thé maximum
amount that the Group could be required to pay under a guarantee is its principal amount as disclosed in the table above.
The Group expects most guarantees it provides to expire unused.

Other contingent liabilities - these include standby letters of. credlt supportmg customer debt issues and’ contlngent ’
liabilities relating to customer trading activities such as those arising from performance and customs bonds, warrantles
and indemnities. :

Commitments’

Commitments to lend - under a loan commitment the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future.
Loan commitments, which are usually for a specified term may be unconditionally cancellable or may persist, provided all
conditions in the loan facility are satisfied or waived. Commitments to lend include commercial standby facilities and credit
lines, I|qU|d|ty facilities to commercial paper conduits and unutilised overdraft facilities.

Other commitments - these include documentary'credits, which are cornmerciat letters of credit providing for payment by
the Group to a named beneficiary against presentation of specified documents, forward asset purchases, forward
deposits placed and undrawn note issuance and revolvmg underwriting facmtles documentary credits and other short-
term trade related transactions.

The following table shows contractual obligations for future expenditure not provided for in the financial statements at the
year end:

Group . - Bank,
2016 2015 - 2016 2015
£m : £m ' £m £m
Property, plant and equipment '
Other capital expenditure - 1 - 1
Contracts to purchase goods or services 3 12 .3 4
o ‘ 3 - 13 3 5
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' 26. Memorandum items (continued)
ngatlon and investigations .

The Group is involved in litigation, investigations and reviews in the Unrted Kingdom and the Repubhc of Ireland. Other
than as set out below, the litigation involves claims by and against Group companies which arise in the ordinary course of
business. No material adverse effect on the net assels of e Group is expected to arisc from the ultimate resolution of
these claims. The material litigation, investigations and reviews involving the Group are described below. These matters.
could, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Group's consolidated net assets, operating
results. or cash flows in-any particular period. ‘

"FCA review of RBS’s treatment of SMEs
in November 2013, a report by Lawrence Tomlinson, entrepreneur in residence at the UK Government's Department for -
Business Innovation and Skills, was published (“Tomlinson Report”) The Tomlinson Report was critical of RBS’s

: treatment of SMEs

The Tomlrnson Report was passed to the PRA and FCA Shortly thereafter, the FCA announced that an rndependent
Skilled Person would be appointed under section 166 of the Financial Services and Markets Act to review the allegations
in the Tomlinson Report. On 17 January 2014, a Skilled Person was appointed. The Skilled Person’s review was focused
on RBS’s UK small and medium sized business customers with credit exposures of up to £20 million whose relationship

" was managed within RBS’s Global Restructuring Group or within similar units within RBS’s Corporate.Banking Division
that were focused on customers in financial difficulties. in the perlod 2008 to 2013 RBS was one of the Ieadrng provrders
of credit to the UK SME sector.

Separately, in November 2013, RBS instructed the law firm Clifford Chance to conduct an independent review of the
principal ‘allegation made in the Tomlinson Report: RBS was alleged to be culpable of systematic and institutional
behaviour in artificially distressing otherwise viable businesses and, through that, putting businesses into insolvency.
Clifford Chance published its report on 17 April 2014 and, while it made certain. recommendations to enhance customer
- experience and transparency of pricing, it concluded that there was no evidence to support the principal allegation.

" A separate independent review of the principal allegation led by Mason Hayes & Curran, 'Soticitors was conducted in the
Republic of ireland. The report was published in December 2014 and found no evrdence to. support the principal
allegation. .

The Skilled Person review focussed on the allegations made in the Tomlinson Report and certain observations made by
. *Sir Andrew Large in his 2013 Independent Lending Review, and was broader in scope than the.reviews undertaken by

" Clifford Chance and Mason, Hayes & Curran which are referred to above. The Skilled Person delivered the draft findings
from its review to the FCA in March 2016. RBS was then given the opportunity to consider and respond to those draft
findings before the Skilled Person delivered its final report to the FCA durrng September 2016.

On 8 November 2016, the FCA published an update on its revrew In response, RBS announced steps that will impact
SME customers in the UK and the Republic of Ireland that were in GRG between 2008 and 2013. These steps are (i) an
automatic refund of certain complex fees;.and (i) a new complaints process, overseen by an Independent Third Party.
These steps have been developed with the involvement of the FCA which agreed that they are appropriate for RBS to
take. .

The Group estimates the costs associated with the new-complaints review process and the automatic refund of complex
fees to be approximately £15m (continuing' operations: £6m, disposal group: £9m), which has been recognised as a
provision at 31 December 2016. This includes operational costs together with the cost of refunded complex fees and the
additional estimated redress costs arising from the new complaints process.

The FCA has announced that its review will continue. RBS and the Group continue to cooperate fully with the review.
CBI tracker mortgage review ‘

The CBI has written to Irish banks requiring lenders to conduct a complete review of their mortgage loan books (including
redeemed or sold loans as required) to assess compliance with both contractual and regulatory requirements relating to
tracker mortgages and in situations where customer detriment is identified from the review, provide appropriate redress
and compensation in order to ensure fair outcomes for customers. The request for a review was received by UBIDAC in a
* formal letter from the CBI on 22 December 2015. The review requires a detailed plan to be submitted followed by the
completion of monthly data templates. In addition UBIDAC is required to submit a final report that details the methodology
used in conducting the review and includes assurance and sign off by an independent party on all aspects of the work
carried out. The report must detail any findings on customer detriment and the proposals in respect of redress and
compensation where relevant. UBIDAC has booked a provision of £168m durrng the year based on the ‘expected costs
incurred in carrying out the review.

Separately, on 15 April 2016, the CBI notified UBIDAC that it was also commencing an investigation under its
Administrative Sanctions Procedure into suspected breaches of the Consumer Protection Code 2006 during the period 4
" August 2006 to 30 June 2008 in relation to certain customers who swrtched trom tracker mortgages to trxed rate
morigages. .
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26. Memorandum items (continued)
-Litigation and investigatidns (continued)
Anti-money laundering (“AML”) remediation

- . UBIDAC was engaged with the CBI in relation to a long-running AML remediation project. A settiement meeting was held
with the CBI and a fine of £2.7m has been paid in November 2016.

.The Financial Services Compensétion Scheme

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (“FSCS”), the: UK’s statutory fund of last resort for customers of

" authorised financial services firms, pays compensation if a firm is unable to meet its obligations. The FSCS funds’
compensation for customers by raising management expenses levies and compensation levies on the industry. In relation
to protected deposits, each deposit-taking institution contributes towards these levies in-proportion to their share of total
protected deposits on 31 December of the year preceding the scheme year (which runs from 1 April to 31 March), subject
to annual maxima set by the FCA. In addition, the FSCS: has the power to raise:levies on a firm that has ceased to
partncrpate in the scheme and is in the process of ceasing to be authorised for the costs that it would have been liable'to -

' pay had the FSCS made a levy in the fmancnal year it ceased to be a participant in the scheme

* FSCS has now repaid the loans taken out from HM Treasury for the Icesave, Kaupthing Slnger & Friedlander, Herltable :
Bank and London Scottish defaults through a combination of recoveries and levies. On 14 January 2016, FSCS received
£236m as a final distribution for Icesave payout. FSCS used £165m of these proceeds to make a third interim payment
relating to resolution costs- for Dunfermline Building Society. The total Dunfermline liability is expected to be capped at
- £578 million (less interest on interim payments) but 3 interim payments have now been made to HM Treasury totalling
£500 million. The final settlement date is still uncertain. The latest estimate of the final bill for Dunfermiine is £46m, and is
currently expected to be paid from cash balances and other recoveries. This would mean that no further levy would be
raised for Dunfermline costs

The only loan outstandlng is for Bradford & Brngley (B&B). The interest forecast on the loan for the 2016/17 year currently
stands at £353 million (2015/16: £337m). There total capital element levied on the industry in 2015/16 scheme was
£352million. There is nothing expected in 2016/17 for capital repayments. HM treasury are exploring sales of the B&B
mortgages with a view to repaying the FSCS debt owed by B&B allowing FSCS to repay the loan by the end of 2017/18

" The Group has accrued £1.03m for its share of estlmated FSCS levies for the 2016/17 scheme year
Capltal Support Deed -

The Bank together with other members of RBS, is party to a capital support deed (“CSD"). Under the terms of the CSD, -
the Bank may be required, if compatible with its legal obligations, to make distributions on, or repurchase or redeem, its
ordinary shares. The amount of this obligation is limited to the Bank’s capital resources in excess of the capital and
financial resources needed to meet its regulatory requirements.. The Bank may also be obliged to make onward
distribution to its ordinary shareholders of dividends or.other capital distributions received from subsidiaries that are party:
- to the CSD. The CSD also provides that, in certain circumstances, funding received by the Bank from other parties to the
CSD becomes immediately repayable, such repayment being limited to the Bank’s available resources.
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27. Net cash flow from operating activities

At.31 December

Group Bank
2016 2015 -2016 2015
£m © £m £m £m -
Net cash flows used in trading activities (1,754) (7,295) (377) . (1,589)
Decrease in loans and advances to o _
banks and customers 1,655 10,926 1,790 1,729
Decrease in debt securities 22 - 96 ! - 1
Decrease/(ihcrease) in other assets 19 (25) 11 (13)

- (Increase)/decrease in derivative-assets (226) . 30 4) 2
Changes in operating assets 1,470 11,027 1,797 1,719
Ihcrease/(decrease) in deposits' by banks and customers 2,493 (3,598) (999) (274)
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities . ' 4 - (53) 51 (12)
Increase/(decrease) in derivative liabiliies - 284 (132) - (13)

"' Changes in operating liabilities 2,781 (3,783) . {948) (299)

- Total taxes paid ‘ (8) (78) (@) (66)
Net cash flows from/(used’in) operating activities 2,489 - (129) 468 (235)
28. Interest received and paid

. Group Bank
2016 2015 2016 2015
£m £m £m £m -
Interest received .698 688 178 . 197

Interest paid (134) _ (209) (49) (61)

‘ 564 479 - 129 136
29. Analysis of ch’an‘gés in financing during the year
A Group .
Share capital and share Subordinated Debt securities
premium liabilities Inissue

2016 . 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 -

: “£m £m £m £m - £m £m
At 1 January. 2412. 2412 960 1,031 1,473 1,707
Net cash flows from financing o R - - (20) (538) (127)

. Currency translation and other o
adjustments : B - 141 (51) 244 (107)
Capital reduction (1,500) S - R ‘ - -
At 31 December 912 2,412 1,101 960 1,179 1,473

Bank '

Share capital and share Subordinated = _Debt securities

: " premium __liabilities - In issue

2016 2015 2016 2015 .2016 - 2015

£m £m £m - £m £m " fm

At 1 January 2,412 2,412 820 883 1 10

Net-cash flows from financing T - - (20) (1) 9)
Currency translation and other ' :

_ adjustments . - - - 119 (43) - -
Capital reduction .(1,500) - .- - .

912 2,412 -.939 820 - 1
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30. - Analysis of cash and cash equivalents , : .
‘ Group - Bank

2016 - 2015 2016 2015
£m’ £m , - fm : £m
At 1 January : . o : ' .
Cash - ‘ - - 1,209 - - 1,305 - - 618 648
Cash equivalents ) : : 5,788 ) 5,892 | 3,278 . 3,505
' SRR : 6,997 7197 . 3,896 - 4,153 .
Net cash inflow/(outflow) . : . 842 - - - (16) .+ 458 ' (235)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash y ‘ : '
equivalents A 794 ~(184) 57. - (22)
~ At 31 December R » ~ 8,633 6,997 4411 - 389
Comprising: . .
Cash and balances at central banks o o 1,012 868 1,012 616
Debt securities - . . ' . 129 - N
Loans and advances to banks - 3,399 6,000 3,399 3,280
Assets in disposal group _ - 4,222 ‘ - - - .-

31. Divisional analysis

On 1 January 2017, the -Group sold UBIH and its subsidiaries comprising the Group's Republic of Ireland operations to
NatWest Holdings Limited. ‘Accordingly UBIH has been classified as a disposal-group at 31 December 2016 and
presented as discontinued operations. Consequently, the continuing Group now operates entirely in the UK and is
managed by class of business and reports on a divisional basis as follows: "~

* The PBB division provndes loan and deposn products through a network of branches and direct channels to customers.

The CPB division provrdes services 'to commercial and corporate customers with an additional remit for private
customers.

-Other is central functions comp‘rising Group and corporate functions such as treasury, problem debt management,
finance, risk, legal and human resources which support the PBB and CPB divisions. In 2015, other also comprised RBS
Capital Resolution.

Divisional information by class of business is set out below:

Class of business

Total income

. Operating .

“Net Non- - - expenses Depreciation Operating

‘interest interest . before and Impairment profit/(loss)

S : income income Total depreciation amortisation "~ gain before tax

2016 : L "~ . fm £m £m “£m £m £m £m

PBB T 97 43 140 o (41) ’ - -1 100
C'PB , o ‘ 33 - 3 36 (16) - 26 . 46

Other _ .- - - -~ (131) (8 - _(134)

Total . - ' 130 ° 46 176 - " (188) (3) 27 12

: »CIas's of business .
Total income
_ : Operating .

Net Non- expenses Depreciation : Operating

interest - interest’ . before - and Impairment profit/(loss)

) : income  income _Total depreciation amortisation gain/(loss) before tax

2015 - 3 i £m- £m £m . £m £m ' £m £m

PBB : Co RN 33. 144 (62) e (9) - 73

- CPB ‘ o , . 38 13 51 . (21) ’ - 10 40

Other . ‘ 7) . (19 (26) (105) {4) .54 —(81)

Total S . 142 27 169 - (188) ‘ (4) 55 .32
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31. Divisional analysis (continued)

Class of bu_siness e 2016 2015

‘Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

S ,_ ) £m - £m  £m £m

PBB .. ' ' : 3,714 14,108 3555 . 3786
CPB . L 1,247 1,647 . 1,396 2,087
Other . : ' : 5,216 4,783 6,260 4,984

. Held for Disposal _ .- . 26297 20,072 22,779 17,024
- Total ‘ o SR o 36,474 30,610 33990 27881

32. Traneactions with directors

At 31 December 2016, the amounts outstanding in relation to transactions, arrangements and agreements entered into by
authorised institutions in the Group, as defined in UK legislation, were £416, 645 (2015: £392,555) in respect of loans to
any persons who were directors at any time during the flnanaal penod .

33, Related parties

‘The Bank's immediate parent company is Natlonal Westmlnster Bank Plc, which.is incorporated in Great Britain.

The Bank's uitimate holding company, and the parent of the largest group into which the Bank is consohdated is The
Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc which is incorporated in Great Britain and registered in Scotland. Copies of the
accounts for The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc can be obtained from Corporate Governance and Secretanat The
Royal Bank of Scotland Group pic, Gogarburn Edinburgh, EH12 1HQ, or at www. rbs.com.

The smailest subgroup into whnch ‘the Bank is consolidated has as, |ts parent company National Westminster Bank Ple, a

company incorporated in Great Britain. Copies of the accounts for this subgroup can be obtained from Corporate:

Governance and Secretanat The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc Gogarburn Edlnburgh EH12 1HQ, or at
" www.rbs.com. .

UK G_overnment .

- The UK‘Govern‘ment through HM Treasury is the ultimate controlling party of The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc. Its .
shareholding is managed by UK Financial Investments Limited, a company it wholly owns and as a result, the UK
Government and UK Government controlled bodies are related parties of the Group.

Related undertakings

The following are the active related undertaklngs mcorporated in the United Kingdom whnch are 100% owned by the
Group and fully consohdated for accountmg purposes. . .

Ulster Bank Commercua{ Serwces (NIy Limited
Uister Bank Pension Trustees Limited

West Register (Northern Ireland) Property Limited
WR (NIi) Property Investments Limited

WR (NIy Property Realisations lelted

UB SIG (NI) Limited

The registered office for all of the above undertaki‘ngs.is 11-16 Donegall Square East, Belfast, BT1 5UB:
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33. Related parties (continued) N

The following are the active related undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland which- are 100% owned by the
Group (except where indicated) and fully consolidated for accounting purposes. The registered offrce for all of the below
undertakings is Ulster Bank Group Centre, Georges Quay, Dublin 2, DO2 VR98.

Easycash (Ireland) Limited
* First Active Holdings Limited . :
First Active insurances Services Limited
‘First Active Investments No. 4 Limited
First Active Limited (formerly First Active pic)
First Active Treasury Limited (formerly First Active Treasury pic)
Hume Street Nominees Limited
Norgay Property Limited .
The RBS Group Ireland Retirement Savings Trustee Limited -
Ulster Bank (Ireland) Holdings Unlimited Company (89.52% owned)
Ulster Bank Commercial Services Limited (90.91% owned)
Ulster Bank Dublin Trust Company -Unlimited Company
Ulster Bank Holdings (ROI) Limited
Ulster Bank ireland Designated Activity Company
“Ulster Bank Pension Trustees (RI) Limited
Ulster Bank Wealth Unlimited Company
Walter Property Limited _
West Heglster (Republic of Ireland) Property Limited

The following are the active related undertakrngs rncorporate‘d in the Republic of Ireland where the Group ownership is.
less than 100% and fully consolidated for accounting purposes. The registeréd office for all of the below undertakings is
70 Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, DO2 R296.

‘ e Quilpic ertted
o  Zrko Limited -

The following are the related undertaklngs incorporated in the Republic of Ireland that are not active. The regrstered office
for all of the below undertaklngs is 24-26 Clty Quay, Dublin 2, DO2 NY19.

" First Active Investments No. 3 Limited
First Active Nominees Limited"
Meritvale Limited o
Ulster Bank Group Treasury Limited
Ulster Bank Investment Funds Limited

- Ulster International Finance Limited -
UB SIG (ROI) Limited

The Drive4Growth Company Limited is an active related undertaking incorporated in the Repdbllc of ireland where the
Group ownership is less than 100% and not consolidated for accountmg purposes The regrstered office is Unit 6, -
Riverside Grove, Riverstick, Co. Cork, P43 W221. . :

(a) Directors and key management‘

The aggregate transactions, between the Group andA its directors, key management, their close families’ and companies
which they control were: .

Number of - Number of key ~ Connected Transaction

directors management parties £
Transactions during the year : L ‘
Loans made during the year: ‘ .
— at a commercial rate - 1 1. : 67,984

" Balances outstanding at the end of the ‘year
. Loans: o : : i v

-.at a commercial rate . 2 .9 . 6 © 1,470,540
- at a preferential rate - ' - : 4 , - . 353,229
Customer accounts: o ' ’ : . :
- Savings , , . 4 12 . . 30 3,384,180
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33 Related parties (contlnued)

(b) Related party transachons . .
' ’ Group Bank

o : . 2016 . 2015 2016 2015
Assets , S . T em £m _ £m _Em -
Loans and advances: - ' . . .
Parent companies N R B 5,356 7,132 5,888 6,737
Key management . . .2 1 - -
Other related partles including fel!ow subsmﬁanes - 1 25 74 96

’ 5,359 7,158 5,962 6,833
Derivatives:’ _ . A .
Parent companies: S _ - 531 5 2
Assets held for disposal: , o ' .
Parent companies . . ) - 2,260 - - - .-
Other related parties, mcludmg fellow subS|d|ar|es - ) 11 ' - - . -
_ ' A 22711 - - -
Total assets ' ’ " 7,630 7,689 5,967° 6,835
‘Liabilities ‘
. Deposits: . : : _ ’
Parent companies . ' A 3,049 3,998 - 3,083 : .3,982
Key management . v 3 2 . 1 1
Other related parues including fellow subSIdianes - 8 61 46 46
. 3,060 4,061 3,130 4,029
Subordinated loans: . , :
Parent companies _ 939 893 939 820
_ Derivatives: ) . . : :
.Parent companies - 410 34 34
Liabilities held for disposal: o o 4
_ Parent companies . 154 v - - -
Other related parties, including fellow subsndlanes -1 - - -
. _ : - . 755 - ‘ - _ -
Total liabilities : . 4,754 5,364 4,103 4,883

(c) Cdmpensatioh of key management

The aggregate remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group S

2016 2015

) . . : £ £

Short term benefits o : . . 3,593,694 4,397,786

~ Termination benefit | A , - . 236,452 300,000

Long term benefits . ’ i o ) ) 508,830 599,987
Share-based benefits ’ . . . 202,808 . 492,077
Post employment benefits ' o ‘ : 123,797 96,231 -

.4,665,581 5,886,081

34. Post balance sheet events . V

On 1 January 2017, the -Bank sold Ulster Bank (Ireland) Holdlngs Unllmlted Company (“UBIH”) and its subsidiaries,
comprising the Group’s Repubtic of Ireland operations, to NatWest Holdings Limited, a fellow subsidiary of RBS Group for
consideration of £4.9bn. On completion of the transaction the Group realised a consolidated loss on disposal of £0.4bn
representlng the differential between the conS|deratlon received and the net asset value of the legal entmes disposed of.

Consequently, UBIH and its subsidiaries are classmed as a disposal group in these financial statements at 31 December
. 2016 and its assets and liabilities presented in aggregate in accordance with IFRS 5. .

The direc¢tors proposed a dividend of £3.9bn in December 2016 which was paid during January 2017.
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35. Capital resources - unaudnted »

The Group operates in both the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and-is subject to regulatory -oversight in both

jurisdictions. The Bank is regulated by the PRA and the FCA in the United Kingdom and UBIDAC is regulated by the CBI

and the ECB in the Republic of Ireland under the Single: Supervisory Mechanism. Capital resources disclosures “are
- provided separately in respect of each licensed institution.

. Ulster Bank Limited

The Capital Requiremeénts Directive (CRD IV) and the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) are being lmplemented on -
a phased basis from 1 January 2014, with full implementation from 1 January 2019. The capital resources disclosures for
2016 below reflect the transition arrangements of the legislation together with the PRA guidance as nmplemented in the
UK by PRA policy statement PS7/13 (PRA transitional rules).

Bank .
Unaudited™ - Unaudited ™
2016 2015
_ . £m £m
Shareholders’ equity (excluding non-controlling interests) . *
. .Shareholders’ equity . ) : o 4,976 6,620
- Preference shares - equity : . _ {659) (659)
’ ) . : . 4,317 5,961
Regulatory adjustments and deductions , ) o
Defined benefit pension fund adjustment - 4 . S - - (1)
Deferred tax assets ' ' ' - (149). (31)
. Instruments of financial sector entities where the mstltutlon has a svgmhcant investment ) . (2,989) " (3,269)

- Excess of expected Iosses over provisions ' (14) (13)

: : (3,017) (3,329)

" Core 1 tier capital . . : . 1,300 2,632
Other tier 1 capital

: Quahfymg Tier 1 capital and related share premium subject to phase out from AT1 capital 576 659
Tier 1 deductions _

Instruments of financial sector entities where the institution has a significant investment (62) . (68)

- Total tier 1 capital : T ' . . 1,814 3,223

Qualifying tier 2 capital : .
Qualifying items and related share premium . : ' 583 . 607
. 583 607
Tier 2 deductions . ’
Instruments of financial sector entities where the mstntutuon has a S|gnmcant investment : - (309) (227)
Other adjustments for regulator)Lgurposes . : 62 ) 68
: (247) < (159)
Total tier 2 capital L 336 - 448
Total regulatory capital : . : . ] R o 2,150 3,671
Key capital ratios o . % %

' CETH o - 1341 175
Tier 1 : o i . .0 18.2 215 .
Total capital . 21.6 24.5
'Risk weighted assets by risk , ' - £m ~£m
Creditrisk - . } . : 9,633 14,661
Counterparty risk o - ' ' 5 o2

“Market risk : v : : -7 T2
Operational risk’ ) o . ) 298 . 343
Total risk' we ighted assets E - 9 943 15,008

) The capital metrics included in the above table have not been’ audlted for the fmancnal years ended 31 December 2016
. and 31 December 2015: .
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35. Capital resources - u'naudited (eontinued)
Capltal management

.. The objecttves of the Bank’s capital management framework are to at all times comply with the regulatory capital
requirements and to ensure that the Bank has sufficient capital to cover the current and future risk inherent in its business
. and to support its future development Capital planning is a key part of the Group Capital Management Framework. The
-annual strategic planning process drives the levels of required capital to support growth plans and meet regulatory
requirements. A base capital plan over a 5 year timeframe is produced as part of the integrated strategic planning
process and is'monitored on a monthly basis. The Bank’s current and future capital requirements are captured as part of
the annual RBS Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP“) which is subject to supervnsory review and
evaluation. : '

UBIDAC : ‘
The Capital Requirements Regulation (“CRR”) and Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV - which was enacted in |I'ISh
law by S.i. No. 158 of 2014 and- S.I. No. 159 of 2014) requirements are being |mplemented on-a phased basis from 1
January 2014, with full implementation from 1 January 2019. The capital resources disclosures for 2016 below reflect the
transition arrangements of the legislation .together with the CBI guidance (Implementation of Competent Authority
Discretions and Optlons in CRD IV and CRR) on the application of transmonal rules in Ireland.

UBIDAC
Unaudited”  Unaudited"™
2016 . 2015.
: . €m . - €m
Shareholders’ equity (excluding non-controlling interests) : o - 6,487 7,835
A Non-controlling interests - : . | ' :
Non-controlling interests per balance sheet . . I 1
Adjustments to non-controtlmg interests for regulatory purposes . : ) (1) (1)
. 'Regulatory adjustments and deducllons S
Own credit - A h )

Defined benefit pension fund adjustment : T 71 193
Deferred tax assets , ' ' - 59 . (28)
Qualifying deductions exceeding AT1 capital ‘ - (39) (9)
Other adjustments for regulatory ‘purposes . , R . (79) - - (230)
Excess of expected losses over provisions ' (116) : (12)

: o - : (225) . ~ (86)

‘Core tier 1 capital = . I ) 6,262 . 7,749
Dedubtrons ) : _ . o

- Excess of expected losses over impairment provisions : con ) (39) - (9)
Quah fying deductions exceedmg AT1 capital K ) : 39 : 9
Total tier 1 capltal . : : . . . 6,262 - 7,749
Oualrfylng tier 2 capita/ . . ' .

Qualifying items and related share premium o : : 649 670 |
ﬂerédeductio‘ns o , :

Excess of expected losses over impairment provisions - . . 39). (9
Total tier 2 capital L . - ) . i oo 61‘0 S 661"
Total regulatory capital A_ - . . 6,872 - . 8,410
Key capital ratios - . . , % ' % -
Tier 1 s - o - ' 29.8 29.6

Total capital e : ) . . 32.7 - - 3241

™ For note relating to this table refer to page 107.

106



ULSTER BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31-December 2016

35. Capital resources (unaudited) (continued)

UBIDAC

Unaudited'’ Unaudited"”

' . . - -2016 2015

Rnsk welghted assets by nsk . : . : . €m €m
Credit risk . : - ' © - 18,987 24,143
Counterparty risk . . : : ’ : ) v - 589 470
‘Market risk : o L I 14 - 10
Operational risk . ce ) 1,419 1,563
Total risk weighted assets’ o : : ) 21 009 26,186

'The capital metrics included in the above table have not been audited for the financial years ended 31 December 2016

. and 31 December 2015

In the management of capital resources, UBIDAC is governed by the Ulster Bank Ireland Group and RBS poIIC|es which
. are to maintain. a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its activities to-
_-optimise the return to shareholders while mamtamlng a prudent relanonshlp between the capital base and the underlymg

risks of the business.:

In carrying out these policies UBIDAC has regard to, ‘and has comphed with the capital supervusory reqmrements of the

ECB and CBI throughout the financial year:
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.DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Chalrman | 4

Christopher Campbell (58) .

Mr Campbell joined RBS Group in August 2005 as Deputy General ‘Counsel and Dlrector Group Legal and became

Group General Counsel in May 2010. Prior to joining RBS-Group, he was a partner for 18 years in Scotland’s largest law

firm, Dundas & Wilson, and was Managing Partner from 1996 until he joined RBS Group in 2005. In his role as Group
Geneéral Counsel, Mr Campbell had overall responsibility for advising the RBS Group Board and Executive Committee
" and for the provision of legal support to all of RBS’s businesses globally. Mr Campbell retired as Group. Counsel as of 31
December 2014. Mr Campbell was appointed as Chairman of Ulster Bank Limited in October 2015 and is -also a Non
Executive Director with RBS N.V. and Scottish Equitable Policyholders Trust Limited.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
.Chief Executive Officer-.
Leslie Matheson (57)

Mr Matheson was appointed CEO Personal and Business Banking in February 2014. He joined RBS in 2010- as
Managing Director of Products-and added responsibility for Marketing in 2011. Prior to joining RBS, Les served as Group
Executive at St George Bank; part of the Westpac Group. Before becoming Head of the Retail Bank at-St George, Mr
" Matheson held a series of senior roles at Citibank where he spent 11 years. These included Head of Wealth Management
and Marketing for Asia Pacific, General Manager for the Retail Business'in Japan, CEO for Citibank Australia and finally
Group CEO of Consumer Business for Central Asia. Mr Matheson began his career at.Procter & Gambie following the
completion of his Bachelor of Commerce at the University of Edinburgh in 1982 where he achieved Honours in Marketing.
Mr Matheson is-a former Deputy Chairman of the Australian Bankers’ Association, a former Board member of Visa
Europe and past member of the Edinburgh Umversuty Court. :

) Chlef Financial Oﬂlcer
Michael Larkm (47)

Mr Larkin joined RBS from GE Capital in 2001. He initiaily joined the Group Financial Planning & Analysis team focusing
‘on reviewing the performance of Ulster Bank and Wealth Management. Over the years he looked after the majority of the
divisions in the Group, then in 2007 moved to Retail to be the FD for the mortgage business. His role expanded taking on
- additional products and in 2010 was promoted to Head of Products for Retail Finance. He began his current role as
Finance Director for Personal & Business Banking in April 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ellvena Graham (53)

Ms Graham was appointed as .a Non-Executive Director to the Board of Ulster Bank in February 2016. Ms Graham is also

the Chairman of Electricity Supply Board (ESB), one of the major state-owned utilities in Ireland'and also Chairman of the

Economic Advisory Group (EAG) in Northern' Ireland .and the Chaiiman of Belfast Waterfront & Ulster Hall Ltd. Ms

Graham has over 30 .years expenence in Banking, most recently- at Executive Management level within Ulster Bank
. where she was Head of Ulster Bank in Northern Ireland & MD of SME Banking across the island of Ireland. Ms Graham

. has global experience within the wider.RBS Group, having managed large scale Operations in EMEA for Royal Bank of
Scotland. Ms Graham was a Board member of Barretstown, a chanty helping children wzth serious illnesses, up until June
2012,

,Des O’Shea (60)

Mr O'Shea was appointed to the Board of Ulster Bank Limited and Ulster Bank lreland Desngnated Actrvnty Company in’
November 2012. He is Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk and Nominations Committees. in both
banks. He is also a Non Executive Director of Byblos Bank SAL and Pepper Australia Pty Limited. Mr O'Shea has over 35
years experience in financial services and has worked .in a number of global |nst|tut|ons In November 2011 he retlred
- from GE Caprtal after 14 yéars having held a variety of senior roles. :

Rosemary Qumlan (47)

-Ms Quinlan is an Independent Non- Executlve director and has been a Board director since 2006. She has over 26 years -
experience inFinancial Services and has worked with a number of global banks in the UK, the USA, the Netherlands and
Ireland. Ms. Quinlan has been a member of the Board of Uister Bank Limited since 2013 and is the Chair of the Risk
‘Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. Rosemary has been a member of the Board of Ulster Bank ireland
DAC since 2013 and is the Chair of the Risk Committee, Chair of the Remuneration and Performance Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee. Ms Quinlan sits on the Boards of RSA Insurance Ireland DAC, Prudential International
Assurance Plc and Dodge & Cox Funds Worldwide Plc. Ms Quinlan is a Certified Bank Director, has completed the
Chartered Director Programme in Ireland and |s a member of the Instltute of Directors and the Institute of Banking in
Ireland. .
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~ AUDIT COMMITTEE
Des O’'Shea, Chairman
Rosemary Quinlan

BOARD RISK COMMITTEE
Rosemary Quinlan, Chalrman
Des O’'Shea

_Ellvena Graham

GROUP NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Christopher Campbell, Chairman
Any two other non-executive directors-

DIVISIONAL HEADS '
L Matheson . Chief Executive Officer

M Larkin Chief Finance Officer
. G Bulkeley . Chief Risk Officer
R Donnan . Regional Managing Director Corporate & Commercnal Nl and Head of Northem Ireland
.D Lowe Chief Administrative Officer .
L Burns . Head of Human Resources
' COMPANY SECRETARY '
S Anderson
HEAD OFFICE

11-16 Donegall Square East, Beltast, BT1 5UB.
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